VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE

I. NORMAL STRUCTURE, PATHOLOGY, BIOCHEMISTRY, AND BIOPHYSICS¹

A. P. SOMLYO² AND A. V. SOMLYO

From the Departments of Pathology, Presbyterian-University of Pennsylvania Medical Center, and the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ι.	Ultrastructure	199
	A. The cell envelope: plasma membrane, pinocytic vesicles, and basement mem-	
	brane	199
	B. The contractile elements: myofilaments and dense bodies	200
	C. Formed intracytoplasmic elements: the morphogenetic role of vascular smooth	
	muscle	203
	D. Intercellular connections: myo-myo and myoendothelial junctions	204
	E Nerve-muscle relationships	205
	F Illtrastructural variations: typical atypical and specialized vascular smooth	
	muscle: striated muscle in blood vessels	206
	G Illtrastructure of invertahrate vessels	200
тт	Light Migroscopy	200
11.	A Orientation of smeath muscle: development of smeath muscle in response to	200
	motion are and gravitational forces	200
	D Structural effects of unscular distortion colleges and constriction	209
	B. Structural energies of vascular distention, compse, and construction	210
	D. Name planate and use account.	211
***	D. Nerve plexuses and vasa vasorum.	213
	Pathological Structure	214
	A. Aging.	214
	B. Atheroscierosis.	215
	C. Disorders of morphogenetic function: lathyrism, idiopathic (human) medio-	
	necrosis, copper deficiency	217
	D. Hypertension	218
	E. Spontaneous aortic lesions in rabbits and vascular lesions induced by chemical	
	agents	219
IV.	Biochemistry	219
	A. Muscle proteins	219
	B. Oxygen consumption	222
	C. Carbohydrate metabolism	224
	D. High-energy phosphates and the question of rigor	226
	E. Lipids and atherosclerosis	228
	F. Enzymes	230
V.	Muscle Mechanics and Elasticity	231
	A. Length-tension and length-shortening relationships and the maximal active	
	tension	231
	B. Stress relaxation and myogenic response.	232

¹ The authors' original studies and the preparation of this review have been supported by The Harrison Fund for Gynecological Research, National Science Foundation Grants GB7188 and GB5589, and National Institutes of Health Grant HE08226.

² Address: Department of Pathology, Presbyterian-University of Pennsylvania Medical Center, 51 N. 39th St., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104. Research Career Development Awardee K3-HE17833, U. S. Public Health Service.

		000
	C. Stress-strain diagram and elastic modulus	232
	D. Wall stress and the effect of smooth muscle on vascular elastic properties	233
	E. Some circulatory effects of smooth muscle contraction	234
VI.	Electrophysiology and Excitation-Contraction Coupling	235
	A. Sodium, potassium, and chloride	237
	B. Extracellular space and water content	240
	C. Calcium	240
	D. Magnesium	245
	E. Resting membrane potential, automaticity, and conduction	245
	F. Electrical responses to drugs: action potentials and graded depolarization	247
	G. Electromechanical coupling	250
	H. Pharmacomechanical coupling, maintained tension, and relaxation	251

Numerous studies of vascular smooth muscle have appeared since the publication of Furchgott's excellent review (200). Also, during these years major advances have taken place in general membrane and muscle physiology. The latter include the development of a cohesive theory of excitation based on ion fluxes and of the sliding-filament theory of muscle contraction. It is also during these recent years that the role of Ca as the activator of muscle contraction has been accepted. Our aim has been to correlate the literature on vascular smooth muscle within the general context of excitable membranes and contractile tissues. We have stressed the comparative approach to general biological processes, also believing that this will simplify the task of understanding an otherwise bewildering array of specialized cases. Therefore, we will discuss several studies relevant to the general problems of excitation and contraction, but not dealing specifically with vascular smooth muscle.

We have enlarged on Bozler's (75) dual classification of single-unit and multiunit muscle and also distinguish between spike-generating (phasic) and gradedly responsive (tonic) multiunit (smooth and striated) muscles. This treatment then is based not solely on the presence or absence of conducted response in the whole muscle, but also on the electrophysiological properties and excitation-contraction coupling mechanisms of individual fibers (section VI F). The reader should be warned of the still incomplete experimental foundation of this approach, which is presented to stimulate further comparative studies.

It is customary to discuss the action of drugs on vascular smooth muscle in terms of the acute pharmacology of excitation and contraction. The morphogenetic function of smooth muscle (section I C) implies, however, that the longterm effects of chemical and physical agents upon vascular connective tissue may also be caused by alterations in smooth muscle function. A particularly significant development is the recognition of the participation of smooth muscle in the atherosclerotic process (section III B). We have, therefore, extended the scope of this review to introduce some aspects of the chronic pharmacology of vascular smooth muscle.

Part I of the review deals primarily with the general biophysical properties that determine the pharmacological responses of vascular smooth muscle and with chronic pharmacology and pathology. In the forthcoming Part II, the responses of normal and pathological vascular smooth muscle to specific physical and chemical agents will be discussed.

198

I. ULTRASTRUCTURE

A. The cell envelope: plasma membrane, pinocytic vesicles, and basement membrane

Electronmicroscopy established that smooth muscle cells do not constitute a true anatomic syncytium: a distinct plasma membrane approximately 80 Å thick surrounds each cell with no evidence of direct cytoplasmic continuity between adjacent cells (62, 170, 403, 461, 468, 478, 490, 493). The plasma membrane and the basement membrane, when the latter is present, constitute the sarcolemma. The presence of a distinct basement membrane, on the external surface of the plasma membrane, has been noted about the smooth muscle of a great many blood vessels (62, 403, 490, 493, 494, 511) and is considered to be one of the ultrastructurally diagnostic features of smooth muscle. The basement membrane may be less conspicuous about smooth muscle cells of the rodent aorta (241, 320, 468, 472). By definition, in the areas of close apposition or nexus (section I D) the fused plasma membranes of adjacent cells are devoid of basement membranes.

The connective tissue components separating smooth muscle cells of different vessels vary, and vascular collagen-content tends to increase with age (114, 320, 468). Aortic smooth muscle cells run obliquely between adjacent elastic lamellae into which they insert. In some instances, there is an area of increased cytoplasmic density adjacent to the elastic insertion (62, 114, 241, 329, 472). Fingerform processes of smooth muscle insert on the elastic lamellae of the rabbit aorta, and there is a tendency towards a more pointed, end-to-end, insertion with increasing size of animal species (536).

Micropinocytic vesicles are spherical invaginations of the plasma membrane, ranging between about 450 Å (403) and 800 Å (114) in diameter. Similar vesicles are also seen lying free in the cytoplasm. The vesicles are common, and perhaps universal, components of the vascular smooth muscle membrane (170, 241, 320, 329, 461, 471, 490, 493, 570). There has been some disagreement regarding their actual number and distribution. According to some authors (424, 637), vesicles are more common on the inner, endothelial surface of smooth muscle, while according to others (361, 426) there is a greater number on the outer, adventitial surface. Lever et al. (361) found a significantly greater number of vesicles on the outer, adventitial surface and the lateral interfaces, than on the endothelial face of the smooth muscle in the rabbit coronary arterioles. The vesicles are not fixed structures (493) and their distribution may reflect the functional state of vascular smooth muscle. There often is a concentration of pinocytic vesicles in the smooth muscle processes adjacent to nerve endings (81, 139a, 178, 403). The careful study of Lever et al. on the neuromuscular relationship in coronary arterioles (361) may have favored selection of smooth muscle in relatively close association with nerve endings (see section I E), and this may account for the high density of vesicles found on the outer face of smooth muscle cells. It should be pointed out, however, that pinocytic vesicles are not always demonstrable in smooth muscle cells that are in close (600 Å) association with nerve bundles (18).

The functional significance of vesicles is apparent when considering the 25% increase in cell surface produced by them (493). The Ca content of the surface

vesicles is at least as high as that of the extracellular fluid with which they communicate, and therefore several orders of magnitude higher than the myoplasmic free Ca. Furthermore, some of the particulate relaxing factor isolated from smooth muscle (section VI C) may be composed of closed pinocytic vesicles capable of concentrating Ca. The localization of ATPase activity to pinocytic vesicles will be discussed later (section II C).

The profusion of vesicles in smooth muscle raises the possibility that certain agonists may act as pinocytosis-inducing agents, with the resultant intracellular uptake of agonist and extracellular fluid. This is suggested by the frequent concentration of pinocytic vesicles in the vicinity of adrenergic nerve endings and the recently demonstrated intracellular uptake of norepinephrine by vascular smooth muscle (214). Electronmicroscopic studies of the effects of drugs on pinocytosis would clearly be of great interest.

B. The contractile elements: myofilaments and dense bodies

The light-microscopic appearance of striation in striated muscle is due to a regular lateral alignment of sarcomeres bound by Z lines, into which insert thin (50 Å) actin filaments in the I bands, overlapping with thick (species variable 100 to 1500 Å) filaments in the A band (134, 298–299, 469). Contractile force is thought to be generated between crossbridges containing the H-meromyosin heads of the myosin molecules, constituting the thick filaments (299, 473, 474), and the adjacent thin filament containing actin and native tropomyosin (251). The sliding-filament model of muscle contraction depends on the existence of two types of myofilament within a muscle fiber. The interaction between the filaments leads to the generation of force or to shortening, or both, through a sliding movement of the two sets of filaments relative to each other. The primary structure and therefore length of myofilaments remains constant during contraction.

The light-microscopic definition of smooth muscle merely implies the absence of a regular alignment of filaments into sarcomeres. Electronmicroscopic studies have distinguished two ultrastructural types of smooth muscle. The first type, generally seen in invertebrates, is characterized by the presence of two grossly different sets of filaments: one thin, containing actin, the other thick (up to 1000 Å), containing myosin or a related protein, tropomyosin A (for review see 250). Because the two sets of filaments are not arranged in sarcomeres, the light-microscopic appearance of the muscle is smooth, but the presence of crossbridges and the invariant filament length and substructure during contraction provide good evidence for the sliding mechanism of contraction (162, 252). The second ultrastructural type, represented by most forms of mammalian smooth muscle, is characterized by the absence of a well-defined (or easily demonstrable) set of thick filaments. Whether the chemically demonstrable (section IV A) myosin in mammalian smooth muscle is organized in a filamentous form, which is merely technically difficult to demonstrate, or whether it is present as dissolved monomers, are the critical questions relevant to the operation of a sliding-filament mechanism in smooth muscle. The material reviewed here includes studies on several types, not solely vascular, smooth muscle.

Myofilaments are characteristic cytoplasmic components of vascular smooth muscle, although there are quantitative differences between the filament content of different vascular areas (see section I F). The filaments are usually denser in the peripheral region of the cytoplasm, and they run somewhat irregularly, but with an average vector directed parallel to the long axis of the muscle fiber (403). The latter directionality is more apparent in the contracted, than in the relaxed smooth muscle (352). The filaments have been followed for up to 1 μ in longitudinal section, but because of their tortuous course out of the plane of sectioning, this is probably not the true maximal length. The diameter of myofilaments varies in different reports from about 30 Å (471) to about 100 Å (403). Rhodin (493) observed 50 Å and 80 Å filaments in his material, but did not feel that there was sufficient evidence of two separate sets of filaments. An exception to the general difficulty in differentiating filaments is the report (118) of two distinct sets of filaments, 90 Å and 125 Å respectively, in bovine carotid artery. It is probable that the wide range of myofilament diameters reported is largely due to differences in the techniques of fixation, embedding, and staining and the calibration of electron optics in different laboratories. It is also probable that some of the filaments represent noncontractile material. The substructure of elastin, which is produced by vascular smooth muscle (section I C), is a 25 Å thick filament (537).

A large proportion of vascular myofilaments are typical thin, actin filaments, which are probably identical in all types of muscle studied (251). Shoenberg et al. (542) isolated thin 60 to 80 Å myofilaments from uterine smooth muscle, which had the appearance of a two-stranded helix composed of globular (50 to 55 Å diameter) subunits typical of actin filaments (251). X-Ray diffraction of living and contracting taenia coli, the only mammalian smooth muscle so studied to date, also reveals the presence of actin reflections, but not the reflection characteristic of myosin organized into filaments (162). There are three possibilities to be considered regarding the state of myosin in mammalian smooth muscle: 1) thick filaments are present but are destroyed during preparatory and extraction procedures for electronmicroscopy; 2) myosin filaments are built of a lesser number of myosin molecules than in striated muscle, consequently are shorter and thinner, and therefore are poorly distinguishable from actin filaments; 3) myosin is not organized into filaments but exists in the colloid dispersed phase in relaxed muscle: this implies at least the theoretical possibility that it becomes so organized during contraction (162, 446, 542).

The myofilaments in smooth muscle are intimately related to dense bodies, and the interrelationships between the two may have some bearing on the question of myosin aggregation. Dense bodies are dark-staining, spindle-shaped areas, which vary in length from 4000 to 9000 Å and in width from 2000 to 5000 Å (403), frequently adhering to the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane or dispersed within the cytoplasm. Filaments are seen entering dense bodies and, during contraction, the plasma membrane in the area of a dense body appears retracted. This finding indicates that a considerable amount of tension is transmitted to and through the sarcolemma. Pease *et al.* (471-472) suggested that dense bodies represent attachment devices that anchor the myofilaments to the plasma membrane. This view has been generally accepted (for reviews, see 490, 493), in particular since Prosser *et al.* (485) reported that dense bodies were not extracted by the procedures that remove contractile proteins from smooth muscle. Similar structures in invertebrate (insect) muscle are clearly analogous to the Z line of striated muscle, and may form a regular lateral array of dense bodies producing a typical striated pattern.

A second suggestion about the nature of dense bodies has been that they represent areas of "increased contractile material" or the regions of overlap between thin actin and somewhat thicker myosin filaments (352) in analogy with the A band of striated muscle. The number and length of the dense bodies in rodent intestinal smooth muscle (no similar studies of vascular smooth muscle having been reported at this writing) is increased in the contracted state (352, 493). This could mean that they are sites of interaction between actin and filamentous myosin that are absent from relaxed areas.

The considerable variation in the morphology of free, cytoplasmic dense bodies, and the occasional appearance of an area of "increased density" traversed by filaments, between two typical dense bodies (e.g., fig. 7 in 471) suggests to us the possibility that the term "dense bodies," as currently used, may describe two functionally different units: one an analogue of the Z line, the other an area of increased electron density at the sites of actin-myosin interaction. The refined fluorescent-antibody techniques applied to striated muscle by Pepe (473-474), combined with electronmicroscopy, may provide a more clear-cut identification of the nature of dense bodies and the location of myosin in mammalian smooth muscle.

In a study of mouse jejunum fixed during different states of contraction, Lane (352) described two types of filament, of 20 to 30 Å and 50 to 60 Å, respectively (although his fig. 1t describes filaments 80 Å thick); these intermingled only in dense areas. There remains, however, the discrepancy between the 20 to 30 Å filament thickness reported and the generally accepted 50 Å thickness of actin filaments in sectioned material (251).

In contrast to Lane's observations in mouse jejunum, and the report of Choi (111), who also described two filament sizes in chicken gizzard (less than 30 Å and 50 to 80 Å thick), observers (459) recently claimed the existence of only one type of filament, with an average 40 by 60 Å dimension in the turkey gizzard. According to these authors, individual myofilaments (particularly in material embedded in methacrylate) exhibit areas of increased density, rather than two separate classes of myofilament. The authors' description and the illustration (see fig. 6 in 459), seem equally compatible with the presence of fusiform thick filaments, whose thin portion is approximately equal in thickness and indistinguishable (in section) from actin filaments. In one of the earliest studies (471) of vascular smooth muscle, denser appearing filaments up to 100 Å thick within dense bodies were described. Large numbers of apparently thick filaments are illustrated in a study of lymphatic vessels of the guinea pig (530).

One of the most recent and interesting ultrastructural studies is that of Kelly and Rice (330) on the chicken gizzard. They could demonstrate distinct thick (150 Å) filaments and thin filaments, provided a pH 6.6 or lower was maintained during the preparatory procedures. In some areas of cross sections through the filaments there were distinct rosettes, consisting of one thick and several thin filaments. At pH 7 or higher, usually only one type of filament was observed. This pH dependence of filament size appears to be a somewhat general property of myosin: artificial filaments prepared from rabbit skeletal myosin (316) or from uterine myosin (446) also tend to be longer at lower pH. Smooth muscle actomyosin is soluble at pH 7 in solutions of low ionic strength, but at pH 6 it is insoluble or, if extracted, superprecipitates (531 and section V A). The chemical evidence thus favors the possibility that the destruction of myosin filaments by the usual preparatory techniques at pH 7 is responsible for the apparent absence of thick filaments in smooth muscle. These recent findings, however, raise the questions whether a normally low intracellular pH, denied on the basis of extraction experiments (531), maintains the stability of thick filaments *in vivo* and if so, why there is no crystallographic evidence of their presence.

In summary, the balance of as yet somewhat inconclusive evidence suggests that the use of special techniques will reveal two kinds of filament in mammalian smooth muscle. The probability of a sliding mechanism of contraction is also suggested by the length-tension relationship (section V A) of vascular smooth muscle. It must be reemphasized, however, that although we have drawn on ultrastructural evidence obtained with avian and mammalian smooth muscles, there is no reason to expect that the myosin filaments of different smooth muscles have the same morphology. Antibodies to bovine arterial contractile proteins do not cross-react with bovine myometrium or gastric smooth muscle (341) and, unlike those of actin, the properties of the myosins obtained from different sources are quite variable (section IV A).

C. Formed intracytoplasmic elements: the morphogenetic role of vascular smooth muscle

A central, elongated, ellipsoid nucleus, frequently containing one or two nucleoli, and surrounded by a double nuclear envelope, is characteristic of relaxed cells. It becomes highly compressed and convoluted in contracted muscle (493). The Golgi complex is located near the nucleus and is often related to smooth-surfaced endoplasmic reticulum (493). We have also noted in some of the published photographs (figs. 10 and 12 of 493) an association between mitochondria and the smooth-surfaced endoplasmic reticulum (for further discussion of smooth reticulum, see section VI G). Mitochondria are frequently located at the nuclear poles (238, 511, 619). Microtubules, 200 to 400 Å in diameter, arranged mainly parallel to the longitudinal axis of the cell, have been described recently in glutaraldehyde-fixed vascular smooth muscle postfixed in osmium tetroxide (512, 516) but their function is still unknown.

The rough-surfaced endoplasmic reticulum consists of tubular structures coated with ribosome particles. Ribosomes are thought to contain ribonucleoprotein and hence suggest intracellular protein synthesis.

An important result of the electronmicroscopic studies is that the smooth

muscle cells are the only cell-type found within the aortic media of mammals (62, 114, 320, 468, 472, 536) and are responsible for the production of collagen and elastin. The morphogenetic role of mammalian vascular smooth muscle correlates well with the presence of a well-developed rough endoplasmic reticulum, which is especially prominent in embryonic, young, and injured vascular smooth muscle (section I F). In the aortas of the parakeet and the turkey, two cell types have been found: one smooth muscle, the other fibroblastlike (267, 546).

An obvious implication of the fact that smooth muscle is the only cell present in mammalian aorta is that biochemical studies (e.g., respiration, glycolysis) of aortic media do in fact sample the properties of smooth muscle. It also follows that certain vascular disorders characterized by disturbances of the fibrous elements of the vessel wall (e.g., lathyrism, aging) may be considered secondary to disturbances of vascular smooth muscle metabolism.

D. Intercellular connections: myo-myo and myoendothelial junctions

Intercellular connections provide a means of direct transfer of information from one member of a given cell population to another of the same or to a different cell population. Electrical transmission is impossible over large intercellular distances because of short circuiting by extracellular fluid (156). Dewey and Barr suggested (42, 141) that in smooth muscle specialized areas of close membrane apposition (nexuses) provide the low-resistance pathway for conducted action potentials. Their description of the nexus, based upon permanganate-fixed material, suggests that in the area of the nexus the sarcolemma of each of two adjacent smooth muscle cells loses its covering of basement membrane, and the now closely apposed plasma membranes appear fused. In their material fusion of the dark, outer lamellae of two (triple lamellar) unit membranes leads to the appearance of a single quintuple-layered membrane. The following discussion on vascular smooth muscle is based mostly upon other than permanganatefixed material. It is generally implied that in material fixed in glutaraldehyde or osmium, or both, the equivalent of the nexus is a close apposition of two adjacent plasma membranes without intervening basement membrane or intercellular substance. Triple lamellar areas of fusion have been demonstrated in immature rat aortas fixed in osmium tetroxide and uranyl acetate (114).

In the large elastic arteries of adult animals there are generally no nexuses (320, 329). In the aorta of newborn rats and with decreasing frequency up to 3 months of age, nexuses may be present (114). Aortic smooth muscle cells are further separated by the production of connective tissue with aging (114, 320, 329). Occasional areas of close intercellular contact have been described in rabbit aorta (62, 536), but there is no evidence that these areas are specialized nexuses.

The nexus occurs with some frequency in human umbilical arteries (570), and in rabbit (282) and canine (140) mesenteric veins. Rhodin (494), in comparing arterioles (50 to 100 μ), terminal arterioles (10 to 50 μ , only one smooth muscle cell layer), and precapillary sphincters, (7 to 15 μ) observed the nexus in each type of vessel. There was, however, a distinct increase in both number and length of nexal contacts with decreasing vessel size, and in terminal arterioles a nexus joined each muscle cell with its neighbors. Peg and socket junctions, invaginations of a smooth muscle cell into another one, also occur in vascular smooth muscle (403, 637). Although Zelander *et al.* (637) described a 70 Å interspace between adjacent plasma membranes of the invaginated areas, intercellular spaces of this magnitude can be caused by preparatory techniques and may in reality represent fused membranes (494).

The correlation with functional evidence (section VI E) supports the view (42, 141, 165) that intercellular connections serve as low resistance pathways for conducted electrical activity in smooth muscle.

The myoendothelial junctions between endothelial protrusions (424) and smooth muscle form tight junctional (nexus) connections (494). Rhodin (494) suggested that myoendothelial junctions provide a relatively direct path for the entry of blood-borne transmitters into smooth muscle cells. It seems more likely to us that local metabolites, hydrogen ion, and osmotically active substances (rather than biogenic amines or peptides) reach and exert their effects on vascular smooth muscle through myoendothelial junctions. Rhodin (494) also suggested that depolarization may be propagated from endothelial cells to smooth muscle; but others have found that endothelial cells do not generate action potentials (197). Electrotonic spread of a graded change in endothelial potential cannot be ruled out, but a region of high myoendothelial electrical conductance, in the absence of rectifying effects, could also create an electrical sink from smooth muscle to endothelium.

E. Nerve-muscle relationships

A relatively long distance between axons and smooth muscle cells is the most characteristic feature of the neuroeffector organization of most, but not all, blood vessels. Nerves frequently do not enter the media (for exceptions see below and sections I G and II D) but are limited to the adventitio-medial junction (14, 18, 62, 127, 241, 362, 461, 471, 472, 490, 603; see also section II D). Although the basement membranes of smooth muscle and the axon-Schwann cell complex may fuse (35, 82), the shortest distances recorded between the plasma membranes of unmyelinated axons and smooth muscle are 600 Å in the auricular (18) and the bronchial (14) artery of the rat, 700 to 800 Å in pancreatic arterioles of the rat (637) and 830 Å in those of the guinea pig (362), 950 Å in sheep renal arterioles (548), 1000 Å in the juxtaglomerular vasculature of the monkey (35), 1000 Å in parathyroid arterioles (81, 82) and in mesenteric arteries of the rat (403), 2000 Å in the coronary arterioles (361) and 4000 Å in the main pulmonary artery of the rabbit (603). These values should be compared with the 500 Å synaptic cleft of the motor end-plate of striated muscle (156). Furthermore, the above cited values represent minimal distances: since nerves do not enter the aortic media of any species observed, the maximal axonsmooth muscle separation is of the order of the entire thickness of the aortic media.

There appears to be a more intimate neuromuscular relationship with decreasing vessel size. In terminal arterioles and precapillary sphincters, increasing numbers of axons are seen with decreasing vascular caliber, and *close membranous* contacts between axons and smooth muscle are also present (494). The majority of nerves discussed are unmyelinated axons enwrapped by Schwann cell processes: the structural equivalent of an adrenergic neuroeffector junction is represented by the region of an axon containing mitochondria and microvesicles of variable size (300 to 1000 Å), denuded of its Schwann cell covering, and facing one or more adjacent smooth muscle cells (361, 362, 403, 494, 603, 604, 637). Smooth muscle cells are sometimes seen to send vesiclecontaining processes towards nerve bundles (18, 81, 548) and mitochondria are also present in these processes in material fixed in osmium rather than in glutaraldehyde (403). The absence of adrenergic nerve endings from the media of large vessels implies that the processes related to adrenergic release and uptake mechanisms are more predominant in the smooth muscle near to the adventitiomedial junction (see Part II).

The cholinergic fibers of blood vessels have not been studied in as much detail as adrenergic fibers. Naked axons containing vesicles not having granulation or an electron-dense core, in conjunction with the presence of acetylcholinesterase and the absence of demonstrable catecholamines, are considered to represent cholinergic nerves (224, 419). Cholinesterase activity and the uptake of tritiated norepinephrine do not occur together in a single axon, but cholinergic and adrenergic axons can run together (224). The juxtamedullary efferent arterioles and proximal vasa recta in the outer stripe of the kidney medulla are innervated by cholinergic endings at an axon-muscle distance of 500 to 1000 Å (419).

Unusual and probably specialized neuromuscular junctions have been found in the microarteriolar tree (494). These are pale, clublike (0.5 to 2 μ) invaginations of axons into smooth muscle, which are most often seen in the vicinity of precapillary sphincters. The most noteworthy characteristics of these structures are the paucity of vesicles within the pale cytoplasm and the very close apposition (45 Å) between the plasma membranes of the axonal club and the adjacent smooth muscle. If these areas represent fusion of plasma membranes (nexus) they provide the ultrastructural requirement for an electrical synapse: a highly unusual occurrence in vertebrate neuroeffector organization (156). Functional evidence for this speculation could be provided by demonstration of a very short synaptic delay of action potentials (excitatory synapse) or hyperpolarization (inhibitory synapse) transmitted between nerve and muscle. If, in addition, the clublike structures are motor, rather than sensory endings, then adrenergic or cholinergic blocking agents would not abolish the effect of nerve stimulation. As pointed out by Rhodin (494), the connections to these clublike endings have not yet been followed from adventitia to media, and we cannot be certain whether they originate from adrenergic or cholinergic, or even afferent or efferent nerve fibers.

F. Ultrastructural variations: typical, atypical, and specialized vascular smooth muscle; striated muscle in blood vessels

The generalized ultrastructural appearance of vascular smooth muscle, described in the preceding sections, is subject to individual variations. The latter are influenced by three interrelated factors: first, the localization of smooth

206

muscle to a given segment of the vascular tree and whether, within a given segment, it is subendothelial or near the adventitia; second, the developmental or functional (contractile or morphogenetic, or both) state of smooth muscle; and third, the adaptation of smooth muscle for specialized function.

Aortic smooth muscle cells are distinguished by greater length (90 to 130 μ as compared with 30 to 40 μ in arterioles) and poor development of myofilaments and dense bodies (62, 320, 468, 472). In developing chick embryo aorta (318) and in the aorta of young mice (320) and growing rats (114), the transition can be detected between cells possessing few filaments, many intracellular organelles and a marked rough-surfaced endoplasmic reticulum and the clearly identifiable smooth muscle cells containing parallel myofilaments. A reverse transformation of subendothelial smooth muscle cells into vesiculated and lipid-containing "Langhans" cells (230, 490), also occurs and may be related to atherogenesis (see section III B). In the inner media of the bovine aorta smooth muscle cells with a prominent rough endoplasmic reticulum are associated with elastic lamellae, while "typical" smooth muscle cells and no elastic lamellae characterize the outer media (340). An unusually prominent rough endoplasmic reticulum is present in the smooth muscle of the spiral arterioles of human endometrium (16).

There is a gradual transition from typical smooth muscle cells to pericytes (Rouget cells) between arterioles and metarterioles, and small veins and venules. Pericytes possess numerous cytoplasmic processes, scanty myofilaments, and no dense bodies (174, 427). The presence of a basement membrane, pinocytic vesicles and cytoplasmic filaments indicates that pericytes are related to smooth muscle (142, 280, 405), although the question whether they are contractile is still controversial (for review, see 225). Filament-containing pericytes are found surrounding the lung capillaries of cattle and swine (163), the renal vasa recta of rats (142, 419), and human retinal metarterioles and veins (279, 280). The extensive rough endoplasmic reticulum, free ribosomes, and mitochondria in the pericytes of regenerating tissues (175) and the estrogen-stimulated uterus (190) indicate the morphogenetic role of these cells.

The ultrastructure of the descending vasa recta in the inner stripe of the outer renal medulla is interesting and unusual. Moffat (419) described irregular or stellate perivascular cells surrounding the endothelium of the descending vasa recta. The most characteristic feature of these noninnervated cells is their structural polarization. The filaments, which have the appearance of myofilaments, are localized to an 800 to 1500 Å strip on the side of the cell facing the lumen of the descending vessel. On the opposite side, facing the ascending vessel's lumen, are typical pinocytic vesicles 500 to 600 Å in diameter. There is a gradual transition from the typical vascular smooth muscle of the arterioles, through specialized perivascular cells to the interstitial cells of the renal medulla (419). The ingenious suggestion has been made (419) that the specialized perivascular cells form a feedback mechanism, sampling the fluid domain of the ascending vasa recta and regulating the blood flow to the medulla accordingly.

The granular cells of the renal juxtaglomerular apparatus are a form of specialized vascular smooth muscle that contains secretory granules thought to be

renin (35, 36, 103, 357, 548). The presence of filaments, pinocytic vesicles, and a basement membrane indicate that granular cells are a modified form of smooth muscle.

The striated muscle of thoracic and pulmonary veins is similar to cardiac muscle (319), but, by definition, is outside the scope of this review.

G. Ultrastructure of invertebrate vessels

The lowly earthworm (Phylum Annelida) has a closed circulatory system, lined by myoendothelial cells of varying specialization (243). The myofilaments are 250 Å thick and have the same appearance whether organized in a striated pattern in the ventral vessel or scattered in small numbers within the capillary endothelium. Vesicular infoldings of the plasma membrane of the myoendothelial cells link them with both mammalian endothelium and vascular smooth muscle, while their intercellular attachment via desmosomes is a more endothelial characteristic. In the cells of the ventral vessel, myofilaments can be seen running both longitudinally, in the luminal side of the cell, and circularly, within the opposite (outer) part of the cytoplasm. This observation raises a rather interesting question about the nature of the intracellular feedback mechanism that supplies compensatory inhibition between mechanically antagonistic fibrils of the same cell. The blood vessels of the horseshoe crab, *Limulus* (Phylum Arthropoda), contain, in addition to fibrocytes, striated muscle containing the usual two sets of filaments organized into sarcomeres (149).

The blood vessels of cephalopods (Phylum Mollusca) are again not lacking in thick filaments. The following description is based on the studies of Barber and Graziadei (39, 40) on Octopus and Sepia. The contractile elements are represented by pericytes, which contain thick (150 to 200 Å) filaments and an endoplasmic reticulum. Thick filaments are present in both the outer longitudinal and the inner, circular muscle layer. As in some mammalian vessels, there is a gradual decrease in the number of myofilaments between 15 to 20 μ arterioles and the smaller (type II, III) vessels, which are surrounded by pericytes lacking myofilaments.

The two layers of Octopus aortic muscle receive structurally different innervation (40). In the circular muscle the synaptic gap between club-shaped projections of muscle and vesicle-containing axon profiles is narrow (less than 100 Å) and may form tight junctions. The second type of synapse is found in longitudinal muscle and consists of a vesiculated axon sunk into a depression in the muscle: the cleft between pre- and postsynaptic membrane is 80 to 100 Å. The available evidence therefore suggests that both the thick filaments of vascular smooth muscle and the specialized neurovascular connections are relatively early phylogenetic acquisitions, and their absence in mammalian material cannot be regarded as evidence of arrested evolution.

II. LIGHT MICROSCOPY

In addition to extension of the classical light-microscopic literature reviewed by Furchgott (200), new approaches and techniques have been introduced. These include the morphological study of blood vessels fixed under different degrees of distention and vasoconstriction, the use of histochemical techniques for the localization of enzymatic activity, and fluorescence-microscopic (169) studies of the adrenergic innervation of vascular smooth muscle.

A. Orientation of smooth muscle: development of smooth muscle in response to motion, age, and gravitational forces

The organ- or species-related variations in vascular architecture were recognized by earlier microscopists (for review, see 200). Interest in longitudinal vascular smooth muscle has been increased by electrophysiological studies of the adventitial longitudinal smooth muscle of portal-mesenteric veins (section VI E), and the apparent role of intimal longitudinal muscle in atherogenesis (section III B).

On the basis of an extensive review and his own observations of human blood vessels, Bucciante (87) supported the view that the adventitial, longitudinal smooth muscle of veins develops with age in response to dependent venous pressure. With some individual variations, longitudinal muscle is better developed in the veins of the lower than in the upper extremities. It is very well developed in the spermatic veins and in adult portal veins, and it is the sole muscular coat of the coronary veins and of the adult inferior vena cava. That the development of longitudinal muscle cannot be ascribed solely to postnatal gravitational forces, is illustrated by the predominantly longitudinal muscle of human renal (87, 594) and adrenal veins (595).

The spiral valve of the portal vein contains each layer of the venous wall, with the smooth muscle taking a more circular orientation towards the free edge, and the active contraction of venous muscle imparting a wringing, propulsive motion to the blood (72). It is particularly well-developed in some rodents but, among laboratory animals, absent in dogs (72). Longitudinal smooth muscle is present in both the umbilical vein and the artery in man (574).

Arterial longitudinal muscle, with some exceptions, develops as an intimal coat, in contrast to the medio-adventitial longitudinal muscle of veins. A welldeveloped adventitial layer of longitudinal muscle is characteristic in the anterior mesenteric artery of the fowl and the turkey (34). In addition to the intimal longitudinal arterial muscle associated with vascular pathology (section III B), longitudinal muscle also appears more prominent in arteries subjected to longitudinal traction, such as the bronchial and cardioaortic arteries, the arteries of the bladder, stomach, esophagus, and penis (353, 614), and the arteries of benign cysts and adenomas (100). Experimental production of longitudinal muscle in mesenteric arteries of the rat has been accomplished by connecting these with a thread to the diaphragm (100, 614), thus subjecting the vessels to the traction of respiratory movement. The development of longitudinal muscle was accompanied by mitotic figures in the media, where smooth muscle cells had rounded up and were migrating to the intima (614). Similar changes are also seen after other forms of injury to the vessel wall (section III B) and therefore cannot be considered entirely specific responses to the diaphragmatic movement.

In the giraffe the enormously thick muscular coat of the metatarsal arteries

and the relatively thin wall of the carotid artery at the angle of the jaw are good examples of the different development of muscular arteries in response to functional conditions: the pedal hydrostatic pressure alone may be close to 500 mm Hg in this anima¹ (217).

Elastic tissue production by the smooth muscle of the arterial Windkessel appears to be stimulated by high pulse pressures: the aorta of an acardiac twin parasite, which does not receive the stroke volume of cardiac systole, has the structure of a muscular artery (21). Postnatal regression of the elastic lamellar structure occurs normally in the main pulmonary artery, but the elastic Windkessel persists in the presence of pulmonary hypertension (259, 500). Progress of elastogenesis has been observed in tissue culture, however, and is reportedly improved by the addition of Factor P (O- β -hydroxyethylrutosidea) to the growth medium (101).

In the so-called hybrid vessels, such as the major branches of the aorta, the outer portion of the media has the appearance of an elastic vessel and the inner portion, that of a muscular vessel (404). It seems reasonable to propose that in these vessels the smooth muscle fibers of the two areas are also functionally differentiated: the outer layer for a morphogenetic, the inner for a contractile role.

The variable morphology of the vascular wall may be further illustrated by reference to the vertebral aspect of the dorsal aorta of the carp, where a fibrous raphe completely replaces the scanty smooth muscle (146), and to the bovine pulmonary veins, which have a considerably thicker media than the corresponding arteries (9).

B. Structural effects of vascular distention, collapse, and constriction

The morphology of arteries fixed under physiological distending pressures differs from that of collapsed arteries (93, 183, 413, 631). In the collapsed elastic vessel the elastic lamellae are wrinkled, the smooth muscle runs obliquely between adjacent lamellae, and the radius/wall thickness ratio is relatively low. In the distended aorta the lamellae are straight (93, 631), smooth muscle cells run a more circular course (632), and the wall thickness is reduced to less than one half of that of the collapsed vessel (631). These changes in turn affect the elastic properties of the vascular wall and the contribution of smooth muscle to wall elasticity (see section V D).

Distention of muscular arteries converts an irregular cross section of muscular polygons outlined by elastic fibrils to a regular array outlined by parallel elastic fibrils, resembling in miniature the arrangement of the elastic lamellae of major elastic arteries (183). The suggestion (258) that "passively" collapsed small arteries cannot be distinguished from those actively contracted by epinephrine seems to hinge upon the definition of passive collapse. If a vessel has active tone, allowing it to "collapse" by removing its contents is analogous to unloading an isometrically contracting muscle. This procedure permits active shortening rather than passive collapse due to an external restoring force. This is also apparent from the fact that collapsed vascular segments excised from living animals contract more than similar vessels obtained post mortem (93). Quick-freezing of small mesenteric arteries that have been constricted with topically applied epinephrine has been employed by Van Citters *et al.* (599-601) to define some of the architectural changes occurring during vasoconstriction. Complete closure of vessels whose constricted outer diameter was 50 μ or less could be produced by intense vasoconstriction, closure itself being due to endothelial infolding. Asymmetrical vasoconstriction of small arteries could be limited to the side of application of epinephrine without being propagated to the opposite side within the same cross section (600). Vasoconstriction changed the radius/wall thickness ratios of dilated small arteries from 10/1 to 1.3/1 and of dilated arterioles from 5/1 to 0/25 (occluded). These findings raise the question whether, in the theoretical treatment of vascular elasticity, small arteries can be arbitrarily classified as either thin- or thick-walled vessels.

A valuable light-microscopic index of the individual smooth muscle cell's state of shortening is provided by the appearance of the nucleus. The nuclear length/diameter ratio of relaxed muscle (6/1 to 8/1) decreases to 1/1 (rounded and convoluted nuclei) in fully contracted vascular smooth muscle (601). The authors have also described the gradual transition of vascular calibers from the constriction at the point of application of epinephrine to the dilated vessel beyond the range of drug diffusion (600). A significant finding, not stated but apparent from the illustrations published, is the fact that graded vasoconstriction is associated with a continuous spectrum of nuclear length/diameter ratios, rather than a varying admixture of completely relaxed and fully contracted nuclear profiles. This finding suggests to us that the contractions of individual smooth muscle cells are graded.

C. Histochemistry and tissue culture

The histochemical approach permits localization of enzyme activity, not attainable by conventional chemical studies of minced tissues (see section IV F). Those of us advocating the view that the vascular smooth muscle of a single vessel may be heterogeneous (554, 557) receive support from differences in the ultrastructural (section I F) and histochemical appearance between smooth muscle cells of the same artery (see below), although there is no evidence at this moment that histochemical differences correlate with pharmacological responsiveness. It is also possible that these differences are not genetically coded but the expressions of different functional influences such as the adventitiomedial location of adrenergic nerves and the high pulse pressures within the thoracic aorta.

The ATPase activity of beagle aortas (269, 270) reveals a radial and an axial gradient of activity. Enzyme activity is greater in the outer than in the inner media at any given level and it also decreases caudally. There is very little histochemically demonstrable ATPase in the aorta below the level of the renal arteries, although muscular branches of the abdominal aorta show strong activity. There are species differences in the aortic ATPase gradients. There is a uniform distribution of ATPase along the entire aorta in children while the enzyme is reported to be completely absent from the feline subdiaphragmatic aorta (518). In view of the universal functional importance of membrane ATPase,

it is very probable that different reactivities of the ATPase, rather than true enzyme deficiency, is responsible for some failures to demonstrate its presence histochemically. Ultrastructural localization of ATPase activity to the vicinity of the pinocytic vesicles and the basement membrane of smooth muscle (278, 521) is compatible with the notion that the enzyme visualized is a membrane ATPase. The extracellular localization asserted in these studies (278, 521) has to be reevaluated in view of the recent questions raised about localizing ATPase activity with lead precipitation methods (216). The extracellular localization of vascular ATPase may have been due to preferential binding of lead to the mucopolysaccharides of ground substance and to elastic laminae.

Alkaline phosphatase activity is generally absent from the muscular coat of blood vessels. It is present in the adventitia, where it persists during prolonged incubation in tissue culture (168). The alkaline phosphatase activity of the adventitio-medial junction has been attributed to the net of vasa vasorum, to lymphatics, or to active fibrillogenesis (562, 579). Alkaline phosphatase activity is demonstrable in lathyritic smooth muscle cells (section III C). Acid phosphatase has been demonstrated in smooth muscle cells of the rabbit aorta (365).

Succinic dehydrogenase was reported to be absent in one study (508) but other workers demonstrated it in vascular smooth muscle (297, 562). The reported variations may be real or caused by differences in technique: in one study succinic dehydrogenase activity was present in block-incubated sections but not in frozen sections of rat aorta (562). There is an increase in the succinic dehydrogenase activity of myometrial blood vessels during pregnancy (296).

The enzymes concerned with glycogen synthesis and breakdown, uridine diphosphate glucose (UDPG)-glycogen transferase and phosphorylase, have not been investigated in sufficient detail to permit generalization of their occurrence in vascular smooth muscle. In blood vessels of the rabbit tongue, phosphorylase activity is said to be moderate and UDPG-glycogen transferase difficult to demonstrate, whereas in pulmonary blood vessels only phosphorylase is histochemically demonstrable (587). In the rat aorta phosphorylase activity is said to be absent (562) while both this enzyme and UDPG-glycogen transferase may be detected in uterine arteries of mice (240). At present, there are insufficient data to indicate whether the UDPG-glycogen transferase system is the major pathway of glycogen synthesis in all types of vascular smooth muscle, as it is in the liver. There is some evidence that the physicochemical state of glycogen itself is variable among different blood vessels: it is stained by acid carmine in veins, but not in the arteries of the guinea pig (196). The absence of glycogen granules from modified smooth muscle cells will be discussed later (sections III B and IV C). The regulation of glycogen synthesis by catecholamines has been investigated by biochemical methods (section IV C). Histochemical evidence of increased glycogen production in vascular smooth muscle of estrogen-treated uteri has been reported by some (550) and denied by others (240).

Cholinesterase is absent from vascular smooth muscle of fetal ductus arteriosus

of rodents and man, whereas the media of the adjacent aorta and main pulmonary artery stains for this enzyme (284). The cholinesterase activity of rabbit aorta is due to both true and a nonspecific cholinesterase (639).

Lipase, cytochrome oxidase, 5-nucleotidase, aldolase, and amino peptidase are some of the other enzymes that have been demonstrated histochemically in blood vessels (365, 562, 579). The carboxyl esterase activity of the rabbit aorta increases rapidly towards the adventitia (365).

In tissue cultures of rabbit mesenteric arterioles, which may undergo spontaneous contractions for up to 5 days in culture, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity disappears in 3 days (168). Malic and lactic dehydrogenase persist, at diminished levels, for at least 7 days (168). The outgrowth of aortic smooth muscle cells in culture has been studied by Pollak and Kasai (479), who found this to be present from the 10th day of culture. The integrity of the smooth muscle of chick embryo blood vessels in culture is reported to require Factor P (101, 102).

It seems to us that further application of histochemical and tissue culture techniques to studies of vascular smooth muscle would be most desirable. Determination of the effect of drugs on vascular enzyme activity appears to be a productive line of inquiry. It would also be of considerable interest to determine whether smooth muscle cells in tissue culture retain their sensitivity to vasoactive agents: logical extension of these studies could yield further insights into the nature of receptors and the means whereby genetic information is conveyed for the coding of receptors.

D. Nerve plexuses and vasa vasorum

The only valid generalization regarding the distribution of adrenergic innervation to blood vessels is that nerve fibers enter from the adventitia, whence they proceed to penetrate to a variable distance towards the lumen. The nerve ground plexus is located within the adventitia. Nerve endings in several large vessels do not penetrate further than the outer surface of the media: this preferential distribution of adrenergic storage and release sites is of considerable functional significance (see Part II). Considerable variations exist not only in the innervation among blood vessels of different species (159, 184), but even within different segments of the same vessel. In elastic arteries adrenergic nerves are usually limited to the outer one third of the vessel; in muscular arteries they may penetrate for a short distance into the media; and the media of some of the thickwalled cutaneous veins contains many adrenergic fibers (159). In the proximal part of the main pulmonary artery of the rabbit, fluorescent nerve endings terminate on the outer surface of the media, while in the distal part of the same blood vessel nerves may penetrate close to the intima (107). The fluorescence studies also support the functional evidence for the paucity of adrenergic innervation of the veins in skeletal muscles (159, 203).

Injected norepinephrine has been visualized in rat femoral arteries, with the aid of inhibitors of monoamine oxidase and catechol-O-methyltransferase, as a diffusely fluorescent material (145). A diffuse fluorescence, indicating medial diffusion of norepinephrine, has also been shown after stimulation of adrenergic nerves *in vivo* (213).

Cholinergic vasodilator fibers have been demonstrated with cholinesterase stains in blood vessels supplying muscles (68). An extensive compilation of the earlier, particularly the Russian, literature can be found in Grigor'eva's (225) monograph on the innervation of blood vessels.

The existence of vasa vasorum in the aorta has been correlated with body weight and aortic wall thickness in different species (633). In species whose adult body weight does not exceed 5 to 6 Kg, no aortic vasa are present. In larger animals, including man, the avascular zone is relatively constant at 0.4 to 0.5 mm or about the inner 29 medial lamellar units (633). In keeping with other general rules, exceptions have been reported, such as the extension of vasa to the intimo-medial junction of the cow aorta (534). The thickness of the avascular layer, which has to be supplied with O₂ by diffusion (primarily from the endothelial surface), and the rate of O₂ consumption determine the critical Warburg distance in blood vessels (413). Ligation of several canine intercostal arteries, which supply a large proportion of the vasa vasorum, results in necrosis of the middle one third of the aortic media (629). The functional avascular zone (about 0.3 mm; see figs. 4 and 10 of 629) illustrated in this study (629), is somewhat narrower than estimated by inspection of normal arteries (633).

III. PATHOLOGICAL STRUCTURE

The recognition of the role of smooth muscle in vascular morphogenesis (section I C) made it apparent that disorders of vascular connective tissue may be secondary to disturbances of vascular smooth muscle. This, and the ultrastructural evidence of very early involvement of smooth muscle in the atherosclerotic process (section III B), are recent discoveries of practical importance, suggesting new avenues of pharmacological inquiry. In presenting the following brief review, our major purpose is to call the attention of pharmacologists to the chronic pharmacology of vascular smooth muscle. A more complete treatment of the vascular wall and its diseases, including atherosclerosis, may be found in the several monographs and symposia published in recent years (1, 315, 354, 457, 499, 519).

A. Aging

There are three major aspects of the effect of aging upon vascular smooth muscle: the appearance of degenerative changes within smooth muscle itself, the alterations in the connective tissue components that are normally produced by vascular smooth muscle, and the migratory and proliferative changes of smooth muscle within the intima.

In the human aorta, smooth muscle cells become vacuolated and more deeply stained with increasing age (5). Those smooth muscle cells which have irregular nuclei give a strong histochemical reaction for choline-containing phospholipids (64). In the stretched aorta of older guinea pigs the nuclei are thinner within the adventitial than in the inner part of the media (572), and in unstretched aorta the medial smooth muscle is more irregular and the nuclei more tortuous (572, 573). The histochemically demonstrable lactic dehydrogenase increases and the NADH₂-tetrazolium reductase activity decreases in the aging human aorta (4).

The impairment of the morphogenetic function of vascular smooth muscle by aging is manifested by an increase of connective tissue elements, particularly collagen, relative to smooth muscle (186, 573). Other changes include a decrease in the ratio of hyaluronic acid/chondroitin sulfate of the ground substance (45, 52-54) and fragmentation of the elastic lamellae (54, 573). The functional result of these alterations is the decrease in vascular elasticity with age (425, 498). A specialized example of hormonal influences on aging is the phagocytosis of the elastic elements of mesometrial arteries by smooth muscle during gestation (6, 85) and the postpartum formation of new elastic lamellae, increasing in numbers with increasing parity (7).

The third major manifestation of aging is the subendothelial proliferation of smooth muscle leading to intimal thickening. It is still argued, and with some justification, that at branching sites the valve-like intimal cushions containing smooth muscle are normal, rather than pathological, structures (411). In view of the vulnerability of both localized and generalized intimal thickenings to atherosclerosis, however, these changes will be discussed as part of the atherosclerotic process.

B. Atherosclerosis

According to a number of investigators, atherosclerosis, particularly coronary atherosclerosis, is a disease beginning in infancy, progressing rapidly during the first and second decade of life, and becoming symptomatic in the adult. The evidence for this point of view has been reviewed in detail (409). Modified smooth muscle cells (132) infiltrate the coronary arterial intima as early as the first month of life. Intimal thickening, accompanied by hyperelastosis and splitting of elastic lamellae, involves the entire vascular circumference after the first decade (63). Intimal proliferation is greatest in regions of greatest motion (74; section II A), at vascular branchings (409, 577), and appears to be a precursor of atherosclerosis. The intimal thickness that is accompanied by smooth muscle necrosis is variable: in one series necrosis was always observed when the intimal thickness of (formalin-fixed) coronary arteries reached 0.83 mm (132).

Electronmicroscopy of spontaneous and induced lesions has proved the involvement of smooth muscle in atherosclerosis. Ultrastructural criteria identifying atypical intimal cells as smooth muscle are the presence of myofilaments, dense bodies, pinocytic vesicles, and a basement membrane (33, 89, 90, 119, 132, 255, 266, 301, 340, 409, 462–464, 581). The modification of typical smooth muscle cells involves progressive dilatation of the endoplasmic reticulum and an accompanying increase of ribosomelike particles, vacuolation and increase in the number of mitochondria, a prominent Golgi apparatus, and crowding of myofilaments towards the periphery of the cell (89, 90, 132, 266, 301, 340, 463, 464, 581). The modified smooth muscle cells contain no glycogen granules (301). Lipid droplets appear within smooth muscle cells before the appearance of extracellular lipids and the increasing lipid infiltration with progressive loss of myofilaments may transform smooth muscle into foam cells, although the latter may also arise from other cell lines (33, 90, 209, 301, 340, 368, 463, 464, 581). Migration of medial smooth muscle cells through the internal elastica has also been observed (301, 464, 515). Even in the turkey aorta, which contains a dual population of cells, fibroblasts and smooth muscle, the latter predominate in atherosclerotic plaques (546).

It must be emphasized that the early modifications of smooth muscle cells are not specific manifestations of the prelipid stage of atheromatosis. Prominence of the dilated endoplasmic reticulum, ribosomes, mitochondria, and Golgi apparatus, at the expense of peripherally crowded myofilaments, are common ultrastructural features of smooth muscle in vessels injured by freezing, ligation, proteolytic enzymes, incision, abrasion, Dacron prosthesis, and irradiation (89, 133, 434, 435, 456, 582, 589). The presence of similar cells in normal embryo aortas (section I C) suggests that these modifications of smooth muscle cells can also reflect their participation in the healing process.

Lipid-induced changes have also been demonstrated in tissue cultures of vascular smooth muscle. Recognizable smooth muscle cells from explants of atheromatous plaques have poorly staining myofilaments and migrate later into the culture medium, as compared to normal aortic cultures (321, 479). The outgrowth of other cells appears earlier in atheromatous cultures (345, 436). The possibility cannot be ruled out that the early migrating cells of plaques are modified smooth muscle cells no longer recognizable under the light microscope. Lipemic sera reportedly produce degenerative changes in rabbit (436) but not in human aortic cultures (437). However, the cholesterol concentration of the culture medium used for rabbit was considerably higher than the one used for human cultures.

The fragmentation of the elastica and the histochemical alterations of the elastic and ground substance in atherosclerotic vessels (2, 20, 79, 464) can now be understood as additional manifestations of a chronic disturbance of the smooth muscle responsible for their production. The accumulation of sphyngomyelin upon elastic lamellae of atherosclerotic vessels (2), for example, is associated with an increase in the choline-containing phospholipids of smooth muscle (64). Within this context we may regard the low ratios of hyaluronic acid/chondroitin sulfate in vessels that are particularly prone to atherosclerosis (396) as expressions of differences in the synthetic function of smooth muscle.

Extensive histochemical studies of atherosclerosis have been conducted and reviewed by Sandler and Bourne (519) and by Zemplenyi and Lojda (365, 639) and their co-workers. There is no clear-cut pattern detectable in smooth muscle, perhaps because of species variations and the difficulties inherent in quantitative evaluation by visual methods. Thus, while a patchy decrease in ATPase and 5-nucleotidase activity of otherwise normal-appearing smooth muscle has been described in atheromatous human aortas (517, 519) and in aortas of cholesterolfed rats (266, 519) and dogs (519), there is no clear-cut decrease in the activity of atheromatous rabbit aorta (639). The lipolytic activity of the aorta, subject to aging and atherosclerotic changes, has been studied by chemical methods (section IV E).

The comparative aspects of atherosclerosis have been discussed recently in the proceedings of an extensive symposium (499). It is probable that at least some of the vascular disorders of different species are due to more than a single etiological entity. For example, the lesions of intramyocardial coronary arteries of chickens, accompanied by proliferative changes and periodic acid-Schiff positive vacuolation of smooth muscle (489) bear some resemblance to the hereditary medial necrosis of small coronary arteries (305) of man.

Because of the well-established (but not universal) correlation between hypercholesterolemia and human atherosclerosis (88), therapy has been generally directed towards controlling serum cholesterol levels. The importance of local vascular factors is indicated by such findings as the increase in atherosclerosis associated with triparanol-induced lowering of plasma cholesterol (384) or the inhibition by insulin of the regression of atherosclerotic lesions (575). Two points of pharmacological intervention are suggested by the nature of the atherosclerotic changes in smooth muscle. First, the stimulus for intimal migration of smooth muscle cells during the first two decades of life should be determined in order to prevent or perhaps reverse intimal thickening. This suggestion rests upon the assumptions that the intimal thickenings are not unavoidable results of maturation and that they are sites of predilection for the development of atherosclerosis. The second therapeutic approach suggested is the development of compounds that can create a more advantageous local balance of vascular lipid metabolism. This could be accomplished either through decreasing lipid uptake or synthesis by vascular smooth muscle or through the stimulation of vascular lipolytic enzymes. This approach lends itself to screening methods in vitro and deserves exploration in view of the apparent reversibility of the early fatty lesions of the vascular wall (322).

C. Disorders of morphogenetic function: lathyrism, idiopathic (human) medionecrosis, copper deficiency

The feeding of sweet peas, or their active ingredient, *beta* aminoproprionitrile, induces marked abnormalities in the connective tissue elements of the rat aorta. The production of abnormal elastin and collagen and accumulation of mucinous material are indirect evidence of vascular smooth muscle dysfunction (242, 286, 328, 397). The ATPase and AMPase activity of aortic smooth muscle and the vascular uptake of S²⁵ and tritiated L-proline are increased, but these changes are probably not specific (112, 455). The medial smooth muscle cells of lathyritic aorta assume a radial orientation and become alkaline phosphatase positive (286). Ultrastructural abnormalities include separation of muscle from the elastic

lamellae and the appearance of smooth muscle cells that contain a widely dilated endoplasmic reticulum with an increased number of ribosomes, mitochondria, and nucleoli and a prominent Golgi apparatus in conjunction with a decrease in myofilaments (242, 328). These changes, suggestive of the morphogenetically active embryonic smooth muscle (section I C) are followed by the appearance of rounded cells suggestive of degenerative change (242). Rounded up smooth muscle cells and some changes in histochemically active ATPase have also been described in human cystic medial necrosis (395). A spontaneous dissecting aneurysm occurs in turkeys and its incidence is markedly increased by high doses of estrogen (347, 545).

Copper deficiency leads to abnormal ultrastructure of the myoblastic cells of chick embryo aortas, associated with marked abnormalities in aortic elastogenesis (547). Copper deficiency in young swine results in a decrease in total, and a marked increase in soluble aortic elastin (615). It has been suggested that the common defect in lathyrism and Cu deficiency is an inability to incorporate lysine into desmosines, with the resultant failure of cross-link formation in elastin (418).

D. Hypertension

True hypertrophy of smooth muscle, as manifested by increased incorporation of tritiated thymidine, has been demonstrated in adult rats made hypertensive with desoxycorticosterone and salt (122). Increased DNA synthesis was evident in nuclei of arterial and arteriolar smooth muscle but not in venous smooth muscle or in the aorta. Similarly, the increase in vascular smooth muscle mass encountered in experimental renal hypertension is detectable in mesenteric and coronary arteries but not in the aorta (181). Quantitative methods suggest that hypertrophy of pulmonary arterial muscle occurs in the pulmonary hypertension of cattle induced at high altitude (10, 11), and that pulmonary vascular muscle mass decreases during the neonatal period (438). The ultrastructure of pulmonary arterial smooth muscle, in experimental pulmonary hypertension, undergoes a transformation suggestive of morphogenetic activity and associated with an increase in collagen (164). These findings confirm the classical views regarding the development of hypertrophy in at least some types of pulmonary and systemic hypertension. Mitotic activity in adult, normotensive animals is rare, but can be demonstrated after infusion of tritiated thymidine (563, 571).

The most distinct, although not specific, histochemical alteration of vascular smooth muscle in experimental hypertension is the increase in AMPase activity, which precedes fibrinoid changes (453, 454). AMPase activity is increased not only in arteries and arterioles, but also in the aortic smooth muscle of young hypertensive animals (454). The previously mentioned studies (122) showing no increase of thymidine incorporation into the hypertensive aorta were conducted on adult animals. Therefore, dissociation of AMPase activity and DNA synthesis in the aortic smooth muscle of hypertensive animal should not be inferred.

Fibrinoid necrosis of uterine (basal and spiral) arteries occurs in pre-eclampsia and eclampsia, unaccompanied by similar changes in other vascular beds (502).

E. Spontaneous aortic lesions in rabbits and vascular lesions induced by chemical agents

The incidence of spontaneous medial sclerotic lesions of the aorta varies among different breeds and may be present in up to 50% of "normal" adult rabbits (528, 561). The spontaneous arteriosclerotic lesions of the thoracic aorta are morphologically indistinguishable from the late sequelae of the hyalin necrosis of medial musculo-elastic layers produced by epinephrine or nicotine (51, 227) or by the injection of heterologous aortic homogenates (525). Electronmicroscopic studies of the nicotine-induced lesions revealed early abnormalities of smooth muscle, which become rounded and develop a dilated endoplasmic reticulum and cytoplasmic diverticula in later lesions (227).

Necrotizing or hyalinizing lesions of blood vessels have been induced by cortisone and estrogen, allylamine, monocrotaline, and methylcellulose (22, 117, 412, 578). Medial arteriosclerotic lesions can be produced in the rat aorta by dietary deficiencies and by certain compounds (148).

IV. BIOCHEMISTRY

A. Muscle proteins

The contractile proteins of vascular smooth muscle are closely related to those of other mammalian smooth muscles and, in spite of some differences to be described below, to those of skeletal muscle. The general biochemistry of muscle proteins has been the subject of recent symposia and reviews (147, 210, 211, 256). Reference to these will place the narrower field of vascular smooth muscle proteins within the context of the extensive work conducted on skeletal muscle.

The observation of Ivanov et al. (303) and of Laszt and Hamoir (356) that the major contractile protein of smooth muscles can be extracted with solutions of low ionic strength (I < 0.2) has been repeatedly confirmed (180, 206, 244–246, 249, 291–293, 300, 446, 510, 531). Although skeletal actomyosin can be extracted only by solutions of high ionic strength, there is now sufficient reason to conclude that the protein extracted from vascular and other smooth muscles, at low ionic strength and pH 7 and in the presence of traces of ATP, contains an actomyosin, and furthermore the only actomyosin present in smooth muscle. The evidence for this is the following: 1) thorough and repeated extraction with solutions of low ionic strength produces all the extractable contractile proteins; further extraction of the residue with solutions of high ionic strength produces no additional actomyosin; and the quantitative yield of the two methods is identical (510); 2) the superprecipitation reaction, viscosity, ATP sensitivity, and ATPase activity of *purified* low- and high-ionic-strength extracts are identical (180, 293, 510, 531). The designations tonoactomyosin and tonomyosin, originally applied to low-ionic-strength extracts of smooth muscle (356) are therefore no longer employed (292). The relative amounts of actomyosin and myosin obtained may vary with the ionic strength of the extracting solution (390).

The total actomyosin content of smooth muscle is relatively small, usually

between 2 and 10 mg/g wet weight, depending upon the type of smooth muscle and the purification of protein (38, 66, 116, 180, 391, 446, 510, 531), compared with about 70 mg/g in skeletal muscle (446). The fact that vascular smooth muscle can develop considerably more than one seventh of the tension developed by striated muscle (section V A) suggests a greater efficiency of the contractile mechanism. This suspicion is also supported by the finding (526) that the tension developed/ATP split in glycerinated hog carotids is considerably greater than found in a number of other glycerinated muscle preparations.

The extraction of the smooth muscle actomyosin at low ionic strength is facilitated by trace amounts of ATP (244, 246, 248, 293, 300, 510). Unlike skeletal muscle actomyosin, which in solutions of low-ionic strength exists as an associated, Mg-activated ATPase (211), smooth muscle actomyosin is dissociated by ATP and exhibits predominantly Ca-activated myosin ATPase activity (246, 391, 531).

Lowering of the pH to 6.0 leads to association of vascular actomyosin in solution, with consequent Mg-activated ATPase activity, and to a marked decrease in the extractability of the protein from glycerinated vessels (531). The high solubility of smooth muscle actomyosin and myosin at pH 7 may have been responsible for the difficulties in electronmicroscopic visualization of thick filaments in smooth muscle (section I B).

Vascular myosin ATPase is activated by Ca and this Ca-activated enzyme is inhibited by Mg (206), as is skeletal muscle myosin. Vascular myosin is more thermostable than the skeletal myosin (206, 245). At pH 6.2 (I 0.35) vascular myosin precipitates, while rabbit skeletal myosin remains in solution (293).

The amino acid compositions of the myosins of various smooth muscles differ from each other and from those of striated muscle myosin (38, 248, 292, 293). Tryptic digestion of skeletal myosin produces two fragments, L-meromyosin and H-meromyosin, the latter containing the ATPase activity (211). Tryptic hydrolysis of smooth muscle myosins is slower, but also yields the two meromyosin fragments (116, 291, 292). The comparatively low ATPase activity of (uterine) smooth muscle myosin increases markedly during tryptic digestion, and the uterine acto-H-meromyosin ATPase activity is of the same order of magnitude as that of skeletal muscle acto-H-meromyosin (446).

Vascular F-actin can be obtained either through dissociation of the actomyosin, with Mg-ATP, into myosin and F-actin combined with tropomyosin B (207a, 531) or by the polymerization of an acetone-dried powder of G-actin, in the presence of Mg, to F-actin (510). The transformation G-ATP \rightarrow F-ADP is similar to that observed with skeletal muscle actin (211, 256), but polymerization and depolymerization proceed more slowly (207). The depolymerization of F- to G-actin is probably incomplete (207a). Vascular actin combines with skeletal muscle myosin to form a hybrid actomyosin, with the usual properties of a Mg-activated ATPase that superprecipitates at low ionic strength (510, 531). Gaspar-Godfroid *et al.* (207) found that vascular actin, prepared by methods suitable for skeletal muscle actin, is heavily contaminated with tropomyosin B. Using Carsten's method, they obtained a yield of 0.6 to 1.2 mg actin/g arterial tissue, containing at most 20% tropomyosin B. Any of the current methods of isolation yields an F-actin that remains closely associated with tropomyosin B, although G-actin can be isolated without tropomyosin B (207a).

The functional significance of tropomyosin (342) has been only recently recognized, primarily through the efforts of Ebashi et al. (153-155). Native tropomyosin, a complex of troponin and tropomyosin B, is intimately associated with actin filaments and regulates the effect of Ca upon actomyosin, conferring the Ca requirement for superprecipitation upon purified reconstituted actomyosin. Troponin in fact appears to be the receptive site which combines with Ca, 4 moles of Ca combining with 100,000 g troponin obtained from skeletal muscle (153a, 154). Ebashi's group also produced evidence that the native tropomyosin isolated from smooth muscle of the gizzard has essentially the same activity as that isolated from skeletal muscle (155). The chemical structures of the tropomyosins of smooth and skeletal muscle are somewhat similar, both having two free-SH groups per molecule, but their amino acid compositions and crystalline forms are different (105, 342). A third of the tropomyosin B content of cow carotids can be extracted with a solution of low ionic strength that would yield only a few percent of skeletal muscle tropomyosin (247). The tropomyosin B/actomyosin ratio is much higher in smooth than in striated muscle (155, 247, 446). This may contribute to the wider range of the Ca "dose-response curves" of glycerinated smooth muscles, compared to striated muscle (526). The Mg requirements for contraction of glycerinated strips (179) and for superprecipitation of recombined vascular actomyosin are also higher than those of the skeletal muscle protein (531). The high Mg requirement may be inherent in vascular actomyosin or conferred to it by an auxiliary protein.

Another protein closely associated with actin is *alpha* actinin; this protein stimulates network formation of F-actin and superprecipitation of actomyosin solutions (153, 256). *Alpha* actinin has been isolated from chicken gizzard (155). A related protein, *beta* actinin inhibits network formation by F-actin and keeps the length of actin filaments between 1 and 2μ (153, 400), but we are not aware of any reports regarding the isolation of *beta* actinin from smooth muscle.

Tropomyosin A is a protein extracted from some molluscan muscles, and it has been suggested that this protein is responsible for the very high tension supported by molluscan catch muscles. Several unsuccessful attempts to isolate tropomyosin A from mammalian smooth muscle indicate that it is absent (105, 446, 510) and therefore cannot be implicated in the maintenance of tone.

There is some incomplete evidence for a difference in the extractable protein composition of the different vascular beds. The electrophoretic behavior of an extract of bovine coronary arteries is somewhat different from that of the aortic and femoral artery extracts (249). Raising the potassium concentration (to 0.5 to 0.6 M) does not increase the ATPase activity of actomyosin obtained from human umbilical artery, although this effect is observed with a number of other smooth muscle actomyosins (392). Furthermore, while Ca, Ba, and Sr stimulate the ATPase of bovine aorta and carotid artery, Ba and Sr do not increase the ATPase activity of umbilical artery protein (392). In view of Ebashi's more

recent work (154) low Sr sensitivity may be due to differences in troponin rather than in actomyosin structure. In the presence of small amounts of ATP, bovine venous protein is more easily extractable than arterial (244). After hydrolysis of ATP the vein actomyosin becomes much more inextractable. In the light of the recent findings of Kushmerick and Davies (350), that the appearance of rigor mortis in skeletal muscle requires the absence of both ATP and ADP, analysis of the latter nucleotide in vascular smooth muscle would be of interest. It may well be that the difficult extractability of venous smooth muscle actomyosin is due to the formation of rigor links. A related question to be explored is whether the solubilizing action of ATP upon vascular smooth muscle in media of low ionic strength is specific or also exhibited by ADP and other polyphosphates (see also section IV D).

As noted earlier (section I A), bovine uterine and vascular myosins are antigenically different. Further evidence is required to determine whether there is more than one vascular smooth muscle myosin in a single species. According to Bárány (37), the myosin ATPase activity of different muscles is directly proportional to their speed of shortening. Since two types of vascular smooth muscle, one spike-activated, the other gradedly responsive, have been demonstrated in different vessels within the same species (557), a comparison of their respective ATPase activities would be of interest.

B. Oxygen consumption

The reported values of oxygen consumption by isolated vascular segments vary considerably. It has been suggested (358) that metabolic activity should be expressed on the basis of DNA because the usual manner of expressing oxygen consumption (Q_{0_2} as $\mu l O_2/mg dry wt/hr$) is influenced by variations of extracellular solids. The functional state of vascular smooth muscle, whether contracted or relaxed, would be another obvious determinant of O_2 consumption. The ability of nitrites to lower the Q_{0_2} in some vascular strips but not in others (78) may merely reflect the increased Qo, associated with pre-existent tone in the former. Under these circumstances vasodilators would, by abolishing tone, establish a more truly resting state. A less obvious source of error due to metabolic activity suggests itself in surveying the experimental techniques employed for measurement of Qo. . In a number of studies reviewed, the adventitia was stripped from vascular segments that were dissected in "ice-cold saline" or kept for several hours under refrigeration. Under these conditions, vascular smooth muscle accumulates large amounts of sodium (237), which it subsequently extrudes, at higher temperatures, against an electrochemical gradient (section VI A). Operation of this sodium pump is an active, energy-requiring process, and would be expected to be associated with an oxygen consumption above basal levels. This interpretation is consistent with earlier observations (334, 621) that if refrigerated aortas were allowed to warm before being placed in the Warburg apparatus, the oxygen consumption dropped precipitously. We would therefore recommend gentle dissection and abandonment of cold solutions in preparing vascular strips for metabolic studies.

The earlier reports of Q_{02} values of several vessels of different species ranging from 0.31 to 1.14, have been summarized in Lehninger's review (358). In a recent study, the Q_{02} of rabbit aorta and rabbit liver were found to be, respectively, 0.72 and 5.58 (264). In view of the absence of significant tone in rabbit aortic strips, already emphasized by Furchgott (200), the Q_{02} (0.5 to 0.9) of this preparation (108, 264) is probably close to a true resting value. Aortic oxygen consumption tends to be smaller with increasing size of animal species (262, 358) and with increasing age (113, 262, 420, 617).

The oxygen consumption of the different aortic segments is unequal: it is lower in the abdominal than in the thoracic aorta of the rat (113, 307, 483), dog (379), and rabbit (108). The differences in the oxygen consumption of different rabbit aortic segments are accentuated when succinate is the substrate (108), and succinic dehydrogenase activity also parallels the segmental Q_{o_1} of the canine aorta (379). Unlike the whole segments, the intimal layers isolated from different aortic segments consume similar amounts of oxygen (621).

Endogenous respiration may proceed without added substrate and without being augmented by addition of glucose to the incubation media; this probably reflects utilization of endogenous glycogen (108, 264). Thin layers of rabbit aortic intima, however, consume no or very little oxygen without added substrate (621, 622); this may be due to a lack of glycogen in intimal smooth muscle (section III B). Aortas removed from fasting rats also show no spontaneous respiration without added substrate (607).

Among the various Krebs' intermediate metabolites tested, succinate seems to produce the greatest increase in oxygen consumption of vascular smooth muscle: about 2- to 7-fold of the resting values (78, 108, 264, 621). The stimulation of respiration by succinate has also been observed in a particulate (probably mito-chondrial) fraction of pig aorta (306).

Norepinephrine increases the oxygen consumption of rat aorta (617). In dog femoral arteries the contractile response to catecholamines and oxygen consumption show parallel changes (346). Kosan and Burton (346) suggested that initial, passive stretch has no effect on oxygen consumption, but all of their preparations were stretched longitudinally. The basal Q_{02} of 2.26 reported in this study seems high.

The Q_{02} of small arteries (less than 150 μ in diameter) is significantly greater than that of larger arteries (250 to 400 μ): 1.05 compared with 0.58 (287). This difference could be due to more extensive spontaneous spike activity, and therefore tone, in smaller vessels. The very high Q_{02} values reported for retinal vessels, up to 28, may have been influenced by the extensive dissection in ice-cold solution (288). Respiration of vascular smooth muscle can be completely abolished with 10⁻⁴ M KCN (288).

Depression of the oxygen consumption of rat aorta by reserpine (215, 337), hydralazine (337) and by acetylcholine (617) have been reported. Alloxan diabetes decreases, and insulin increases the Q_{02} of the aorta (617). Hypercholesterolemia has been reported to increase oxygen consumption of rat or rabbit aorta, but not of cockerel aorta (366, 431, 621, 622). The effect on oxygen con-

sumption may also depend on the stage of atherosclerosis and the degree of involvement (382). The effects of gonadectomy and sex steroids have been the subject of conflicting reports by two groups of investigators (385–387, 495). According to Malinow's group (387, 388), aortic oxygen consumption and succinic dehydrogenase activity increase in rats after gonadectomy. Aldosterone has been reported to increase and hydrocortisone to decrease the respiration of rat aorta (272).

C. Carbohydrate metabolism

Carbohydrates are the major, though not the immediate, source of energy in vascular smooth muscle. The predominant utilization of carbohydrates is indicated by a respiratory quotient of nearly 1 (346, 616). It is probable that, as in skeletal muscle, preformed glycogen is utilized preferentially by vascular smooth muscle. This is indicated by the absence of respiratory stimulation of whole vascular segments by glucose added to incubation media (108, 264). The respiration of a particulate, presumably mitochondrial, fraction is augmented by glucose in the medium (306).

The amount of vascular glycogen varies among different blood vessels of the same species: it is several times greater in the bovine aorta than in the inferior vena cava (460). The glycogen metabolism of the bovine mesenteric artery has been extensively investigated by the Lundholms: its average glycogen content is about 160 to 250 mg/100 g wet weight (372). This value, comparable to the one found in the bovine aorta (460), is 8 to 10 times higher than the glycogen content in the rat aorta (616). The different histochemical reactivity of arterial and venous glycogen (section II C) and the absence of glycogen granules in modified smooth muscle cells (section III B) have been mentioned.

The spontaneous tone developed by the bovine mesenteric artery as well as its contractile response to drugs can be maintained by endogenous glycogen for at least 8 hr under aerobic conditions and for about 1 hr under anaerobic conditions (369, 370). Both the contractile effect and the increase in lactic acid production elicited by epinephrine are lost during severe substrate depletion, while the muscle is still somewhat responsive to histamine (370). In these depleted preparations the persistence of the contractile response to potassium is even longer than to histamine (373). It is probable that epinephrine and, to a lesser extent, histamine stimulate metabolic processes that compete with the contractile system for the limited ATP supply.

Glycogen can be synthetized by vascular smooth muscle, *in vitro*, from glucose added to the medium. Glycogen synthesis is increased by norepinephrine (617) and by insulin (374, 429). Glucose uptake is decreased in aortic smooth muscle of alloxan-diabetic rabbits and rats (429, 616–618), rats maintained on a high fat diet (617), or hypothyroid rats (618). Reports are conflicting whether insulin added *in vitro* corrects the defect in diabetic vascular glucose metabolism (596, 635) but this may depend on the nature of the incubation medium (616). Because insulin stimulates the uptake of D-glucose, D-galactose, D-xylose, and L-arabinose, but not that of D-arabinose and D-fructose, it has been suggested that a selective sugar transport mechanism operates in the rat aorta (618).

Glycolysis can be demonstrated under aerobic, as well as anaerobic, conditions in vascular smooth muscle. Lehninger (358) pointed out the functional significance of the failure of oxygen to suppress lactic acid production, in terms of the low energy yield of aerobic glycolysis and the potential effect of the lactate produced on tissue pH. The extent of aerobic glycolysis is variable and may be influenced by the experimental techniques employed (315; see Malinow in "Discussion," p. 167). The rate of anaerobic glycolysis and the development of tone by boying mesenteric arteries were found to be higher in January than in August (369). This finding indicates that vascular smooth muscle function may be subject to seasonal variations. In the bovine inferior vena cava, obtained from young animals, 43% of carbohydrate is metabolized by oxidation and 57% by glycolysis: the respective figures for the aorta are 26 and 74% (460). In bovine mesenteric arteries the Pasteur effect, inhibition of lactic acid production by oxygen, is clearly demonstrable: aerobic lactic acid production is about 20% of the anaerobic value (369, 370). The proportion of glycolysis, as compared with oxidative carbohydrate metabolism, has been reported to increase with age and arteriosclerosis (187, 460). On the other hand, the total aerobic glycolysis of the rabbit aorta is reportedly either unchanged (109) or decreased by feeding cholesterol (449). Anaerobic glycolysis can supply the energy requirements of a 70% maximal contraction of rabbit aorta (201).

A certain amount of lactic acid production is closely associated with the energy requirements of the contractile process, but the contractile effects and lactic-acidproducing effects of drugs can be dissociated (373). Alpha adrenergic blocking agents, in concentrations sufficient to block the contractile response to epinephrine, only partially block its lactic-acid-stimulating effect. Histamine and epinephrine stimulate lactic acid production, without a contractile effect, in bovine mesenteric arteries suspended in ion-free dextran solution, while potassium contractures are associated with decreased lactic acid production (373). Beta adrenergic blocking agents abolish the stimulation of glycolysis by adrenergic agents (377, 378, 423). An unusual feature of the beta adrenergic metabolic response of bovine mesenteric arteries, compared with other tissues, is the reported absence of phosphorylase activation (377, 422). Lactic acid production may proceed without demonstrable glycogenolysis from intermediates other than glycogen (372). Lactic acid does not diffuse out of bovine mesenteric arterial smooth muscle until it reaches a threshold value, and under certain conditions the ratio of lactic acid in tissue over that in the extracellular fluid may be as high as 78 (369).

The hexose monophosphate pathway is also available for glucose utilization in vascular smooth muscle. The enzymes catalyzing the oxidative shunt, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase, were first demonstrated in human blood vessels by Kirk *et al.* (336). The preferential incorporation of C¹⁴ into CO₂ from carbon 1 of glucose over that from carbon 6, by the aorta of guinea pig (524), ox (394), and rat (618) provided further evidence of a functioning hexose monophosphate shunt. In one study (47) the shunt was absent in venous, but present in arterial smooth muscle. Insulin increases the carbon 1/carbon 6 incorporation ratio of rat aorta (618), and

autologous serum increases this ratio even more (524). Unfortunately, in none of the metabolic studies reviewed is there any indication whether the effects attributed to serum are associated with its contractile effect. The NADPH produced by the hexose monophosphate shunt is thought to be used in synthesis (625), and hexose monophosphate may be a source of the lactate produced without glycogenolysis under the influence of catecholamines (58).

The use of substrate-depleted, anaerobic vascular strips was first employed by Furchgott (200-202) to demonstrate that, in addition to glucose, Krebs' intermediate metabolites and fatty acids can provide energy for contraction of vascular smooth muscle. His original (200-202) findings have been confirmed by others (115). The latter authors were unable to demonstrate utilization of fructose by studying the contractile responses of substrate depleted rabbit aortic strips (115), but earlier, biochemical studies (607) have shown the utilization of fructose by rat aortas.

D. High-energy phosphates and the question of rigor

That APT is the immediate energy source of contraction in skeletal muscle has been demonstrated largely through the efforts of Davies *et al.* (134, 135). It gives the student of vascular smooth muscle some satisfaction to point out that the early difficulties in demonstrating ATP breakdown could have been avoided, had these studies employed vascular smooth muscle rather than the frog sartorius. In the latter, the resynthesis of ATP from ADP and creatine phosphate, catalyzed by phosphoryl creatine transferase (Lohmann reaction), prevents the net decrease of ATP during contraction. Furthermore, the small decrease in creatine phosphate itself is obscured by the high levels found in normal skeletal muscle (135). Vascular smooth muscle, in contrast, contains very little creatine phosphate, and vascular ATP breakdown therefore can be demonstrated without undue interference by resynthesis from creatine phosphate.

The ATP content of blood vessels is reported to be between 0.4 and 0.9 μ moles/g wet tissue (57, 59, 125, 263). The lower values observed in bovine aorta may have been caused by the difficulty in extraction (393). Calculated on the basis of vascular smooth muscle, the ATP content would range from 0.5 to 1.8 μ moles/g, not greatly different from the 2.0 to 2.5 μ moles/g normally found in frog sartorius (350, 399). Regional variations in ATP content of the same vessel have been reported (46).

During the first 1 to 7 min of an isometric contraction of bovine artery stimulated with epinephrine, ATP and creatine phosphate are hydrolyzed (57, 125). It is difficult to assess the estimated (57) thermodynamic efficiency of vascular smooth muscle contraction. The internal work performed during an isometric contraction is greater in vascular smooth muscle than in skeletal muscle, because of the much larger series-elastic component of vascular smooth muscle, 15 to 20 % compared with 3 to 4 % in skeletal muscle (376). Arterial resynthesis of ATP (59, 371) and the production of fructose-1,6-diphosphate (58), which consumes ATP, are stimulated by epinephrine. Epinephrine-induced contractions therefore are not very suitable for estimating the energy cost of contraction. ATP hydrolysis at the termination of prolonged (30 min) potassium contractures can be demonstrated only if glycolysis is blocked (125). ATP breakdown (126) and lactic acid production (375) are higher during the development than during the maintenance of tension (see also section VI H). As indicated earlier (section IV A), the ATP cost of contraction is lower in glycerinated preparations of vascular smooth muscle than in those of skeletal muscle. The hydrolysis of ATP by bovine carotid arteries stimulated by potassium in subcontractile (25 mM) concentrations (125) may be compared with the Solandt effect, the metabolic stimulation of skeletal muscle by potassium (602).

In skeletal muscle the creatine phosphate, 10 to 30 μ moles/g wet tissue, is the immediate source for rephosphorylation of ADP (125, 135, 398, 399). In vascular smooth muscle the concentration of creatine phosphate is much lower, about 0.2 to 0.8 μ moles (57, 59, 125), and its contribution to the resynthesis of ATP is much smaller than in skeletal muscle. Monoiodoacetate delays the activation of the Lohmann reaction in bovine carotid arteries, which is rapid in skeletal muscle (126). In vascular smooth muscle much of the ATP required is synthesized directly, through glycolytic and oxidative phosphorylation, during contraction (125). This is one of the more important, quantitative differences between the energy metabolisms of skeletal muscle and vascular smooth muscle, undoubtedly facilitated by the latter's slower speed of contraction.

Vascular smooth muscle also contains other high-energy phosphates, guanidine triphosphate (GTP) and uridine triphosphate (UTP), that are not readily demonstrable in skeletal muscle (125). These compounds are hydrolyzed and hexosediphosphates may be produced during contraction (125). The concentration of the low-energy adenosine monophosphate, relative to ATP, is also much higher in normal vascular than in skeletal muscle (57, 125).

The question whether rigor occurs in vascular smooth muscle has direct bearing upon the applicability of theories of striated muscle contraction to smooth muscle. In striated muscle the development of rigor is preceded by the disappearance of both ATP and ADP (350). Furthermore, according to Bozler's (76) earlier work, a number of phosphate compounds including inorganic pyrophosphates can plasticize glycerinated skeletal muscle in rigor. The Lundholms (376) were unable to produce rigor with 22 mM monoiodoacetic acid in bovine mesenteric arteries maximally contracted with norepinephrine, although Daemers-Lambert (125) observed an "irreversible contracture" of bovine carotid arteries in the presence of 0.6 mM monoiodoacetate. Relaxation of glycerinated bovine carotid arteries by ATP (531) could be interpreted as being due to plasticizing action on rigor links. The possibility that the reported absence of rigor in vascular smooth muscle (376) was due to accumulation of "plasticizing" phosphates (other than ATP or ADP) has to be considered.

Oxidative phosphorylation by homogenates of rat (634) and guinea pig aorta (496) is efficient: the P/O ratio, 1.5 to 2.0 is only slightly lower than in liver and brain. The relatively large contribution by glycolytic phosphorylation in intact vascular smooth muscle is presumably due to the paucity of mitochondria, rather than deficient function of the mitochondrial enzyme chain.

E. Lipids and atherosclerosis

Fatty acid synthesis from C¹⁴-labeled acetate has been demonstrated in the aorta of dog, rat, rabbit, and baboon (172, 367, 580, 622-625). Cholesterol feeding decreases fatty acid synthesis in the liver but not the aorta (172) and in fact increases incorporation of C¹⁴-acetate into the intimal layer (622). The ATP utilized for increased fatty acid and phospholipid synthesis (see below) may have been responsible for the apparently decreased efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation by aortic mitochondria of cholesterol-fed rabbits (624, 625). Fatty acid synthesis is markedly stimulated by succinate, and rabbit aortic mitochondria incorporate tritium from succinate-2, 3-H³ into long-chain fatty acids (622, 623). Fatty acid synthesis appears to occur in mitochondria via a chain elongation pathway that adds acetate to preformed C-16 and C-18 fatty acids with the production of C-20 and C-22 chains (623-625). The NADH/NAD ratio correlates well with, and may control, vascular synthesis of fatty acids (624, 625). It has been suggested by Whereat (625) that the fundamental defect in atherosclerosis is the impaired oxidation of NADH with a resultant increase of fatty acid synthesis in vascular mitochondria.

Phospholipid synthesis has been demonstrated in aortas incubated with either P³²-labeled phosphate or C¹⁴-linoleic acid, glucose, or acetate (367, 441, 447, 465, 480, 580). Cholesterol feeding increases synthesis of phospholipids, particularly of phosphatidylcholine (447). Parker et al. (465) correlated increased phospholipid synthesis with the ultrastructural appearance of membranous organelles in the myointimal cells of atheromatous lesions. It is probable that, as they suggested, the increase in phospholipid-containing internal membranes is responsible for the increased phospholipid synthesis. Phosphatidylcholine (lecithin), which is associated with internal membranes, is present in larger amounts in fetal rhesus and young rat aortas, while the relative proportion of sphyngomyelin, associated with external membranes, increases with age (442, 481, 482). The incorporation of C¹⁴-linoleic acid into a cell-free preparation of squirrel monkey aorta takes place predominantly within the microsomal fraction, which consists of smooth or denuded rough endoplasmic reticulum and possibly of plasmalemmal pinocytic vesicles (480, 482). In cell-free preparations of atherosclerotic squirrel monkey aorta phospholipid synthesis, without added lysophosphatidylcholine, is increased (480). Lysophosphatidylcholine increases the incorporation of C¹⁴-linoleic acid into phosphatidylcholine and abolishes the difference between normal and atherosclerotic material (480). Human umbilical artery extracts lysophosphatidylcholine (lysolecithin) preferentially and acylates it to phosphatidylcholine (160). Epinephrine and acetylcholine increase the rate of incorporation of P²² into aortic phospholipids (151, 442).

Phospholipase A (phosphatide acylhydrolase), the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of phosphatidylcholine to lysophosphatidylcholine, has been demonstrated in pig aorta (460). If, as had been suggested, the level of lysophosphatidyl-choline regulates atherosclerotic vascular phosphatidylcholine synthesis (480), it would be of interest to determine whether this system is controlled by varia-

tions in phospholipase activity. Phospholipase C (sphingomyelin choline phosphohydrolase) is present in the aorta of rabbit, guinea pig, and dog and in human umbilical artery, its concentration increasing in that order (487).

Cholesterol is synthesized by the aorta of a number of species, but C^{14} -acetate may also be incorporated into digitonin-precipitable sterols other than cholesterol (27, 161, 188, 363, 514). Squalene, a precursor of cholesterol, is synthesized by human and pigeon aorta, and the amount produced by the latter is proportional to the extent of atherosclerosis (514). Cholesterol synthesis by human agota in vitro occurs (110, 514), but the amount produced is small. Cholestanol synthesis by human agreed in the provided in the provide generally of short duration, and for this and other technical reasons (514) one cannot rule out the occurrence of more extensive cholesterol synthesis in vivo. Nevertheless, the cautious consensus is that most of the cholesterol in atheromata is derived from plasma rather than from local synthesis (3, 138, 139, 176, 448, 486; for review see 315, 514, 519, 625). The local synthetic role of vascular smooth muscle is suggested by the observations that thyroxine stimulates vascular synthesis of sterols (401) and can be atherogenic in spite of lowering serum cholesterol (475). Transplanted segments of canine abdominal aorta retain their high susceptibility, and those of thoracic aortas their low susceptibility for atherosclerosis (239). Total lipid and sterol synthesis of cultured chick aortic cells is increased by incubation with histamine, and this effect is blocked by diphenhydramine (433). The lipid synthetic activity of this preparation is blocked by puromycin (432).

Lipolytic activity in the aorta has been reported to be higher and activated by heparin in young rats and lower and not influenced by heparin in old animals (152). No lipase activity was detected in aortic homogenates of man, rabbit, and dog, although esterase activity was present, and even increased in atherosclerotic areas (359, 380, 381). Lipolytic activity of perfused rabbit aortas has been ascribed to an endothelial factor (642). Cholesterol esterase activity is similar in normal and atheromatous rabbit aortas (137).

In summary, vascular smooth muscle has an active lipid metabolism. The multiple etiologic factors responsible for the atherosclerotic process need not be belabored here. The available evidence unequivocally indicates that vascular smooth muscle (section III B) has a key role in the development of atheromata. It remains to be determined whether the morphological and biochemical alterations seen in atherosclerotic vascular smooth muscle are always secondary to hyperlipemia or, in certain forms of atherosclerosis, may be expressions of a primary metabolic disorder of vascular smooth muscle. Since the early ultrastructural appearance of atherosclerotic myointimal cells is similar to that found in a variety of other vascular disorders (section III B), some of the metabolic changes associated with myointimal proliferation may also be nonspecific. The possibility of developing antiatherogenic agents that act by modifying vascular lipid metabolism has been mentioned (section III B). Most certainly, evaluation of the cholesterol-lowering agents cannot be considered complete unless their possible effects on vascular lipid metabolism are also determined.

F. Enzymes

The metabolic activity of vascular smooth muscle implies the existence of the necessary enzyme systems, some of which have been discussed earlier. Detailed reviews of the specific studies of vascular enzymes, and their modifications in atherosclerotic vessels, have been published by workers active in this field (272, 331, 332, 519, 638, 639). Our discussion will be limited to some general comments and work published since the appearance of these reviews. In all the literature surveyed, species-specific variations in enzyme activity are apparent: of the species investigated the aorta of the rat seems to have the highest metabolic activity. The methods of extracting tissues and the amount of vascular connective tissue may also have a significant effect upon enzyme yield (523).

There are differences in the enzymatic activity of the various blood vessels of a given species. The alpha glycerophosphate dehydrogenase activity of the human coronary artery is higher than that of the aorta, pulmonary artery, or vena cava (335). There is an estrogen-inactivating enzyme in the coronary artery of cockerels that is absent from the aorta and the carotid artery (389) The sorbitol dehydrogenase activity of the human vena cava is lower than that of pulmonary and coronary arteries (497). Glutamic dehydrogenase and glutathione reductase are higher (333) and beta hydroxyacyl dehydrogenase is much lower in the human vena cava than in the aorta (522). The succinic dehydrogenase activity is higher in the canine pulmonary artery than in the aorta, and decreases peripherally in both vessels (231). Alkaline phosphatase activity is higher in the cerebral vessels of the rat, rabbit, and chicken than in the aortas of the same species (383). Alkaline phosphatase is demonstrable in aortic homogenates of species (e.g., rabbit) in which no histochemically demonstrable enzyme is normally present in smooth muscle (383, 640). Reserpine and guanethidine, administered to rats in vivo, have been reported to decrease, and epinephrine to increase the phosphomonoesterase I (alkaline phosphatase) activity of aortic homogenates (8). This enzyme is also increased by vitamin D feeding (641) and is normally higher in male than in female rats (428). Whether the variations in alkaline phosphatase reflect enzyme activity in smooth muscle or in endothelium cannot be determined without histochemical evidence.

There is a variable distribution of lactic dehydrogenase (LDH) isoenzymes among different species (364). The LDH isoenzyme pattern also varies in different layers of the aorta and is clearly distinct from the pattern of intestinal smooth muscle. Alterations of thyroid state induce shifts in the aortic LDH isoenzyme pattern.

The vascular enzymes that attack mucopolysaccharides and glycoproteins (91, 261, 261a, 346a, 491, 620) presumably reflect the morphogenetic activity of smooth muscle. Norepinephrine, *in vitro*, decreases aortic mucopolysaccharide synthesis by the dog aorta and this effect can be blocked by phentolamine (281). The inhibition of synthesis may be due to diversion of the high-energy phosphates of vascular smooth muscle from the synthetic to the contractile process. A vascular ribonuclease, similar to but not identical with the pancreatic enzyme, has been isolated from bovine aorta (204).

V. MUSCLE MECHANICS AND ELASTICITY

A. Length-tension and length-shortening relationships and the maximal active tension

The force developed by skeletal muscle in response to a supramaximal stimulus depends upon its initial length. The maximal active tension P_0 is developed at a length often arbitrarily designated L_0 , which is also the approximate resting body length of a given muscle. The passive tension of skeletal muscle at L_0 is negligible, while cardiac muscle develops a significant passive tension when stretched to the length of optimal force development (226). The length-active tension curve of vascular smooth muscle also passes through an optimum L_0 , where, as in cardiac muscle, an appreciable passive tension is developed (565, 567). The passive tension developed at length below L_0 is probably a property of smooth muscle rather than of connective tissue, because it is abolished by metabolic inhibitors (376). There is considerable evidence (221, 222, 257) that the length-active tension curve of striated muscle is regulated by the degree of overlap between actin and myosin filaments. It is reasonable to suggest that the length-active tension curve of vascular smooth muscle is also related to a contractile mechanism of sliding filaments.

The isotonic shortening of vascular smooth muscle is also a function of initial length (555) presumably related to it by the same mechanism as force development. Below a minimal length, 25 to 30% of L_0 in bovine mesenteric artery (376), muscle does not contract any further. We therefore concur with the argument (313, 476) that *critical closure* (98) due to tension development unopposed by tangential stress is not a logical necessity in blood vessels. Although the tangential stress against which vascular smooth muscle contracts decreases with decreasing radius, so does the active tension developed by muscle as its length is decreased below L_0 . Total closure of constricted small vessels by endothelial protrusions is a different and experimentally demonstrable phenomenon (599).

The maximal isometric tension developed by bovine mesenteric arteries stimulated with epinephrine, at L₀, is about 2 kg/cm² (376). We have reported earlier somewhat lower values in three types of canine blood vessel stimulated electrically (551). More recently, in rabbit iliac artery strips adjusted to L₀ and maximally stimulated with norepinephrine we found an active tension of 1.6 $(\pm 0.55 \text{ S.D.})$ kg/cm² cross section. The differences among these values could be due to the different modes of stimulation and proportion of smooth muscle. The tensions developed by vascular smooth muscle and by skeletal muscle are fairly comparable (260, 488), particularly considering that the smooth muscle content is probably only 50 to 75% of the vessel wall. The inverse relationship between load and shortening velocity, the force-velocity relationship of vascular smooth muscle, is qualitatively similar to that of skeletal muscle (254). The reported difference between the force-velocity relationships of the electrically stimulated and the K-induced contractions of arterial smooth muscle (254) could be caused by the different levels of the respective active states: one curve

was obtained immediately after electrical stimulation and the other 10 min after initiation of the K contracture.

B. Stress relaxation and myogenic response

Rapid stretch of a vascular preparation causes a sudden increase in tension followed by its exponential decay (223, 567). This stress relaxation is a characteristic of viscoelastic bodies (for review, see 29, 492). Stress relaxation is increased in contracted, as compared with relaxed, strips of canine peripheral veins (360). This finding supports Bozler's (76) opinion that the same mechanism is responsible for isometric relaxation and for stress relaxation of smooth muscle. In modern terminology, which for smooth muscle is only presumptive, the major part of stress relaxation is probably due to the slow breaking of contractile links. Creep, continued extension under constant load, is the isotonic equivalent of stress relaxation.

In some, but not all, types of vascular smooth muscle, stretch elicits a delayed, active rise in tension (136, 310, 559, 564). This myogenic response increases with the rate of stretch (136, 564), and may have a significant effect on the elastic properties of the vascular bed. Although stretch sensitivity can be induced in normally nonresponsive bovine mesenteric arteries by withdrawal of Ca (376), it is generally observed in blood vessels that normally exhibit spontaneous rhythmic activity (section VI E).

C. Stress-strain diagram and elastic modulus

When the vessel wall is subjected to stepwise extensions (strains) and the resultant passive tension (stress) is plotted as the function of length, the resultant plot is the stress-strain diagram or passive tension-length curve of the vessel wall. The elastic modulus relates the change in stress to the change in strain, and is therefore a measure of the extensibility of a material (29, 492). The larger the elastic modulus the lower (the stiffer) is the extensibility of the material under consideration. The generally accepted value of Poisson's ratio of transverse to longitudinal strain is 0.5 (406), but recent studies suggest values of 0.33 (351), or even less, at low longitudinal strains (330a).

The elastic modulus of blood vessels is not constant but increases with increasing stress. The breaking point and the steep portion of the stress-strain curve, above stresses corresponding to distending pressures *in vivo*, reflect primarily the properties of collagen (50, 86, 99, 223, 498). The initial portion of the length-passive tension curve reflects the contribution of smooth muscle and, to a lesser extent, of elastin.

A complete stress-strain curve includes the ascending limb, obtained while the vessel is stretched, and a descending limb, which is the plot of length against passive tension while the vascular strip (or vessel) is returned to its initial length (or volume). The descending limb does not retrace the ascending limb but is displaced towards the length (or volume) axis, the two limbs forming between them the hysteresis loop. Contraction of smooth muscle increases the resistance to stretch during the ascending limb thereby widening the hysteresis loop (12,
208, 223). The hysteresis loop and stress relaxation are probably expressions of the same process: presumably the breakage of contractile links resulting from stretch. It is clear that if the stress-strain curve is obtained when the smooth muscle is contracted, the width of the hysteresis loop will be affected by tachyphylaxis to the stimulating agent and by the time course of a stimulus or of the contractile process. If during the descending limb the active state of muscle persists at a relatively high level, the loop will be narrow, while if the active state has decayed the hysteresis loop will be wide. Finally, if stretch itself elicits myogenic response, the descending limb may be displaced in the opposite direction, to a lesser volume for a given distending pressure, producing an antihysteresis loop (591).

D. Wall stress and the effect of smooth muscle on vascular elastic properties

The contribution of smooth muscle to the elastic properties of the vessel wall has aroused considerable interest in the field of hemodynamics. It has been argued, in particular, that under conditions of distending pressures *in vivo*, smooth muscle makes no contribution to the elastic properties of large vessels. This assumption, generated at a time when the relevant experimental data were not available, is contradicted by all the evidence we have reviewed.

The load against which vascular smooth muscle has to contract *in situ* is the tangential stress within the vessel wall. In thin-walled vessels tangential stress T is related to the distending pressure P through Lamé's approximation (Lamé, 1852, cited by 549a) for a thin-walled cylinder: T = P r/h, where r and h are, respectively, the radius and wall thickness (O. Frank, cited by 30, 476, 477, 535, 555). Calculated for r/h = 6, the tangential stress T equivalent of a 10 mm Hg distending pressure is about $8 \times 10^4 \text{ dyn/cm}^2$. The tangential stress corresponding to 100 mm Hg distending pressure and the same r/h ratio will be $8 \times 10^5 \text{ dyn/cm}^2$.

Reliable estimates of the elastic modulus of relaxed vascular smooth muscle are difficult to obtain. The reviewers are at a loss to evaluate the state of smooth muscle reported in some earlier studies of blood vessels placed in water or in isotonic NaCl solution. Recalculation of the data obtained in viable preparations (274) applying a value of 10⁶ dyn/cm² for the modulus of pure elastin (406) yields 5×10^5 dyn/cm² for the modulus of elasticity of relaxed vascular smooth muscle. Without attaching undue precision to these estimates it appears that 10^5 dyn/cm² (628) is the correct order of magnitude for this modulus. The upper limit of 20 to 25% contribution of smooth muscle to vascular elasticity at low strains, obtained by this and similar (628) calculations, may be an underestimate. This would be suggested by the observation cited earlier (section V A) that metabolic inhibitors abolished the passive tension developed at strains below L₀.

The active contractile force of about 1.5 to $2.5 \times 10^6 \text{ dyn/cm}^2$ (section V A) which can be developed by stimulated smooth muscle is quite sufficient to make a major contribution to wall elasticity. Strips of canine main pulmonary arteries shorten up to 30% under an isotonic load of $1.6 \times 10^5 \text{ dyn/cm}^2$, which is in excess of the calculated tangential stress due to physiological distending pressures

SOMLYO AND SOMLYO

(555). The stress-strain loop, and in particular its ascending limb, clearly indicates that vasoconstrictor stimuli stiffen veins (12, 13, 223, 360), arteries (55, 223, 253, 348, 349, 417, 477, 593) and arterioles (627, 628). These findings confirm the view long advocated by Heymans *et al.* (268) that vasoconstrictors decrease and vasodilators increase the distensibility of blood vessels.

The elastic modulus of blood vessels can be increased at least 2- to 5-fold by vasoconstrictors (253, 360, 477, 628). The elastic modulus of constricted blood vessels is of the order of 2 to 6×10^7 dyn/cm² (253, 348, 628). Smooth muscle has a dominant effect on the dynamic elastic modulus, which also takes into account the time-dependent, viscous properties of the vessel wall (19, 49, 477). The ratio of dynamic/static elastic modulus shows a positive correlation with the amount of smooth muscle in a given blood vessel (49), indicating the contribution of smooth muscle to the viscous properties of the vessel wall.

Several authors (29, 30, 120, 304, 535) have suggested that vasoconstrictors do not change or even decrease the elastic modulus of blood vessels. This divergence of opinion is due not to a difference in experimental results but, as already pointed out by Bevan *et al.* (55), to the differences in computing elastic moduli from experimental results. Thus, if the experimental conditions or mathematical assumptions allow the vessel to constrict while the distending pressure remains constant, it follows from Lamé's approximation that tangential stress will decrease. If stress is not referred to the absolute (resting) length or radius, the calculated elastic modulus will paradoxically decrease during vasoconstriction. This manner of calculation can be misleading because it does not indicate the increased resistance of contracted smooth muscle to stretch or its correct hemodynamic effects on pulse wave propagation.

E. Some circulatory effects of smooth muscle contraction

We can examine only briefly a few of the recent studies that illustrate the hemodynamic consequences of smooth muscle contraction. The authoritative monograph and review by McDonald (406, 407) and Mellander and Johansson (410) deal in detail with the advances in hemodynamics and circulatory physiology during the period under consideration.

Vascular smooth muscle *in situ* may either shorten (isotonically, afterloaded, or even after-unloaded) or contract isometrically and be even further stretched during contraction. The conditions for isotonic shortening of vascular smooth muscle *in situ* can be defined (555) formally, in terms of pressure p, radius r, and their derivatives, as dp/p = -dr/r, but it is unlikely that pressure and radius vary in precisely this inverse fashion *in vivo*. There is now considerable evidence that smooth muscle contraction (shortening or isometric) can affect large as well as small blood vessels. In a series of ingenious experiments on canine femoral arteries *in situ*, the Gerós (212) demonstrated that when intravascular pressure was maintained constant, sympathetic stimulation significantly reduced the radius of the femoral artery. Without a pressure-stabilizing device the increase in distending pressure caused by peripheral vasoconstriction can decrease or abolish the femoral vasoconstrictor response. Under the latter conditions, however, the smooth muscle contracts isometrically and wall stiffness is markedly increased.

The hemodynamic consequence of increased wall stiffness is an increased velocity of pulse wave propagation (41, 49, 167, 406, 408). An increased pulse wave velocity under the influence of vasoconstrictors has been demonstrated in the main pulmonary artery (41), the aorta (408), and the great veins (17). The large pulmonary arteries are also constricted *in vivo* by hypoxia, serotonin, or epinephrine (466, 513); these findings conclusively demonstrate the vasomotor function of smooth muscle (555) in large vessels.

The effect of initial length upon the magnitude of active shortening (vasoconstriction) is also demonstrable in the intact animal. The decrease in femoral artery radius elicited by sympathetic stimulation increases with increasing initial distention of the vessel, until a limiting value of 130 mm Hg is reached (212). Gauer and Thron (208, 591) suggested that the vasoconstrictor response of veins declines with increasing distending pressure. Their studies were conducted at relatively high distending pressures of 20 to 100 mm Hg. Between 0 and 20 mm Hg distending pressures there is a distinct increase in active vasoconstriction (452), indicative of the typical length-contractile response relationship. In fact, one gets a rather strong impression that L_0 , the optimal length for vascular smooth muscle contraction, is reached at very nearly the physiological distending pressure for a given blood vessel.

The capacitance function of veins (410), whereby vasoconstriction leads to circulatory redistribution of a significant blood volume (157) has been recently investigated and reviewed by Thron (591). The circulatory studies are in agreement with experiments *in vitro* in showing that the vasoconstrictors decrease and vasodilators increase venous distensibility (591, 610).

Autoregulation of resistance (185, 314, 591) and capacitance (507) vessels is frequently considered to be the equivalent *in vivo* of the myogenic contractile response to stretch. This subject has been extensively reviewed by Mellander and Johansson (410).

VI. ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY AND EXCITATION-CONTRACTION COUPLING

The application of electrophysiologic techniques, the measurement of monovalent ion fluxes, and the establishment of the critical role of Ca in contraction mark some of the more important recent developments in the study of vascular smooth muscle. As the result of these, it has become evident that a valid theory of excitation-contraction coupling in vascular smooth muscle cannot be completely identical with the one applicable to fast striated muscle. The following properties of vascular smooth muscle are absent in fast striated muscles, and have to be accounted for by a satisfactory theory of excitation-contraction coupling: 1) their dose-response curves, which indicate continuous gradation of excitation and are difficult to reconcile with an underlying all-or-none process; 2) the lack of quantitative correlation between the contractile effects of drugs and either their action on the membrane potential or related monovalent ion fluxes, in polarized as well as in depolarized preparations; 3) the absence of action potentials in certain types of vascular smooth muscle; and 4) the inequality of the maximal contractile effect of different drugs on a given vascular smooth muscle.

The peculiarities of vascular smooth muscle, however, stand out only in comparison with fast striated muscle, but not when viewed within the broader context of phasic and tonic muscles of vertebrates and invertebrates (484). We shall attempt to develop the theme that two major forms of excitation-contraction coupling regulate both striated and smooth muscle, and that mammalian vascular smooth muscle presents examples of each of the two forms, certainly within the same blood vessel, and perhaps within the same smooth muscle fiber. The presentation will be based upon the ionic model of the membrane potential (for reviews, see 99a, 450, 538), since practical limitations prevent us from considering alternative hypotheses. For a general survey of the electrophysiology of mammalian smooth muscle and of the effects of anions on excitable cells, the reader is referred to the excellent reviews by Burnstock *et al.* (96), and by Horowicz (285). Some publications on electrolytes in vascular smooth muscle, previously reviewed by Bohr (65), have not been included in the present review.

Two assumptions, by now almost generally accepted, will be employed to account for a variety of experimental observations. First, it is assumed that drugs may bring about changes in membrane potential either by changing the passive permeability of the membrane to some (one or more) ionic species or by inhibiting or stimulating an electrogenic ion pump, or both. The second assumption is that contraction is brought about by an increase, and relaxation by a decrease in ionized Ca⁺⁺ available to contractile proteins.

If Cl is passively and rapidly redistributed³ and the system is in steady state, the basis for the first assumption may be formally stated (430):

$$E_{m} = \frac{RT}{F} \ln \frac{P_{Na} [Na]_{o} + rP_{K} [K]_{o}}{P_{Na} [Na]_{i} + rP_{K} [K]_{i}}$$

where E_m is the resting potential, R the gas constant, T the absolute temperature, F Faraday's constant, the subscripts o and i denote whether the given ion is extra or intracellular, P_{Na} and P_{K} are the respective ion permeabilities, and r is the coupling ratio of the number of Na pumped out for each K pumped in.

The equilibrium potentials for a given ion will be given by the conventional Nernst equation, e.g.:

$$E_{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{RT}{F} \ln \frac{\mathrm{K_o}}{\mathrm{K_i}}, \qquad E_{\mathrm{Na}} = \frac{RT}{F} \ln \frac{\mathrm{Na_o}}{\mathrm{Na_i}}$$

It follows from the equation for E_m that a selective increase in membrane permeability to one ion will shift the membrane potential towards the equilibrium

³ The assumption that Cl^- is passively distributed and rapidly permeant is adopted as a matter of convenience simplifying the mathematical treatment. There are as yet no comparative studies known to us (but *cf.* 606a, 636) of the Cl⁻ permeabilities of different vascular smooth muscles.

potential of that ion, which will carry the membrane current in a direction downhill to its electrochemical gradient. This implies that a selective change in ion permeability may depolarize or hyperpolarize the membrane, depending on whether the equilibrium potential of the given ion is more positive or more negative than the resting potential. A general increase in membrane permeability will result in a downhill flux of all permeant ionic species (for review, see 48, 156, 229). In terms of the known electrolyte composition of vascular smooth muscle, depolarization may be caused by an increase in Na permeability or by an electrogenic K pump, hyperpolarization by an increase in K permeability or an electrogenic Na pump. The effect of changing pump activity on the membrane potential will depend on the coupling ratio, which can be variable (553). Finally, if a given drug both induces a passive permeability change and activates or inhibits an electrogenic pump or changes the coupling ratio, the resultant potential changes may add or subtract and, if separated by a resolvable time interval, may be diphasic.

A. Sodium, potassium, and chloride

In spite of several attempts to relate the intracellular concentrations or the transmembrane gradients of monovalent ions directly to the contractile process (56, 194, 355), we find no evidence for a direct coupling of Na or K to contraction. With the benefit of hindsight it is apparent that earlier studies neither considered nor measured the changes in Ca concentration which may occur simultaneously with, or as a consequence of, changes in monovalent ion gradients. Also, in a number of experiments involving manipulation of ionic gradients, the effects of extracellular electrolytes on catecholamine storage and release were not considered and cannot be evaluated here. This objection is applicable when the effects of ions upon the response of vascular smooth muscle to 60 cycle sinusoidal current or low concentrations of K are determined. Alternating current stimulation of vascular strips results in a large indirect component of contraction, mediated by release of catecholamines and K releases catecholamines from adrenergic sites (Part II of this review). The increase in tone elicited by 9 to 15 mM external K, in the isolated pulmonary artery (56) and in the systemic circulation in vivo (233) may be due to direct, indirect, or combined effects. Peripheral vasoconstriction elicited in the hamster cheek pouch by 9 to 12 mM K is abolished by denervation or adrenergic blockade (585). The vasodilator action of K on the feline muscular bed is not influenced by alpha adrenergic blockade (338, 339).

K-free solutions produce contracture or delayed relaxation in the canine carotid artery and systemic resistance vessels (43, 233), in the bovine hepatic, coronary, and mesenteric arteries (414, 415, 509), and in the rabbit aorta (144). Brecht *et al.* (345a) found that when the external K concentration was 10 mM the tone of bovine facial arteries *in vitro* was the lowest, and it increased when the cation concentration was either increased or decreased. These effects of K were not influenced by tetrodotoxin. The contraction of rat portal vein elicited by removal of external K is associated with depolarization and discharge of

action potentials (26). The depolarization and contracture induced by withdrawal of K are probably direct effects, and not due to release of endogenous catecholamines. Depolarization and contracture also develop in avian slow striated muscles (which have no excitatory adrenergic innervation) when they are placed in a K-free solution (553). The depolarization of smooth and slow striated muscles by K-free solution could be explained, as in the frog semitendinosus (277), by a decrease in K conductance with a shift towards the Na equilibrium potential. Theoretically, this depolarization could also be caused by the removal of a K-coupled electrogenic Na pump's contribution to the resting membrane potential. Whether the contracture is due to persistent depolarization or to interference with a K-dependent Ca pump or Ca permeability is an intriguing question, with the present reviewers favoring the second alternative. Vascular smooth muscle depolarized with high potassium is relaxed by isoproterenol (311) while the K-free contracture does not appear to be relaxed by this agent (43). Omission of Ca from the bathing medium accentuates the K-withdrawal contraction of bovine coronary arteries, although it eliminates the response to increased K (415). These findings lead us to believe that the contractile effect of K-free solutions is not simply the result of depolarization.

Acute substitution of lactose, but not choline, for Na results in Na loss and vasodilation of the perfused rat tail artery (195). Sodium-withdrawal produces contracture of canine mesenteric (611) and bovine coronary and mesenteric arteries (416) and the rabbit aorta (121). In the latter Na withdrawal is also said to be associated with increased Ca influx (84; see also section VI C).

Studies with Na²⁴ and K⁴² indicate (205, 236) a very high permeability of vascular smooth muscle to sodium. The kinetics of Na efflux suggests the presence of three predominant compartments. The first, with a half-time of exchange of 30 to 50 seconds is extracellular. The second Na compartment, with a half-time of exchange of 2.5 to 5 minutes (205, 236) is in all probability intracellular. In comparison, the half-time of efflux of intracellular K is 40 to 70 minutes (236). In view of the relatively high Na permeability (205, 236, 606), it may be anticipated that the resting membrane potential of vascular smooth muscle will not be a simple K equilibrium potential. The third compartment, with the slowest exchange time of 40 to 70 minutes is presumably bound at some undetermined site, but at any rate contains less than 2% of the total Na in the dog carotid artery (205) or the rat aorta (236).

Recent estimates (532) of intracellular cation concentrations are about 50 mM of Na and 98 mM K per liter intracellular water, the latter having been calculated on the basis of an inulin space of about 36% (205, 533). The abovecited value of intracellular Na is subject to certain assumptions regarding extracellular cation binding (205, 533). Without these assumptions the sum of the calculated intracellular Na and K ions (205, 532) would be in excess of that expected to be in osmotic equilibrium with the extracellular fluid (533). A technical consideration deserving reemphasis is that stripping off the adventitia or dissecting blood vessels in ice-cold solution can increase the Na content up to 50%, and decrease the K down to 30% of normal (237). Incubation in plasma accentuates, rather than prevents the "unavoidable" Na gain of vascular strips placed in salt solutions (234). The possibility that at least some of this unavoidable gain may be related to the degree or absence of stretch has not been explored.

In only one recent study (327) have intracellular Na and membrane Na permeability been reported to be very low, 7.3 mM/Kg cell H_2O and 0.18 picomoles/cm²/second, respectively. This may reflect a real difference in the electrolyte content of the sheep carotid artery or a spurious result of the assumptions in the calculations employed.

The higher electrochemical potential of extracellular Na suggests that an active process maintains the transmembrane Na gradient. There is now considerable evidence for the existence of an active Na pump in vascular smooth muscle (43, 129, 205, 236, 605). The extrusion of Na and uptake of K against their electrochemical gradients appear to be mediated by a system which has the properties of a Na, K-dependent ATPase (for review, see 549). The Na pump of vascular smooth muscle is inhibited by ouabain (205, 236) and by dinitrophenol (236, 605). The unusually high dependence of this system upon external K has been emphasized by Garrahan *et al.* (205), who found a 90% decrease in Na efflux of dog carotid arteries in K-free solutions. Prolonged incubation in Ca-free, EDTA-containing media or substitution of Li for Na also inhibits the transport of K and Na in rabbit aorta (129).

Whether chloride is partitioned in a manner compatible with a passive, Donnan distribution in canine carotid arteries has been the subject of two conflicting reports (606a, 636).

It can be anticipated from the foregoing that a generalized increase in membrane permeability will lead to net Na influx and to K efflux. Because of the possible effect of drugs on active electrolyte transport, measurements of shortterm electrolyte transients need not parallel those obtained after prolonged (e.g., 30 min) incubation of blood vessels with drugs.

The electrolyte shifts that occur during constriction of rat-tail arteries induced by norepinephrine, angiotensin, and vasopressin have been investigated with cation-sensitive electrodes by the Friedmans and their associates (191–194). The results are compatible with a transient increase in passive permeability, during which Na moves into and K out of the cell, following their respective downhill gradients. Maximal vasoconstriction precedes maximal Na uptake and the latter does not correlate well with the degree of vasoconstriction (191). This behavior of monovalent ion fluxes is also reflected in the limited temporal and quantitative correlation between the changes in membrane potential and tension development elicited by drugs (557). The norepinephrine-induced increase in the K permeability of the rat aorta is an *alpha* adrenergic effect which, unlike that caused by angiotensin, is blocked by phentolamine (505). Electrical stimulation of rat aorta also increases K efflux (235). The Na efflux of canine and feline **carotid art**eries appears to be increased by angiotensin (595), but the authors' suggestion that this is due to stimulation of active transport, rather than due to mechanical "squeezing" (129) or an increase in passive permeability requires further investigation.

We have previously alluded to the possibility that drugs may stimulate the Na pump in vascular smooth muscle. This would tend to oppose the net effects of an increase in passive permeability. A dual action of catecholamines on Na flux may have been responsible for the observations that norepinephrine causes K loss consistently but Na gain only inconsistently (592) and that it prevents the Na gain by perfused canine femoral arteries (104). In sucrose-gap studies of the effects of norepinephrine on the membrane potential (557) we found, during recovery from contractions elicited by large (2×10^{-5}) doses of norepinephrine (558), hyperpolarization considerably below normal (section VI E) resting potentials (*e.g.*, to 90 to 100 mV). An electrogenic Na pump is the most probable mechanism causing this hyperpolarization well beyond the $E_{\rm K}$ calculated from the reported vascular K contents. Adrenergic amines are known to stimulate the Na pump of striated muscle (143). Investigation of the effects of *alpha* and *beta* adrenergic stimulation upon passive membrane permeability and active transport as a function of time would be of considerable interest.

It must be emphasized, finally, that the mechanisms regulating the electrolyte content of gradedly responsive vascular smooth muscle, such as the aorta, need not be quantitatively or even qualitatively identical with those of spike-activated smooth muscle.

B. Extracellular space and water content

Inulin is the commonly accepted marker for measurements of extracellular space, although in several types of smooth muscle the inulin space is significantly greater than the extracellular compartment estimated by electronmicroscopy or occupied by polyglucose or I¹³¹-albumin (44, 96). Furthermore, although the mean inulin space of the aorta is about 35 %, it is quite variable (28 to 53 %) even within the same species (237, 265). There is also evidence of incomplete penetration of inulin into connective tissue, leading to an underestimation of extracellular space (606a).

The very high inulin spaces measured could be due to intracellular penetration dependent upon the functional state of smooth muscle. Thus, rather than causing an increase in the extracellular space, as had been suggested (265), epinephrine may increase intracellular penetration of inulin in the rabbit aorta. It is difficult to reconcile an increase in extracellular space during vasoconstriction with the H_2O loss that accompanies isotonic contraction of vascular smooth muscle (131, 505).

C. Calcium

The participation of calcium in cellular functions has been expertly reviewed in Bianchi's (61a) recent monograph. There is considerable evidence that, in striated and in smooth muscles, a rise in free intracellular Ca activates contraction, and a fall in cytoplasmic Ca activity leads to relaxation (60–61a, 128, 130, 150, 158, 228, 309, 445, 469, 520, 529, 613, 630). This activator Ca may arise from an increased influx of the extracellular ion or from translocation of Ca bound at the surface membrane or concentrated in an intracellular storage site (e.g., sarcoplasmic reticulum). As already emphasized by Bianchi (60) in reference to skeletal muscle, Ca influx may be increased during a twitch without the net increase of intracellular Ca being quantitatively sufficient to account for activation. The Ca sinks may be extracellular or intracellular, but are generally thought to be regions of high (Ca) electrochemical potential, necessitating expenditure of energy for active transport of Ca uphill, during relaxation. Some part of this Ca-lowering process may also take place through binding to highaffinity sites.

An approximately 2- to 3-fold increase in Ca⁴⁵ influx has been reported in two studies to occur during K- or epinephrine-induced contractions of rabbit aortas (83, 84). A puzzling feature of the first study (84) is the equality of fluxes into normal and glycerinated aortas, since glycerination is known to increase membrane permeability (585a). In the second study (83) both control and experimental strips appear to have been incubated in Ca-free Ringer's solution before determining flux rates. The control Ca influx, 0.25 mµmoles/g/sec, was approximately equal to that observed during a 50% increase in tension produced by K₂SO₄ (fig. 3 in 83). Since membrane Ca probably controls its own entry into cells, Ca-depleted aortas would be expected to have an increased, rather than normal, permeability to subsequently added Ca. Binding of Ca to extracellular sites that become unsaturated in Ca-free solutions would also be a function of added Ca concentration and indistinguishable from Ca influx. The latter consideration is also applicable to the effects of low Na solutions on measured Ca influx, since it has been shown by Catchpole et al. (106) that Na and Ca compete for anionic binding sites in the ground substance. Since the experiments cited (83, 84) were conducted at pH 6.9, they were probably not complicated by microprecipitation of Ca phosphate. That the latter may occur has been suggested by Goodford (220), who found a significant increase in Ca content of taenia coli, incubated in phosphate buffered media above pH 7. This finding should be considered in future studies of Ca fluxes in smooth muscle.

There is evidence that drugs can affect excitation-contraction coupling by a common mechanism that is not entirely dependent on depolarization of the membrane. Several smooth and striated muscles bathed in Ca-free media contract in response to drugs for some time after the loss of the contractile response to high K or electrical depolarization. Examples are the effects of norepinephrine on rat tail artery (273) and of acetylcholine on rat uterus (158), the taenia coli (150), the toad stomach (566), and the striated muscle of the frog extensor longus digitis (189). A related property of a number of smooth muscles (in normal Krebs-Ringer solution) is their greater maximal contractile response to drugs than to complete depolarization with potassium. Examples are the maximal responses of vascular smooth muscle to norepinephrine (276, 557, 611, 612), and the responses of uterine (158), intestinal (166), and tracheal (552) smooth muscle to acetylcholine. The maximal responses of vascular smooth

muscle to different drugs also vary within the same vascular segment and the difference persists in the depolarized state (553, 554, 557). The characteristics listed could be due to the ability of drugs to translocate Ca into the cytoplasm from a compartment not accessible to depolarization. An alternative possibility is that drugs produce a longer and more persistent increase in the permeability of the plasma membrane to Ca than does K: in this event Ca bound to the basement membrane and in equilibrium with the contaminant Ca present in "Ca-free" solutions (of the order of 10^{-5} M without chelating agents) could activate contraction.

Several authors have suggested the existence of two separate Ca sites to account for the different responses of smooth muscle to drugs and to K (128, 130, 273, 290, 308). Van Breemen and Daniel (597) have proposed that the superficial and deep sites are in parallel. This hypothesis was based on the assumption that Ca removed by K from a superficial site that is in series with the deep site would be preferentially replenished from the latter, rather than from the extracellular fluid. Since efflux in these experiments was determined in a Ringer's solution containing 1.2 mM nonradioactive Ca, there seems to be no a priori reason to expect that a superficial site could not be repleted from this source. The decline of drug-induced contractions in Ca-free media can be accelerated by chelating agents (158, 273). This finding does not favor the hypothesis that the drug-induced contractions are preferentially utilizing intracelluar Ca.

Several findings, rather than supporting the multiple site hypotheses, are more compatible with the assumption that drugs have a more pronounced effect on Ca permeability than does depolarization. When graded amounts of Ca are added to a Ca-free medium, the contractile response of the rat-tail artery to high K increases gradually over a wide (2.5 mM) range of external Ca concentration, while the response to norepinephrine rises steeply reaching near maximum at 0.75 mM external Ca (273, 275). Similarly, when the toad stomach muscle is depleted of Ca, the contractile response to alternating current stimulation is lost at higher residual tissue Ca levels (0.31 mM/Kg net weight) than the response to acetylcholine (0.14 mM) (566). However, the full contractile response to acetylcholine is also restored at much lower concentrations of Ca than the response to electrical stimulation.

A number of the experimental findings could be accounted for by two permeability barriers to Ca in series. The external barrier, containing high-affinity sites for Ca, could concentrate the cation from the external medium and, if fully utilized, support maximal contractions in the presence of very small amounts (0.2 mM) of total tissue Ca (566). The basement membrane or some less specialized condensation of ground substance probably has the required Ca-binding properties (106). It has been recently reported that 90% of the Ca content of cultured HeLa cells is in the extracellular coat (73). Without implying that the properties of these cells are necessarily similar to those of smooth muscle, one notes with interest that in this system the Ca uptake by the extracellular coat, but not the Ca entry into the "naked cell," is a function of the Ca concentration of the external medium. Parathormone on the other hand affects Ca uptake by the trypsinized "naked cell" and not by the extracellular coat. There is, to our knowledge, only a brief report suggesting that enzymes may decrease or abolish the Ca-binding activity of vascular strips *in vitro* (173).

The inner barrier to Ca in the above model would be the plasma membrane, whose permeability to Ca and other solutes would be controlled by the membrane potential, by labilizing or stabilizing drugs, and by Ca itself. As long as the stabilizing action of Ca on membrane permeability persists, influx from the external site (Ca bound to the basement membrane or free in the extracellular fluid) would be subject to "autoinhibition." This could account for the relatively high Ca requirement for K-induced contraction. In contrast, drugs that eliminate the stabilizing effect of Ca either by removing it from the plasma membrane or through some other mechanism would permit maximal influx from the external site into the myoplasm. This model, which is essentially analogous to the one proposed by Hurwitz *et al.* (294, 295) for the mechanism of action of acetyl-choline on intestinal smooth muscle, is more compatible with the experimental findings than some of the multiple site theories.

A multiple barrier system to Ca has been proposed by Goodford (218) to account for the relatively low energy of activation of Ca efflux (see below) from taenia coli (219). According to this model, there is a region of high energy into which Ca must be actively transported first and whence it escapes downhill by a passive, but rate-limiting process. A double permeability barrier would account for the failure of 1 to 2 mM external Ca concentrations to interfere with the relaxant effect of isoproterenol in Schild's experiments (529), even if relaxation was due to externally-directed Ca pump action. If the free energy of Ca within the barrier exceeds the free energy in normal Ringer's solution, then the external Ca would have to be increased above 1 to 2 mM before it interfered with an externally directed Ca pump. According to another study, higher concentrations (8.3 mM) of Ca do abolish the relaxant effects of epinephrine on tracheal smooth muscle (421). Schild's (529) experiments, however, were conducted on depolarized myometrium, and the two studies are not entirely comparable.

Active transport of Ca into the extracellular phase (527) suggests itself as a possible mechanism of relaxation in smooth muscle. Attempts to demonstrate active extracellular transport in taenia coli (218, 219) or uterus (598) have not been successful. In only one of the studies reviewed could we find evidence of a high degree of temperature-dependence of Ca efflux (fig. 2 in 439) suggestive of an active process. It is possible that, under the usual experimental conditions, the fraction of resting efflux due to active transport of Ca is too small to be detectable. If vasodilators (smooth muscle relaxants) stimulate the active extrusion of Ca, then the Q_{10} of this (still hypothetical) stimulated transport should be higher than values obtained during resting efflux.

It is difficult to estimate the contribution of the sarcoplasmic reticulum to Ca release and uptake in smooth muscle. Because of the small amount of smooth endoplasmic reticulum and the short diffusion distance in smooth muscle, Peachey and Porter (470) suggested that influx of extracellular Ca activates contraction. The scarcity of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in aortic smooth muscle has been noted (for references, see section I), but no comparative studies have been made of the proportional volume of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in different types of smooth muscle. We have suggested elsewhere (557) that the relative contribution of, respectively, the Ca stored in the sarcoplasmic reticulum and the extracellular Ca may vary in different types (e.g., phasic or tonic) of smooth muscle (see also section VI G).

The microvesicular fractions obtained from vascular smooth muscle (482) may be smooth or denuded rough endoplasmic reticulum or even micropinocytic vesicles detached from the plasma membrane. When Ca⁴⁵ is injected *in vivo*, 26 to 48 % of the vascular radioactivity is found in the fraction with the sedimentation characteristics (123,000 \times g fraction) of microsomal vesicles (458). Microsomal fractions with the properties of particulate relaxing factor have been isolated from intestinal smooth muscle (588) and there are preliminary reports of its isolation from uterine (586) and vascular smooth muscle (540). However, if a significant proportion of the particulate relaxing factor consists of detached micropinocytic vesicles, then this finding would favor the existence of externally directed active transport, rather than intracellular translocation.

There is some evidence that not all blood vessels are equally sensitive to Ca depletion, but the results of different laboratories (95, 443) are somewhat difficult to compare. Brecht et al. (80) found that when spontaneous activity of bovine artery and vein strips was abolished in Ca-free media, addition of lower concentrations of Ca (0.1 to 0.2 mM) was sufficient for tension development in arteries than in veins (0.3 to 0.5 mM). The response of the rabbit agree to norepinephrine persists, though diminished, for an hour in solutions containing no added Ca (443, 558), while the majority of mesenteric veins fail to respond after 6 min of Ca withdrawal (558). It has been suggested that loss of responsiveness during Ca depletion may vary with the thickness of the preparations (501). The Ca requirement (ED50) of depolarized rabbit aorta is 3 to 4 times lower than that of the portal-anterior mesenteric vein even when Ca withdrawal of the aorta is prolonged to eliminate differences due to diffusion (553, 558). After incubation in Ca-free depolarizing solution, in particular with Dibenamine $(1.5 \times 10^{-6} \text{ w/v})$ added, the contractile response of mesenteric veins to cumulatively added Ca is depressed (553). Larger K-contractures can be elicited again, after repolarization of the strips in Ca-free solutions containing Na (553). This behavior and the large phasic component of the depolarization contractures of the mesenteric vein resemble the uncoupling of depolarized fast striated muscles (60, 122a, 189). Under the above described experimental conditions the Ca contracture of depolarized aortic smooth muscle persists; this suggests, but only indirectly, a higher state of maintained Ca permeability. It remains to be confirmed whether the increased permeability of the depolarized rabbit aorta is unidirectional (influx only), as had been suggested (83). The lesser sensitivity of the rabbit aorta to depression of K contracture by cinnarizine (216a) correlates well with the usual absence of action potentials in this type of smooth muscle. Whether the greater sensitivity to cinnarizine of the smaller vessels studied by Godfraind *et al.* (216a) is related to spike-generating, phasic properties of their smooth muscle fibers, as we would suggest, will have to be determined by electrophysiologic studies. This assumption is at least supported by the sensitivity of the rabbit mesenteric vein to the depressant effects of Dibenamine (553).

Isojima and Bozler (302) found that the response of turtle aorta to acetylcholine, which had been abolished in Ca-free NaCl solution, was restored in Cafree KCl solution. The mechanism of this interesting observation remains to be determined.

D. Magnesium

The Mg requirements of isolated contractile proteins and glycerinated vessels have been mentioned earlier (section IV A). Whether the intracellular activity of Mg can vary sufficiently in living fibers to affect contractile activity is uncertain. Although about 50% of the total Mg can be removed from canine iliac arteries incubated in a Mg-free medium, the strips so depleted still respond normally to epinephrine, angiotensin, and serotonin (560). Assuming an extracellular space of 35%, and all the remaining Mg intracellular, these preparations still contain 4.0 mM Mg/Kg cell water, while ATPase activity of vascular actomyosin is maximally activated by 3.0 mM Mg (531).

A large proportion of exchangeable Mg has also been demonstrated in the canine aorta *in vivo*, with approximately 33% of Mg exchanging in 4 hr in normal (609), and about 60% in hypermagnesemic animals (608). The reported values of normal vascular Mg content show considerable variation (94, 182, 560, 608) and may include an extracellularly bound fraction (106, 608).

The vasodilator effects of Mg in intact animals (232, 590) are outside the scope of this review. The specific interaction between Mg and neurohypophysial peptides (560) will be discussed at a later date (Part II of this review).

E. Resting membrane potential, automaticity, and conduction

The technical limitations of the sucrose gap and intracellular microelectrode methods employed in recent studies of smooth muscle have been discussed in detail previously (96, 557). Rothstein's review of membrane phenomena (506) provides an excellent survey of the general biophysical processes underlying the specialized case of excitation and inhibition in vascular smooth muscle.

The resting membrane potentials measured in vascular smooth muscle are summarized in table 1. In common with other smooth muscles (96), the resting potentials in vascular smooth muscle are lower than in fast striated muscle. Low, unstable potentials are usually associated with spontaneous spike activity.

The K dependence of the vascular smooth muscle's resting potential is now well established: high concentrations of K invariably depolarize the membrane (26, 124, 323, 557, 584). The possibility that some effects of 5 to 20 mM K are indirect (neurally mediated), and the depolarizing action of complete K with-drawal have been discussed (section VI A).

Withdrawal of Ca depolarizes the sheep carotid artery (326), rabbit aorta

SOMLYO AND SOMLYO

Species	Vessel	Resting* membrane potential	Action potentials	Method	Ref- erence
		mV			
Frog	Tongue 20-100 µ	41	Two types; evoked,	Intracellular	197
	Arteries and veins		not spontaneous		
Frog	Abdominal cutaneous 50–100 μ	25	Spontaneous	Intracellular	198
_	Arteries and veins			_	
Frog	Tongue	34(18-59)	Evoked, not spon-	Intracellular	544
	Arteriole 20-80 µ		taneous		
Frog	Tongue	65	Evoked in 10%	Intracellular	576
	Blood vessels 50–150 μ			.	
Frog	Abdominal skin 50– 150μ	44		Intracellular	576
Turtle	Abdominal aorta, vena cava	40	Spontaneous	Intracellular	503
Rat	Portal vein	39	Spontaneous and	Intracellular	199
		(30-65)	slow waves		
Rat	Mesenteric arterioles	39	Spontaneous and	Intracellular	576
		(30–50)	slow waves		
Guinea	Mesenteric arterioles	39	Spontaneous and	Intracellular	568
pig	100-450 µ	(26–59)	slow waves		
Guinea	Anterior mesenteric	51	Spontaneous and	Intracellular	440
pig	vein	(41-62)T	slow waves	~	
Sheep	Carotid artery	61 (47–77)	? Evoked with drugs	Sucrose gap	323
Pig	Carotid artery	50		Sucrose gap	97
Pig	Renal vein	53		Sucrose gap	97
Rabbit	Branch of posterior mesenteric artery	54		Intracellular	569
Rabbit	Ear artery	62		Intracellular	569
Rabbit	Portal anterior mesen- teric vein	40-50	Spontaneous and slow waves	Sucrose gap	282
Rabbit	Portal anterior mesen- teric vein	46	Spontaneous and slow waves	Sucrose gap	557
R a bbit	Portal anterior mesen- teric vein	33	Spontaneous and slow waves	Intracellular	123
Rabbit	Main pulmonary ar- tery	52		Intracellular	584
Rabbit	Main pulmonary ar- tery	52		Sucrose gap	557

TABLE I

Electrophysiology of vascular smooth muscle

* Mean; values in parentheses are the range.

† Resting membrane potentials below 30 mV excluded.

(541), and rat portal vein (26), although the effects on spike activity differ (see below).

Spontaneous rhythmic contractions, indicative of automaticity, were first described in 1852 in the pulsatile veins of the bat wing (Wharton Jones, cited

by 23). Some 20 years ago, Bozler (75) pointed out that these pulsatile, noninnervated veins should be classified as single-unit smooth muscle. Spontaneous rhythmic activity of this type has since been described in the portal veins of chickens (23), rats, dogs, rabbits, and other mammals (26, 71, 123, 124, 199, 282, 283, 440, 557), human umbilical vessels (136, 559, 564), the longitudinal mesenteric arterial muscle (69, 70) and small mesenteric arteries (558) of the fowl, some small canine cutaneous arteries (310), and the turtle aorta and inferior vena cava (503). In all the preparations that have also been studied with electrophysiologic methods, rhythmic mechanical activity was found to be associated with action potentials, usually arising from slow waves. The rate of spontaneous contactions and action potentials increases in response to stretch (23, 71, 123, 310).

Myogenic propagation of the action potential is implied by the definition of single-unit muscle (75). The propagated activity of nerve-free vascular smooth muscle (e.g., bat veins, umbilical vessels) is self-evident. The automaticity and conduction in the longitudinal muscle of rat and rabbit portal-anterior mesenteric vein are also myogenic, and are not eliminated by tetrodotoxin, adrenergic blocking agents, or nerve-blocking concentrations of local anesthetic (282, 312). Spontaneous vasomotion of the microcirculation (643) indicative of conducted activity, may represent either myogenic single unit or neurally coordinated multiunit behavior. In innervated vascular beds some of this electromechanical activity is influenced by, though not totally dependent on, excitation of nerves (15, 31, 177, 544, 576). Altura (15) recently produced considerable evidence of adrenergic and cholinergic modulation of microcirculatory vasomotion. In denervated vascular beds vasomotion persists and is undoubtedly myogenic (626). The automaticity and the excitability of vascular smooth muscle may fluctuate with such variables as the degree of stretch, depth of anesthesia, and temperature (177, 282, 543, 557, 568, 576).

The nexus, the site of close membrane apposition which is considered to be the low-resistance path for cell-to-cell propagation (42; and section I D) has been demonstrated in rabbit (282) and canine (140) mesenteric veins, both of which show well-developed conducted activity (557). Areas of close apposition are also present in the rat portal vein (199) and the human umbilical artery (570) and occur with increasing frequency in the terminal vascular bed (494). Nexuses are absent in the aorta (section I D). The available evidence indicates a good positive correlation between the presence of nexuses and conducted action potentials.

F. Electrical responses to drugs: action potentials and graded depolarization

In certain types of vascular smooth muscle action potentials arise spontaneously or can be evoked by drugs or direct electrical stimulus (table 1). The shape of the action potentials varies from spikes of 40 to 50 msec duration in frog and rat arterioles (197, 576) to the plateau-type action potentials lasting 15 sec in the turtle aorta (503). The action potentials frequently arise from slow waves, occasionally overshoot, or exhibit positive afterpotentials (26, 69, 123, 124, 197-199, 402, 440, 503, 544, 557, 568, 576). A more thorough analysis of action potentials in frog and rat blood vessels can be found in Steedman's (576) excellent study.

It is apparent from the survey of even the limited number of published studies that the morphology of vascular action potentials of different species, vascular beds, and functional states covers perhaps the entire range encountered in all other types of smooth muscle (for review, see 96). Different electrophysiologic properties of smooth muscle cells in close proximity of each other are indicated by the considerably different action potentials that can be evoked from precapillary sphincters (50 msec duration) and from the adjacent arteriolar (200 msec) smooth muscle (197). On direct external electrical stimulation, in only 10% of the cases could action potentials be elicited in blood vessels of the frog tongue (576).

The usual electrical response of spike-generating vascular smooth muscle to vasoconstrictors is depolarization, initiation of action potentials, or an increase in spike-frequency. These electrical effects can be elicited by potassium, alpha adrenergic agents (124, 199, 282, 311, 440, 503, 544, 557, 568, 576), histamine (124, 557), 5-hydroxytryptamine (557), and vasopressin (576). Beta adrenergic agents (69, 124, 282, 311) and the phosphodiesterase inhibitors theophylline (124, 311) and caffeine (557) produce inhibition of spike electrogenesis, sometimes preceded by an initial stimulatory period. Acetylcholine can produce an initial hyperpolarization associated with action potentials and contraction, followed by depolarization (197, 199, 440), while in other mammalian vascular beds it abolishes spike activity (576). Cholinergic excitation with increased frequency of action potentials is seen in the longitudinal mesenteric arterial muscle of the chicken (69). In spite of the excitatory and inhibitory electrical effects of, respectively, vasoconstrictors and vasodilators, in the majority of cases investigated their mechanical effects are not solely dependent on electromechanical coupling (section VI H).

The beta adrenergic inhibition of action potentials has been reported to be associated with depolarization (311) and also with hyperpolarization (282). Hyperpolarization may be ascribed to an increase in K permeability, activation of an electrogenic Na pump, or both effects. Depolarization may be due to an increase in Na permeability or stimulation of an electrogenic K pump. In the slow striated muscle (latissimus dorsi) of the pigeon, isoproterenol usually has a depolarizing action when the K concentration of the Krebs' solution is 5.9 mM and a hyperpolarizing action when it is 1 mM (553). A tentative explanation of the latter finding is that the K/Na coupling ratio, and therefore the sign of the pump electrogenesis, may vary as a function of external K concentration. Inasmuch as isoproterenol has a beta adrenergic relaxant effect on avian slow muscles and on vascular smooth muscle, these observations may have some applicability to the electrogenic effects of catecholamines on smooth muscle. In fact, the authors (311) who reported a depolarizing action of isoproterenol on vascular smooth muscle used a solution containing more K (5.94 versus 5.0 mM) than employed by Holman et al. (282). Whether this small difference in K concentration could be responsible for the differing results in uncertain, particularly since in one case the rat and in the other the rabbit portal vein was investigated.

Sucrose-gap records of sheep carotid arteries stimulated with K, norepinephrine, or histamine have been interpreted as showing spike or plateau-type action potentials (323-325). In our opinion the published records could represent minimal spike activity superimposed on a predominantly graded (see below) electrical response. Clearly distinguishable spike activity is elicited in the sheep carotid artery by a combination of acetylcholine or nicotine and endogenously released norepinephrine (324). Characteristically, these electrical effects are accompanied by only minimal contraction; and this suggests that spike electrogenesis is not the predominant link in excitation-contraction coupling. Repetitive action potentials are also produced in low Ca media (326). We have emphasized elsewhere in reference to vascular smooth muscle (557) the general phenomenon (506) that stable membranes may be labilized to produce action potentials. The question relevant to excitation-contraction coupling is not whether spikes can be artificially produced, or demonstrated in a small number of phasic fibers within a tonic population, but whether they represent a normal step in the activation process of the entire cell population.

Graded depolarization, rather than action potentials, appears to be the normal electrical response of certain types of mammalian vascular smooth muscle (553, 554, 557, 583). The arguments in favor of this view have been discussed in detail earlier by the present authors (557) and will not be recapitulated here. Norepine-phrine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, and histamine produce graded depolarization in large, multiunit blood vessels. On the rabbit main pulmonary artery a depolarizing action of norepinephrine, which could not be observed in earlier micro-electrode studies (584) of intimal smooth muscle, was conclusively demonstrated by the sucrose-gap method (557).

Graded excitatory junction potentials accompanied by contraction, but without action potentials, have been recorded intracellularly in isolated rabbit arteries (569). The authors' argument that failure to elicit action potentials is an artifact due to recording *in vitro* is not convincing, since action potentials can be recorded *in vitro* from other types of vascular smooth muscle. The action potentials of small (100 to 450 μ diameter) guinea pig arteries recorded *in vivo*, referred to by Speden (568, 569) need not, and probably are not, representative of the electrophysiological properties of the larger arteries of the rabbit.

The classification (553, 557) of vascular smooth muscle into spike-generating (phasic) and gradedly responsive (tonic) is not advanced solely on the basis of electrophysiologic studies. The K contractures and apparent Ca permeabilities of the spike-generating mesenteric vein and the gradedly responsive aortic and pulmonary arterial smooth muscle are also clearly different (section VI C). Short (10 msec) external electrical pulses produce contractions in spike-generating (551) but not in gradedly-responsive vascular smooth muscle (558). The different degrees of phasic and tonic behavior appear not to be limited to blood vessels but may be a more general property of mammalian smooth muscles. K con-

SOMLYO AND SOMLYO

tractures of rabbit tracheal smooth muscle are tonic while those of small (300 to 500 μ) bronchioles are phasic (552).

G. Electromechanical coupling

Given that spontaneous or evoked electrical activity of the membrane triggers contraction by increasing the sarcoplasmic concentration of free Ca, there remain to be established the source of the Ca and the mechanism of its release. Intimately related to the problem of electromechanical coupling is the identity of the ions carrying the charge represented by the action potential.

The spontaneous action potentials of portal-mesenteric veins are undoubtedly triggering the associated contractions. In view of the similarity of this preparation to the taenia coli, one must consider the suggestion (220) that the action potentials are Ca spikes, which also provide the activator Ca for contraction. The major alternative to the former hypothesis would be that spikes cause the translocation of Ca from an intracellular storage site (557), in analogy with the well known mechanism in fast striated muscle (520). Tetrodotoxin does not abolish the action potentials of rabbit mesenteric veins (282) but, as emphasized by Kao (317), resistance to tetrodotoxin is not sufficient evidence against Na being the charge carrier. Ca-free solutions, after an initial period of enhanced spike activity, depolarize and abolish the action potentials of rat portal veins. Contraction amplitude decreases before the spike amplitude (26), and norepinephrine can initiate spike activity without contractions in Ca-free solutions (311). These findings seem difficult to reconcile with the joint proposition that Ca current is responsible for spike activity and that the amount of Ca charge is sufficient to activate contraction. This hypothesis was advanced on the basis of experiments on taenia coli (92, 220, 451). Axelsson (25), however, found that spike activity was enhanced, although the taenia was relaxed, when Li was substituted for Na or in Ca-free solutions. If the action potentials carry sufficient Ca for contractile activation, then secondary postulates have to be invoked to explain the paradox of electromechanical dissociation. Of course, the chargecarrier need not be unique but may be one ion or another, depending on experimental conditions (344, 506). Therefore, Axelsson's findings do not destroy but, in our opinion, greatly weaken the case that the Ca charge carried by the spike is sufficient to directly activate single unit mammalian smooth muscle. If, on the other hand, action potentials discharge Ca from an intracellular storage site in spike-generating vascular smooth muscle, one may anticipate ultrastructural evidence of greater amounts of sarcoplasmic vesicles than found in gradedly responsive vascular smooth muscles. The spike-generating smooth muscle of the canine portal vein (557, 558) does contain a relatively voluminous sarcoplasmic tubular system (140).

The repetitive action potentials evoked in sheep carotid arteries by removal of Ca from the medium are accompanied by Na influx (326, 327). These Na spikes generally do not trigger individual contractions. They are interesting, experimentally induced oscillations, rather than a normal link in excitation-contraction coupling.

The coupling mechanism that links the graded depolarization of smooth muscle in large, multiunit vessels to contraction is also uncertain. The possibility that depolarization in this type of smooth muscle is associated with a maintained increase in Ca permeability will be considered in the next section (see also section VI C).

H. Pharmacomechanical coupling, maintained tension, and relaxation

The discovery that depolarized smooth muscle can be contracted or relaxed by drugs (166, 529) has been amply extended to vascular smooth muscle (273, 289, 311, 325, 402, 557, 560, 611, 612). It has also been shown that action potentials in spike-generating vascular smooth muscle can be abolished without depolarization, while the contractile effect of drugs persists (557). In the same study, it was also established that the inequality of the maximal contractile response of polarized vascular smooth muscle to different drugs (554) persists in the depolarized state. Antagonists and potentiators exert similar effects in polarized and in depolarized vessels (560, 611) and there is only limited correlation between the electrical and the mechanical effects evoked by drugs (124, 557). All of these findings support the importance of pharmacomechanical coupling: the role of nonelectrical processes in mediating drug-induced contractions. The possibility that the process responsible for the drug-induced contractions of depolarized muscle is an increased state of permeability to Ca has been considered by several authors (150, 166, 612). There have also been several advocates of the idea that certain membrane-active agents act by displacing Ca from the cell membrane (171, 343, 538, 557) and that tonic contractions are associated with a maintained increase of Ca influx (83, 539). The working hypothesis outlined below has numerous antecedents within and beyond the material surveyed in this review. In fitting the pieces together we have tried to follow A. V. Hill's (271) admonition that publication of a hypothesis is permissible only if it can be tested experimentally.

A survey of smooth and striated muscles indicates that either one may be phasic or tonic. Phasic muscles respond to depolarizing agents with a twitch and transient Ca influx (60), they are normally activated via action potentials and may be either single- or multiunit. In tonic muscles depolarization produces a sustained state of contraction and increased permeability to Ca (section VI C). The presence of both components, phasic and tonic, in a given muscle may be due to a heterogeneous (phasic and tonic) cell population (24, 28, 469) or to an intermediate type of muscle fiber. Phasic components of contraction are absent in depolarized muscle stimulated with drugs, the slow response of these preparations having been noted in the original work of Schild and his co-workers (166). The tonic component, when present, can be selectively abolished in the uterus by lowering the temperature (166) and in vascular smooth muscle by Ca-free solutions (fig. 3 in 612) by desigramine (289), or by cinnarizine (216a). Prominent phasic components of contraction are seen in small vessels (67) and in mesenteric veins (553), while tonic behavior is characteristic of the rabbit main pulmonary artery and aorta. Activation with action potentials appears to occur in phasic

vascular smooth muscle, and graded depolarization (summated junction potentials) in tonic vascular smooth muscle (557).⁴ Spike-activated muscles may be single-unit or multiunit, depending upon the extent of cell-to-cell conduction, rather than the cellular mechanisms of excitation and contraction. Gradedly responsive muscles are, by necessity, multiunit.

It is tentatively proposed that, as in many other systems (for review, see 506), membrane-bound Ca regulates the permeability of the membrane to ionized Ca itself as well as to other solutes. Depolarization removes some membrane-bound Ca: the resultant permeability increase is transient in phasic and sustained in tonic vascular smooth muscles. Some drugs may release membrane-bound Ca and, as suggested by Feinstein (171), exert an even greater stabilizing action than Ca itself. Other agents, like acetylcholine (294, 295), norepinephrine, and other active amines or peptides, may eliminate the stabilizing effect of Ca with or without removing it from bound sites. Activator Ca under these conditions may arise in varying quantities from the plasma membrane itself, from binding sites within the ground substance or from the extracellular fluid. This mechanism of permeability change would be compatible with the steep Ca "dose-response curves" in the presence of highly potent agonists (section VI C). The unequal efficiency of pharmacomechanical coupling obtained with different drugs (557) could thus be accounted for by an unequal ability to overcome the stabilizing action of Ca and thereby produce a sustained increase in membrane permeability.

Nonelectrical coupling of inhibitory stimuli to relaxation may be caused either by a decrease in permeability to Ca (passive or the active exclusion of Shanes, 538), an enhanced operation of the Ca pump, or a combination of both factors. Electrical inhibition may be due to hyperpolarization, or inhibition of spike electrogenesis, or both (282, 311, 325, 557).

Tone, the maintained contraction of vascular smooth muscle, may be due to a true tetanus caused by random discharge of action potentials of phasic fibers (26, 177, 552) or to graded depolarization of tonic smooth muscle (553, 557). Tone may also be caused by an increase in the permeability of the membrane to Ca or, theoretically, by an inhibition of Ca pumping, either of which may occur relatively independently of changes in the membrane potential. Either the latter mechanism or sustained depolarization may be responsible for the "catch-like" state of rabbit main pulmonary artery which follows strong electrical stimulation (556). It is important to recognize that the mechanical records of a tetanus and a tonic contracture are often indistinguishable. The basic cellular mechanisms of excitation-contraction coupling, in particular the sources and sinks of activator

⁴ Tonic, gradedly responsive fibers and phasic, spike-generating fibers are extreme and simplified examples of what is probably a continuous spectrum. Sustained K-contractures, for example, in avian slow muscles (558) are not incompatible with the ability of the cell membrane to generate action potentials (553). A possible correlation has been pointed out between sustained contractures maintained by Ca-influx and the contribution of Ca to the action potential in some muscles (158a).

calcium, may be quite different in the two types of maintained tension. All the excitatory influences are coupled to a single actomyosin system (section IV A). There is overwhelming evidence against the operation of a "catch" mechanism of specialized protein crystallization even in those invertebrate muscles which, unlike mammalian muscles, contain paramyosin (for review, see 162, 444). There is a measurable energy cost of maintaining contraction in vascular (126) and in invertebrate "catch" muscle (32), although it is less than that required for developing tension. This result is encouragingly consistent with thermodynamic considerations of the relative amounts of work involved, and fully confirmatory of Bozler's (75-77) views on the nature of tone in smooth muscle.

It is evident that current views, including our own, regarding the nature of excitation-contraction and inhibition-relaxation coupling owe a large debt to inference and speculation. Experimental evidence based on concomitant electrophysiological studies linking, respectively, graded depolarization with tonic and action potentials with phasic mechanical properties is limited to a few blood vessels investigated in our laboratory. Correlation of the time course of K contractures and Ca fluxes with the type of electrical activity, in a variety of smooth muscles, will be required to establish the general validity of some of the concepts outlined here. Reassessment of the electrophysiology of nonvascular smooth muscle may also reveal the existence of forms that, unlike the taenia coli, are activated by graded depolarization. Significant advances in this field can come from rigorous exploration of the fundamental biophysical processes that regulate the excitability of the membrane and convey phasic and tonic properties to smooth and striated muscles.

Acknowledgments. We thank Dr. R. P. Custer for his continued help and encouragement. The discussions over several years with members of the Myo Bio Group, too numerous to list individually, have been an invaluable source of information about the general physiology of muscle. For discussing specific aspects of this review, we thank Drs. C. P. Bianchi, M. M. Dewey, and F. A. Pepe. The able participation of Mr. P. Vinall in several of the unpublished experiments cited is gratefully acknowledged. We want to thank Mrs. Luciana Gomes for devotion to the preparation of the manuscript which required exceptional cryptographic as well as typing abilities, and the able assistance of Miss Ann English. We also thank Mrs. M. F. Keating, Librarian, for her cooperation in obtaining bibliographic material.

REFERENCES

- 1. ABRAMSON, D. I. (ed.): Blood Vessels and Lymphatics, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1962.
- 2. ADAMS, C. W. M. AND BATLISS, O. B.: Histochemical observations on the localisation and origin of sphingomyelin, cerebroside and cholesterol in the normal and atherosclerotic human artery. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 85: 113-119, 1963.
- ADAMS, C. W. M., BAYLISS, O. B., DAVISON, A. N. AND IBBAHIM, M. Z. M.: Autoradiographic evidence for the outward transport of ⁴H-cholesterol through rat and rabbit aortic wall. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 87: 297-304, 1964.
- ADAMS, C. W. M., BATLISS, O. B. AND OBTON, C. C.: Zonal increase in lactic dehydrogenese activity in the senescent human sorts. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 567-572, 1967.
- AHMED, M. M.: Age and sex differences in the structure of the tunica media of the human aorta. Acta Anat. 66 45-58, 1967.
- ALBERT, E. N.: The effect of pregnancy on the elastic membranes of mesometrial arteries in the guinea pig. Amer. J. Anat. 120: 611-626, 1967.
- 7. ALBERT, E. N. AND BHUSSERT, B. R.: The effects of multiple pregnancies and age on the elastic tissue of uterine arteries in the guines pig. Amer. J. Anat. 121: 259-270, 1967.

- ALBRECHT, W.: Über Fermentaktivität in der Aorten wand der Ratte und ihre pharmakologische Beeinflussbarkeit. Helv. Physiol. Pharmacol. Acta 18: 376-383, 1960.
- 9. Alexander, A. F. AND JENSEN, R.: Normal structure of bovine pulmonary vasculature. Amer. J. Vet. Res. 24: 1083-1093, 1963.
- ALEXANDER, A. F. AND JENSEN, R.: Pulmonary vascular pathology of bovine high mountain disease. Amer. J. Vet. Res. 24: 1098-1111, 1963.
- ALEXANDER, A. F. AND JENSEN, R.: Pulmonary vascular pathology of high altitude-induced pulmonary hypertension in cattle. Amer. J. Vet. Res. 24: 1112-1122, 1963.
- 12. ALEXANDER, R. S.: Contractile mechanics of venous smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 212: 852-858, 1967.
- 13. ALEXANDER, R. S.: Role of calcium in the plasticity of venous smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 213: 287-294, 1967.
- ALTENÄHB, E.: Untersuchungen über die Feinstruktur der vegetativen Innervation der Rattenlunge. Z. Mikrosk-Anat. Forsch. 72: 437-518, 1964.
- ALTURA, B. M.: Evaluation of neurohumoral substances in local regulation of blood flow. Amer. J. Physiol. 212-1447-1454, 1967.
- ANCLA, M. ET DE BUER, J.: Étude au microscope électronique des artérioles spiralées de l'éndomètre humain. Ann. Anat. Pathol. 9: 209-222, 1964.
- 17. ANLIKER, M., OGDEN, E., HISTAND, M. AND WESTBROOK, R. M.: Direct measurement of dissipation of waves in arteries and veins. Proc. 19th A.C.E.M.B., p. 17. I.E.E.E., Inc., New York, 1966.
- APPENZELLER, O.: Electron microscopic study of the innervation of the auricular artery in the rat. J. Anat. 98: 87-91, 1964.
 APTER, J. T.: Correlation of visco-elastic properties with microscopic structure of larger arteries. IV. Thermal
- responses of collagen, elastin, smooth muscle, and intact arteries. Cir. Res. 21: 901-918, 1967.
- ARDLIE, N. G. AND SCHWARTZ, C. J.: Arterial pathology in the Australian reptile: A comparative study. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 90: 487-494, 1965.
- AREY, L. B.: The development of peripheral blood vessels. In The Peripheral Blood Vessels, ed. by J. L. Orbison and D. E. Smith, pp. 1-16, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1963.
- ASHBURN, A. D. AND WILLIAMS, W. L.: Hearts and blood vessels of mice receiving cortisone and estrogens. Anat. Rec. 155: 551-562, 1966.
- ATTARDI, G. AND ATTARDI-GANDINI, D.: Spontaneous peristaltic activity of veins of chick embryos and newly hatched chickens explanted in vitro. Experientia (Basel) 11: C7-38, 1955.
- 24. ATWOOD, H. L.: Crustacean neuromuscular mechanisms. Amer. Zool. 7: 527-551, 1967.
- AXELSSON, J.: Dissociation of electrical and mechanical activity in smooth muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 158: 381-398, 1961.
- AXELSSON, J., WAHLSTRÖM, B., JOHANSSON, B. AND JONSSON, O.: Influence of the ionic environment on spontaneous electrical and mechanical activity of the rat portal vein. Circ. Res. 21: 6095618, 1967.
- AZABNOFF, D. L.: Species differences in cholesterol biosynthesis by arterial tissue. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 98: 680-683, 1958.
- BACH-T-RITA, P. AND ITO, F.: In vivo studies on fast and slow muscle fibers in cat extraocular muscles. J. Gen. Physiol. 49: 1177-1198, 1966.
- BADER, H.: The anatomy and physiology of the vascular wall. In: Handbook of Physiology, Section 2, Circulation, vol. 2, chapt. 26, pp. 865-889. Executive editor, Philip Dow; section editor, W. F. Hamilton. American Physiological Society, Washington, D. C., 1963.
- BADER, H. UND KAPAL, E.: Über die Bedeutung der Wandmuskulatur f
 ür die elastischen Eigenschaften des Aorten windkessels. Z. Biol. 109: 250-261, 1957.
- BAEZ, S.: Response characteristics of perfused microvessels to pressure and vasoactive stimuli. Angiology 12: 452-461, 1961.
- 32. BAGUET, F. AND GILLIS, J. M.: Energy cost of tonic contraction in a lamellibranch catch muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 198: 127-143, 1968.
- BALIS, J. U., HAUST, M. D. AND MORE, R. H.: Electron-microscopic studies in human atherosclerosis. Cellular elements in sortic fatty streaks. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 511-525, 1964.
- 34. BALL, R. A., SAUTTER, J. H. AND KATTER, M. S.: Morphological characteristics of the anterior mesenteric artery of fowl. Anat. Rec. 146: 251-255, 1963.
- BARAJAS, L.: The innervation of the juxtaglomerular apparatus. An electron microscopic study of the innervation of the glomerular arterioles. Lab. Invest. 13: 916-929, 1964.
- BARAJAS, L. AND LATTA, H.: The jurtaglomerular apparatus in adrenalectomised rats. Light and electron microscopic observations. Lab. Invest. 12: 1046-1059, 1963.
- BÁRÁNY, M.: ATPase activity of myosin correlated with speed of muscle shortening. J. Gen. Physiol. 50: 197-218, 1967.
- BÁRÁNY, M., BÁRÁNY, K., GAETJENS, E. AND BAILIN, G.: Chicken gissard myosin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 113: 205-222, 1966.
- 39. BARBER, V. C. AND GRAZIADEI, P.: The fine structure of cephalopod blood vessels. I. Some smaller peripheral vessels. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 66: 765-781, 1965.
- BARBER, V. C. AND GRAZIADEI, P.: The fine structure of cephalopod blood vessels. III. Vessel innervation. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 77: 162-174, 1967.
- 41. BARGAINER, J. D.: Pulse wave velocity in the main pulmonary artery of the dog. Circ. Res. 20: 630-637, 1967.
- BARR, L., BERGER, W. AND DEWEY, M. M.: Electrical transmission at the nexus between smooth muscle cells. J. Gen. Physiol. 51: 347-368, 1968.

- BARR, L., HEADINGS, V. E. AND BOHR, D. F.: Potassium and the recovery of arterial smooth muscle after cold storage. J. Gen. Physiol. 46: 19-33, 1962.
- BARR, L. AND MALVIN, R. L.: Estimation of extracellular spaces of smooth muscle using different-sized molecules. Amer. J. Physiol. 208: 1042-1045, 1965.
- 45. BATTAGLIA, G.: Osservasioni istofotometriche sulla metacromasia a vari pH dell'aorta e della polmonare di coniglio a diverse etá. Boll. Soc. Ital. Biol. Sper. 43: 1-4, 1966.
- BAYLIN, G. J., DEMARIA, W. J., BAYLIN, S. B., KRUEGER, R. P. AND SANDERS, A. P.: ATP concentration and localization of sites of epinephrine induced renal artery constriction. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 122: 396-399, 1966.
- BEACONSFIELD, P.: Metabolism of the normal cardiovascular wall. 2. The pentose phosphate pathway. Experientia (Basel) 18: 276-277, 1962.
- BENNETT, M. R.: Model of the membrane of smooth muscle cells of the guinea-pig taenia coli muscle during transmission from inhibitory and excitatory nerves. Nature (London) 211: 1149-1152, 1966.
- 49. BERGEL, D. H.: The dynamic elastic properties of the arterial wall. J. Physiol. (London) 156: 458-469, 1961.
- 50. BERGEL, D. H.: The static elastic properties of the arterial wall. J. Physiol. (London) 156: 445-457, 1961.
- BERTELSEN, S.: Adrenalin-induced alterations in aortic tissue of rabbits compared with changes in human aortic tissue with age. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 53: 335-344, 1961.
- 52. BERTELSEN, S.: The role of ground substance, collagen, and elastic fibers in the genesis of atherosclerosis. In Atherosclerosis and Its Origin, ed. by M. Sandler and J. H. Bourne, pp. 119-165, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 53. BERTELSEN, S.: Studies on connective tissue in the human aortic wall. In Biological Aspects of Occlusive Vascular Disease, ed. by D. G. Chalmers and G. A. Gresham, pp. 31-40, Cambridge University Press, London, 1964.
- 54. BERTELSEN, S. AND JENSEN, C. E.: Histochemical studies on human sortic tissue. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 48: 305-315, 1960.
- BEVAN, J. A., JOHNSON, R. C. AND VERITY, M. A.: Changes in elasticity of pulmonary reflexogenic area with sympathetic activity. Amer. J. Physiol. 206: 36-42, 1964.
- 56. BEVAN, J. A. AND OSHER, J. V.: Effect of potassium on the resting length of vascular smooth muscle of the rabbit aorta and its response to *l*-norepinephrine. Circ. Res. 13: 351, 1963.
- BEVIZ, A., LUNDHOLM, L., MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E. AND VAMOS, N.: Hydrolysis of adenosinetriphosphate and creatinephosphate on isometric contraction of vascular smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 65: 268-272, 1965.
- BEVIZ, A. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: The effect of adrenaline on the hexosephosphate content of vascular smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 62: 109-114, 1964.
- 59. BEVIZ, A. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Influence of dihydroergotamine and adrenaline on the concentrations of glucose-6-phosphate, fructose-6-phosphate, adenosinetriphosphate and creatinephosphate in bovine mesenteric artery. Acta Physiol. Scand. 65: 289-291, 1965.
- 60. BIANCHI, C. P.: Calcium movements in muscle. Circulation 24: 518-522, 1981.
- BIANCHI, C. P.: Pharmacological actions on excitation-contraction coupling in striated muscle. Fed. Proc. 27: 126-131, 1968.
- 61a. BIANCHI, C. P.: Cell Calcium, Butterworth & Co. Ltd., Washington, D. C., 1968.
- BIEBRING, F. AND KOBAYASI, T.: Electron microscopy of the normal rabbit aorts. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. 57: 154-168, 1964.
- 63. BIBIANI, M.: Studio istomorfologico delle modificazioni della pareti arteriose dalla nascita sino ai vent'anni con particolare riguardo alle coronarie. Minerva Cardioangiol. 6: 519-536, 1958.
- BOELSMA-VAN HOUTE, E. AND HÖTTCHEB, C. J. F.: Localisation in the human sortic wall of phospholipids containing choline. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 269-281, 1967.
- 65. BOHR, D. F.: Electrolytes and smooth muscle contraction. Pharmacol. Rev. 16: 85-111, 1964.
- 66. BOHR, D. F., FILO, R. S. AND GUTHE, K. F.: Contractile protein in vascular smooth muscle. Physiol. Rev. 42 (Suppl. 5): 98-112, 1962.
- BOHR, D. F. AND GOULET, P. L.: Role of electrolytes in the contractile machinery of vascular smooth muscle. Amer. J. Cardiol. 8: 549-556 and 560-563, 1961.
- BOLME, K. AND FUXE, K.: Identification of sympathetic cholinergic nerve terminals in arterioles of skeletal muscle. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 25(suppl. 4): 79, 1967.
- BOLTON, T. B.: Electrical and mechanical activity of the longitudinal muscle of the anterior mesenteric artery of the domestic fowl. J. Physiol. (London) 196: 283-292, 1968.
- BOLTON, T. B.: Studies on the longitudinal muscle of the anterior mesenteric artery of the domestic fowl. J. Physiol. (London) 196: 273-281, 1968.
- Booz, K. H.: Experimental studies on the problem of the contractile activity of the portal vein in guinea pigs. Anat. Ans. 113: 68-80, 1963.
- Boos, K. H.: Struktur und funktionelle Bedeutung einer "Spiralklappe" in der V. portae verschiedener Nager. Morphologisches Jahrbuch 106: 275-320, 1964.
- BORLE, A. B.: Calcium metabolism in HeLa cells and the effects of parathyroid hormone. J. Cell Biol. 36: 567-582, 1968.
- 74. BOUCEK, R. J., FOJACO, R. AND TAKASHITA, R.: Anatomic considerations for regional intimal changes in the coronary arteries. Anat. Rec. 148: 161-170, 1964.
- 75. BOZLER, E.: Conduction, automaticity and tonus of visceral muscles. Experientia (Basel) 4: 213-218, 1948.
- BOZLER, E.: Extensibility of contractile elements. In Tissue Elasticity, ed. by J. W. Remington, pp. 102-110, American Physiological Society, Washington, D. C., 1957.

- 77. BOZLER, E.: Relaxation and the problem of the catch mechanism. In Biochemistry of Muscle Contraction, ed. by J. Gergely, pp. 433-436, Little, Brown & Company, Boston, 1964.
- BRAHEN, L. S. AND KRANTZ, J. C., JR.: Respiration of coronary arteries and nitrites. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 194: 29-32, 1955.
- 79. BRAUNSTEIN, H.: Histochemical study of the adult aorts. A. M. A. Arch. Pathol. 69: 617-632, 1960.
- BEBCHT, K., ESTADA, J. A. UND GOTZ, A.: Zur Beeinflussung der Gefässmotorik durch Ca⁺⁺- und K⁺-Ionen. Pfluegers Arch. Gesamte Physiol. Menschen Tiere 279: 330-340, 1964.
- BRETTSCHNEIDER, H.: Die Gefässinnervation als ein Beispiel für die feinere Morphologie der vegetativen Endformation. Verb. Anat. Ges. 59: 150-171, 1964.
- BRETTSCHNEIDER, H.: Elektronenmikroskopische Studien sur vegetativen Gefässinnervation. Verh. Anat. Ges. 58: 54-68, 1964.
- BRIGGS, A. H.: Calcium movements during potassium contracture in isolated rabbit aortic strips. Amer. J. Physiol. 263: 849-852, 1962.
- BRIGGS, A. H. AND MELVIN, S.: Ion movements in isolated rabbit sortic strips. Amer. J. Physiol. 201: 365-368, 1961.
- BROSENS, I., ROBERTSON, W. B. AND DIXON, H. G.: The physiological response of the vessels of the placental bed to normal pregnancy. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 92: 569-579, 1967.
- BROWN, R. G., BUTTON, G. M. AND SMITH, J. T.: The effect of sulfate deficiency on the mechanical strength the rat's aorta. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 101: 361-363, 1965.
- 87. BUCCIANTE, L.: Microscopie optique de la paroi veineuse. Angiologica (part II) 3: 211-308, 1966.
- VAN BUCHEM, F. S. P.: The pathogenesis of atherosclerotic complications in man. Arch. Kreislaufforsch. 54: 140-160, 1967.
- BUCK, R. C.: Lesions in the rabbit acrta produced by feeding a high cholesterol diet followed by a normal diet. An electron microscopic study. Brit. J. Exp. Pathol. 43: 263-240, 1962.
- BUCK, R. C.: Histogenesis and morphology of arterial tissue. In Atherosclerosis and Its Origin, ed. by M. Sandler and G. H. Bourne, pp. 1-38, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 91. BUDDECKE, E. UND WERRIES, E.: Reinigung und Eigenschaften der beta-Acetylglucosaminidase aus der Aorta des Rindes. Hoppe-Seyler's Z. Physiol. Chem. 349: 257-272, 1965.
- 92. BÜLBRING, E. AND KURIYAMA, H.: Effects of changes in the external sodium and calcium concentrations on spontaneous electrical activity in smooth muscle of guines-pig taenia coli. J. Physiol. (London) 166: 29-58, 1963.
- BUNCE, D. F. M., II: Structural differences between distended and collapsed arteries. Angiology 16: 53-56, 1965.
 BURCE, G. E., LAZZABA, R. K. AND YUN, T. K.: Concentration of magnesium in tissues of the dog. Proc. Soc.
- Exp. Biol. Med. 118: 581-584, 1965. 95. BURKS, T. F., WHITACRE, T. S. AND LONG, J. P.: Effects of calcium-deficient perfusion on isolated mesenterio
- arteries. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 168: 303-311, 1967.
 96. BURNSTOCK, G., HOLMAN, M. E. AND PROSSER, C. L.: Electrophysiology of smooth muscle. Physiol. Rev. 43: 482-527, 1968.
- 97. BURNETOCK, G. AND PROSSER, C. L.: Conduction in smooth muscles: Comparative electrical properties. Amer. J. Physiol. 199: 553-559, 1960.
- BURTON, A. C. AND STINSON, R. H.: The measurement of tension in vascular smooth muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 153: 290-305, 1960.
- 99. BUBBY, D. E. AND BUBTON, A. C.: The effect of age on the elasticity of the major brain arteries. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 43: 185-202, 1965.
- 99a. CALDWELL, P. C.: Factors governing movement and distribution of inorganic ions in nerve and muscle. Physiol. Rev. 48: 1-64, 1968.
- 100. CAMARRI, E. AND MARINI, G.: Considerations on the vessels with longitudinal musculature in some regions of the human body. Atti Accad. Fisiocrit. Siens Ses Med-fis 8: 1142–1157, 1960.
- 101. CAPPELLI, B., CONTI, G., LASZT, L. ET MANDI, B.: Action du facteur P sur les artères de l'embryon de poulet cultivées in vitro. Angiologica 5: 28-40, 1968.
- 102. CAPPELLI, B., CONTI, G., LASST, L. ET MANDI, B.: Donnés histochimiques sur la paroi artérielle de l'embryon de poulet cultivée in ritro en présence du facteur P. Angiologica 5: 41-48, 1968.
- CAPREDL, S. V. AND SUTHERLAND, L. E.: Comparative morphology of juxtaglomerular cells. I. Juxtaglomerular cells in fish. Can. J. Zool. 46: 249-256, 1968.
- 104. CARRIEE, O., JE., DOUGLAS, B. H., GARRETT, L. AND WHITTINGTON, P. J.: The effect of reservine on vascular tissue sodium and potassium content. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 158: 494-503, 1967.
- 105. CARSTEN, M. E.: Tropomyosin from smooth muscle of the uterus. Biochemistry 7: 960-967, 1968.
- 106. CATCHPOLE, H. R., JOSEPH, N. R. AND ENGEL, M. B.: Homeostasis of connective tissues. A. M. A. Arch. Pathol. 61: 503-511, 1956.
- 107. CECH, S. AND DOLEEEL, S.: Monoaminergic innervation of the pulmonary vessels in various laboratory animals (rat, rabbit, cat). Experientia (Basel) 23: 114-115, 1967.
- 108. CHATTOPADHYAY, D. P.: Studies on the oxidative capacity of aortic tissue slices of rabbits. Ann. Biochem. Exp. Med. (Calcutta) 21: 241-246, 1961.
- 109. CHATTOFADHYAY, D. P.: Influence of experimental atheroselerosis in rabbits on the rate of respiration and glycolysis by aortic tissue slices. Ann. Biochem. Exp. Med. (Calcutta) 22: 77-82, 1962.
- 110. CHOBANIAN, A. V.: Sterol synthesis in the human arterial intima. J. Clin. Invest. 47: 595-603, 1968.
- 111. CHOI, J. K.: Fine structure of the smooth muscle of the chicken's giszard. In Electron Microscopy, ed. by S. S. Bresse, Jr., Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1962.

- 112. CHRISTIAN, G. L., HUME, M. AND HUEILL, P. B.: Aortic sulfur⁴⁴ uptake in experimental lathyrism. Angiology 19: 48-58, 1968.
- 113. CHRISTIE, R. W. AND BAHL, L. K.: Dissimilarity in oxygen consumption between the thoracic and abdominal sorts in rats. J. Exp. Med. 166: 357-364, 1957.
- 114. CLIFF, W. J.: The sortic tunics media in growing rats studied with the electron microscope. Lab. Invest. 17: 599-615, 1967.
- 115. COE, J., DETAR, R. AND BOHE, D. F.: Substrates and vascular smooth muscle contraction. Amer. J. Physiol. 214: 245-250, 1968.
- 116. COHEN, C., LOWEY, S. AND KUCEBA, J.: Structural studies on uterine myosin. J. Biol. Chem. 236: PC23-PC24, 1961.
- 117. CONRAD, L. L., GONZALEZ, I. E., JOEL, W. AND FURMAN, R. H.: Histochemical evaluation of canine coronary artery and aortic lesions induced by intravenous allylamine. Circ. Res. 4: 263-267, 1956.
- 118. CONTI, G., HAENNI, B., LASET, L. ET ROUILLER, CH.: Structure et ultrastructure de la dellule musculaire lisse de la paroi carotidienne à l'état de repos et à l'état de contraction. Angiologica 1: 119-140, 1964.
- COOKE, P. H. AND SMITH, S. C.: Smooth muscle cells: The source of foam cells in atherosclerotic white Carnesu pigeons. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 8: 171-189, 1968.
- COPE, F. W.: Elastic reservoir theories of the human circulation with applications to clinical medicine and to computer analysis of the circulation. Advan. Biol. Med. Phys. 10: 277-356, 1965.
- COBET, I. A. AND HUGHES, M. J.: A further study of hypoxic smooth muscle. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 149: 330-353, 1964.
- 122. CRANE, W. A. J. AND DUTTA, L. P.: The utilization of tritiated thymidine for deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis by the lesions of experimental hypertension in rats. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 86: 83-97, 1963.
- 122a. CURTIS, B. A.: Some effects of Ca-free choline-ringer solution on frog skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 166: 75-86, 1963.
- 123. CUTHBERT, A. W.: Electrical activity in mammalian veins. Bibl. Anat. 8: 11-15, 1966.
- CUTHBERT, A. W. AND SUTTER, M. C.: The effects of drugs on the relation between the action potential discharge and tension in a mammalian vein. Brit. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 25: 592-601, 1965.
- 125. DAEMERS-LAMBERT, C.: Action du chlorure de potassium sur le métabolisme des esters phosphorés et le tonus due muscle artériel. Angiologica 1: 249-274, 1964.
- 126. DAEMERS-LAMBERT, C. ET ROLAND, J.: Métabolisme des esters phosphorés pendant le développement et le maintien de la tension phasique du muscle lisse artériel (carotides de bovidé). Angiologica 4: 69-87, 1967.
- DAHL, E. AND NELSON, E.: Electron microscopic observations on human intercranial arteries. II. Innervation. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat. 10: 158-164, 1964.
- DANIEL, E. E.: Effect of drugs on contractions of vertebrate smooth muscle. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. 4: 189-222, 1964.
- DANIEL, E. E.: Active transport of electrolytes in strips of rabbit sorts and uterus. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 158: 113-130, 1965.
- 180. DANIEL, E. E.: Attempted synthesis of data regarding divalent ions in muscle function. In Muscle, ed. by W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton, pp. 295–313, Pergamon Press, London, 1965.
- DANIEL, E. E.: Effect of sympathomimetic amines and angiotensin on active ion transport in smooth muscles. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 158: 131-138, 1965.
- DAOUD, A., JARMOLYCH, J., ZUMBO, A., FANI, K. AND FLOBENTIN, R.: "Preatheroma" phase of coronary atherosclerosis in man. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 475-484, 1964.
- DAVID, H. UND KUNZ, J.: Strukturveränderungen der Media der Kaninchenaorta nach lokaler Bestrahlung. Z. Zeilforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 66: 83-95, 1965.
- 134. DAVIES, R. E.: A molecular theory of muscle contraction: Calcium dependent contractions with hydrogen bond formation plus ATP-dependent extensions of part of the myosin-actin cross-bridges. Nature 199: 1068-1074, 1963
- 135. DAVIES, R. E.: Muscle metabolism as seen in single-twitch experiments. Texas Rep. Biol. Med. 22: 842-848, 1964. 136. DAVIGNON, J., LOBENZ, R. R. AND SHEPHERD, J. T.: Response of human umbilical artery to changes in trans-
- mural pressure. Amer. J. Physiol. 209: 51-59, 1965.
 137. DAT, A. J. AND GOULD-HURST, P. R. S.: Cholesterol esterase activity of normal and atherosclerotic rabbit aorta. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 116: 169-171, 1966.
- 138. DAYTON, S.: Turnover of cholesterol in the artery walls of normal chickens. Circ. Res. 7: 468-475, 1959.
- DAYTON, S., HASHIMOTO, S. AND JESSAMY, J.: Cholesterol kinetics in the normal rat sorta, and the influence of different types of dietary fat. J. Atheroecler. Res. 1: 444-460, 1961.
- 139a. DEVINE, C. E. AND SIMPSON, F. O.: The morphological basis for the sympathetic control of blood vessels. N. Z. Med. J. 67: 326-334, 1968.
- 140. DEWEY, M. M.: Personal communication.
- 141. DEWEY, M. M. AND BARB, L.: Intercellular connection between smooth muscle cells: The nexus. Science 137: 670-672, 1962.
- 142. DIETERICH, H. J.: Die Ultrastruktur der Gefässbündel im Mark der Rattenniere. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 84: 350-371, 1968.
- 143. DOCKEY, M., KERNAN, R. P. AND TANGNEY, A.: Active transport of sodium and potassium in mammalian skeletal muscle and its modification by nerve and by cholinergic and adrenergic agents. J. Physiol. (London) 186: 187-200, 1966.
- 144. DODD, W. A. AND DANIEL, E. E.: Electrolytes and arterial muscle contractility. Circ. Res. 8: 451-463, 1960.
- 145. DOLEZEL, S.: Histochemical identification of monoamine in the arterial wall. Experientia (Basel) 22: 307, 1966.

- 146. DORNESCO, G. T. ET SANTA, V.: La structure des sortes et des vaisseaux sanguines de la Carpe (Cyprinus carpio L). Anat. Ans. 113: 136-145, 1963.
- 147. DRELZEN, P., GERSHMAN, L. C., TROTTA, P. P. AND STRACHER, A.: Myosin. Subunits and their interactions. J. Gen. Physiol. (part 2) 50: 85-118, 1967.
- 148. DRBIERN, S., SPIRARIS, C. N. AND DREIZEN, J. G.: Influence of milk and selected milk products on the development of medial arteriosclerosis in the rat. J. Atheroscler. Res. 6: 537-547, 1966.
- 149. DUMONT, J. N., ANDERSON, E. AND CHOMYN, E.: The anatomy of the peripheral nerve and its ensheathing artery in the horseshoe crab. Xiphosura (Limulus) polyphemus. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 13: 38-64, 1965.
- 150. DUBBIN, R. P. AND JENKINSON, D. H.: The calcium dependence of tension development in depolarized smooth muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 157: 90-96, 1961.
- DURY, A.: Immediate effects of epinephrine on phospholipides turnover and lipide partition in plasma, liver and aorta. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 89: 508-511, 1955.
- 152. DURY, A.: Lipolytic activity of aorta of young and old rate and influence of heparin in vivo. J. Gerontol. 16: 114-117, 1961.
- 153. EBASHI, S.: Structural proteins controlling the interaction between actin and myosin. Symp. uber progr. Muskeldystrophie, edited by E. Kuhn, pp. 506-513, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1966.
- 153a. EBASHI, S.: Role of regulatory proteins in muscle functions. Proceedings of the International Union of Physiological Sciences, Vol. VI, pp. 17-18, Washington, D. C., Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol., 1968.
- 154. EBABHI, S., EBABHI, F. AND KODAMA, A.: Troponin as the Ca⁺⁺-receptive protein in the contractile system. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 62: 137-138, 1967.
- 155. EBASHI, S., IWAKURA, H., NAKAJIMA, H., NAKAMURA, R. AND CHOI, Y.: New structural proteins from dog heart and chicken giszard. Biochem. Z. 345: 201-211, 1966.
- 156. ECCLES, J. C.: The Physiology of Synapses. Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1964.
- 157. ECKSTEIN, J. W. AND HAMILTON, W. K.: The pressure-volume responses of human forearm veins during epinephrine and norepinephrine infusions. J. Clin. Invest. 36: 1663-1671, 1957.
- 158. EDMAN, K. A. AND SCHILD, H. O.: The need for calcium in the contractile responses induced by acetylcholine and potassium in the rat uterus. J. Physiol. (London) 161: 424-441, 1963.
- 158a. EDWARDS, C. AND LORKOVIC, H.: The roles of calcium in excitation-contraction coupling in various muscles of the frog, mouse, and barnacle. Amer. Zool. 7: 615-622, 1967.
- 159. EHINGER, B., FALCE, B. AND SPORRONG, B.: Adrenergic fibres to the heart and to peripheral vessels. Bibl. Anat. 8: 35-45, 1966.
- 160. EISENBERG, S., STEIN, Y. AND STEIN, O.: The role of lysolecithin in phospholipid metabolism of human umbilical and dog carotid arteries. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 137: 221-231, 1967.
- EISLEY, N. F. AND PRITHAM, G. H.: Arterial synthesis of cholesterol in vitro from labeled acetate. Science 122: 121, 1955.
- 162. ELLIOTT, G. F.: Variations of the contractile apparatus in smooth and striated muscles. X-Ray diffraction studies at rest and in contraction. J. Gen. Physiol. 50(part 2): 171-184, 1967.
- 163. EPLING, G. P.: Electron microscopic observations of pericytes of small blood vessels in the lungs and hearts of normal cattle and swine. Anat. Rec. 155: 513-530, 1966.
- 164. ESTERLY, J. A., GLAGOV, S. AND FERGUSON, D. J.: Morphogenesis of intimal obliterative hyperplasia of small arteries in experimental pulmonary hypertension. Amer. J. Pathol. 52: 325-347, 1968.
- 165. EVANS, D. H. L. AND EVANS, E. M.: The membrane relationships of smooth muscles: An electron microscope study. J. Anat. 98: 37-46, 1964.
- 166. EVANS, D. H. L., SCHILD, H. O. AND THESLEFF, S.: Effects of drugs on depolarized plain muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 143: 474-485, 1958
- EVANS, R. L., PELLEY, J. W. AND QUENEMOEN, L.: Some simple geometric and mechanical characteristics of mammalian blood vessels. Amer. J. Physiol. 199: 1150-1152, 1960.
- 168. FARD, M. J. W., MACGREGOR, A. B. AND GARDNER, D. L.: Isolated visceral arterioles in culture. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 87: 181-136, 1964.
- 169. FALCE, B.: Observations on the possibilities of the cellular localization of monoamines by a fluorescence method. Acta Physiol. Scand. 56(suppl. 197): 1-24, 1962.
- 170. FAWCETT, D. W.: The fine structure of capillaries, arterioles and small arteries. In The Microcirculation, ed. by S. R. M. Reynolds and B. W. Zweifach, pp. 1-27, University of Illinois Press, Urbana, Illinois, 1959.
- 171. FEINSTEIN, M. B.: Reaction of local anesthetics with phospholipids. A possible chemical basis for anesthesia. J. Gen. Physiol. 48: 357-374, 1964.
- 172. FELLER, D. D. AND HUFF, R. L.: Lipide synthesis by arterial and liver tissue obtained from cholesterol-fed and cholesterol-alcohol-fed rabbits. Amer. J. Physiol. 182: 237-242, 1955.
- 173. FELS, I. G.: Binding of calcium ions by the sorts. Nature 190: 1012-1013, 1961.
- 174. FERNANDO, N. J. P. AND MOVAT, H. Z.: The fine structure of the terminal vascular bed. II. The smallest arterial vessels: Terminal arterioles and metarterioles. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 1-9, 1964.
- 175. FERNANDO, N. J. P. AND MOVAT, H. Z.: The fine structure of the terminal vascular bed. III. The capillaries. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 87-97, 1964.
- 176. FIELD, H., JR., SWELL, L., SCHOOLS, P. E., JR. AND TREADWELL, C. R.: Dynamic aspects of cholesterol metabolism in different areas of the aorta and other tissues in man and their relationship to atherosclerosis. Circulation 22: 547-558, 1960.
- 177. FILISTOVICH, V. I.: Electrical activity of vascular smooth muscle under direct and reflex influences. Fiziol. Zh. SSR Im I. M. Sechenova 53: 725, 1967, and Neurosci. Transl. no. 2, 229-236, 1967.

- 178. FILLENZ, M.: Innervation of blood vessels of lung and spleen. Bibl. Anat. 8: 56-59, 1966.
- 179. FILO, R. S., BOHB, D. F. AND RUEGG, J. C.: Glycerinated skeletal and smooth muscle: Calcium and magnesium dependence. Science 147: 1581-1583, 1965.
- 180. FILO, R. S., RUEGG, J. C. AND BOHR, D. F.: Actomyosin-like protein of arterial wall. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 1247-1252, 1963.
- FISCHEER, G. M. AND LLAURADO, J. G.: Connective tissue composition of canine arteries. Effects of renal hypertension. Arch. Pathol. 84: 95-98, 1967.
- 182. FISCHEB, G. M., MATA, E. I. AND LLAURADO, J. G.: Regional differences in magnesium, calcium, and sinc composition of arterial wall in normal and hypertensive dogs. Amer. Heart J. 75: 784-789, 1968.
- 183. FISCHER, H.: Die Struktur der Arterienwand mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Einwirkung des hydrostatischen Drucks. Angiologica 2: 285-313, 1965.
- 184. FISHER, A. W. F.: The intrinsic innervation of the pulmonary vessels. Acta Anat. 60: 481-496, 1965.
- 185. FOLKOW, B.: Autoregulation in muscle and skin. Circ. Res. 15, suppl. I: 19-24, 1964.
- 186. FONTAINE, R., EBEL, A., PANTESCO, V., KEMPF, E. ET MACK, G.: Contribution à l'étude du comportement biochimique de la paroi artérielle au cours du vieillissement et de l'atherogenase. Similitudes et différences dans ces deux états. Angiology 19: 172-197, 1968.
- 187. FONTAINE, R., MANDEL, P., PANTESCO, V. AND KEMPF, E.: The metabolism of the arterial wall and its variations during the aging process. J. Cardiovasc. Surg. 1: 236-244, 1960.
- 188. FOSTER, D. W. AND SIPERSTEIN, M. D.: Effect of diabetes on cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the rat aorta. Amer. J. Physiol. 198: 25-28, 1960.
- 189. FRANK, G. B.: Calcium and other divalent ions in the contraction of skeletal muscle. In Muscle, ed. by W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton, pp. 155-166, Pergamon Press, London, 1965.
- 190. FRIEDERICI, H. H. R.: The early response of uterine capillaries to estrogen stimulation. An electron microscopis study. Lab. Invest. 17: 322-333, 1967.
- 191. FRIEDMAN, S. M. AND ALLARDYCE, D. B.: Sodium and tension in an artery segment. Circ. Res. 11: 84-89, 1962.
- 192. FRIEDMAN, S. M. AND FRIEDMAN, C. L.: Sodium and potassium exchanges and peripheral vascular resistance Amer. J. Cardiol. 8: 564-570, 1961.
- FRIEDMAN, S. M. AND FRIEDMAN, C. L.: Ionic basis of vascular response to vasoactive substances. Can. Med. Ass. J. 90: 167-173, 1964.
- 194. FRIEDMAN, S. M. AND FRIEDMAN, C. L.: The emerging role of sodium and potassium in the regulation of vascular smooth muscle tension. In Electrolytes and CV Diseases, ed. by E. Bajusz, pp. 323-341, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1965.
- 195. FRIEDMAN, S. M., NAKABHIMA, M. AND FRIEDMAN, C. L.: Sodium mobilization in the perfused rat tail artery. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 117: 480-482, 1964.
- 196. FRUBCHELLI, C. AND COMPARINI, L.: Introduction to the histochemical study of carbohydrate metabolism in the lymph vascular wall. Angiologica 4: 279-294, 1967.
- 197. FUNAKI, S.: Studies on membrane potentials of vascular smooth muscle with intracellular microelectrodes. Proc. Jap. Acad. 34: 534-536, 1958.
- 198. FUNARI, S.: Spontaneous spike discharges of vascular smooth muscle. Nature (London) 191: 1102-1103, 1961.
- 199. FUNAKI, S.: Electrical and mechanical activity of isolated smooth muscle from the portal vein of the rat. Bibl. Anat. 8: 5-10, 1966.
- 200. FURCHGOTT, R. F.: The pharmacology of vascular smooth muscle. Pharmacol. Rev. 7: 183-265, 1955.
- 201. FURCHGOTT, R. F.: Discussion on the biochemistry of the arterial wall. Bibl. Cardiol. 15: 20-23, 1964.
- 202. FURCHGOTT, R. F.: Metabolic factors that influence contractility of vascular smooth muscle. Bull. New York Acad. Med. 42: 996-1006, 1966.
- 203. FUXE, K. AND SEDVALL, G.: Histochemical and biochemical observations on the effect of reserving on noradrenaline storage in vasoconstrictor nerves. Acta Physiol. Scand. 61: 121-129, 1964.
- 204. GAMELE, W., HOELSCHER, NAYAR, G. AND KIERSKY, E. S.: Bovine aorta ribonuclease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 145: 260-271, 1967.
- GABRAHAN, P., VILLAMIL, M. F. AND ZADUNAISKY, J. A.: Sodium exchange and distribution in the arterial wall. Amer. J. Physiol. 209: 955-960, 1965.
- 206. GASPAR-GODFROID, A.: L'activité adenosinetriphosphatasique de la tonomyosine de carotides de bovidé. Angiologica 1: 12-35, 1964.
- 207. GASPAR-GODFROID, A., HAMOIR, G. ET LASZT, L.: Influénce de la méthode de préparation sur les propriétés macromoléculaires de l'actine de carotides de bovidé. Angiologica 4: 323-340, 1967.
- 207a. GASPAR-GODFROID, A., HAMOIR, G. AND LAEZT, L.: Isolement de la F-actine de carotides de bovidé par fractionnement de la tonoactomyosine au sulfate ammonique. Angiologica 5: 186-200, 1968.
- 208. GAUER, O. H. AND THRON, H. L.: Properties of veins in vivo: Integrated effects of their smooth muscle. Physiol. Rev. 42 (suppl. 5): 283-308, 1962.
- 209. GEER, J. C., CATSULIS, C., MCGILL, H. C., JR. AND STRONG, J. P.: Fine structure of the baboon aortic fatty streak. Amer. J. Pathol. 52: 265-286, 1968.
- 210. GERGELY, G. (ed.): Biochemistry of Muscle Contraction, Little, Brown & Company, Boston, 1964.
- 211. GERGELY, J.: Contractile proteins. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 35 (part II): 691-722, 1966.
- 212. GEROVÁ, M. AND GERÓ, J.: Effector mechanisms induced by baroreceptor stimulation. In Baroreceptors and Hypertention, pp. 225-233, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1967.
- 213. GEROVÁ, M., GERÓ, J. AND DOLEZEL, S.: Mechanisms of sympathetic regulation of arterial smooth muscle. Experientia (Basel) 23: 639, 1967.

- 214. GILLESPIE, J. S. AND HAMILTON, D. N. H.: A possible active transport of noradrenaline into arterial smooth muscle cells. J. Physiol. (London) 192: 30P, 1967.
- 215. GILLIS, C. N.: The effect of acute and chronic administration of reservine on the respiration of rat aorta. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 127: 265-267, 1959.
- GILLIS, J. M. AND PAGE, S. G.: Localisation of ATPase activity in striated muscle and probable sources of artifact. J. Cell Sci. 2: 113-118, 1967.
- 216a. GODFRAIND, T., KABA, A. AND POLSTER, P.: Differences in sensitivity of arterial smooth muscles to inhibition of their contractile response to depolarisation by potassium. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 172: 235-238, 1968.
- 217. GOBTS, R. H.: A study in the adaptation of the circulation to gravitational stress. Proc. Rudolf Virohow Med. Soc. City N. Y. 21: 110-127, 1963.
- 218. GOODFORD, P. J.: The distribution of calcium in intestinal smooth muscle. In Muscle, ed. by W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton, pp. 219-227, Pergamon Press, London, 1965.
- GOODFORD, P. J.: The loss of radioactive "calcium from the smooth muscle of the guinea-pig taenia coli. J. Physiol. (London) 176: 180-190, 1965.
- 220. GOODFORD, P. J.: The calcium content of the smooth muscle of the guinea-pig taenia coli. J. Physiol. (London) 192: 145-157, 1967.
- GORDON, A. M., HUXLEY, A. F. AND JULIAN, F. J.: Tension development in highly stretched vertebrate muscle fibres. J. Physiol. (London) 184: 143-169, 1966.
- 222. GORDON, A. M., HUXLEY, A. F. AND JULIAN, F. J.: The variation in isometric tension with sarcomere length in vertebrate muscle fibres. J. Physiol. (London) 184: 170-192, 1966.
- 223. GOTO, M. AND KIMOTO, Y.: Hysteresis and stress-relaxation of the blood vessels studied by a universal tensile testing instrument. Jap. J. Physiol. 16: 169-184, 1966.
- 224. GRAHAM, J. D. P., LEVER, J. D. AND SPRIGGS, T. L. B.: An examination of adrenergic axons around pancreatic arterioles of the cat for the presence of acetylcholinesterase by high resolution autoradiographic and histochemical methods. Brit. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 33: 15-20, 1968.
- 225. GRIGOR'EVA, T. A.: The Innervation of Blood Vessels, Pergamon Press, New York, 1962.
- 228. GRIMM, A. F. AND WHITEHORN, W. V.: Characteristics of resting tension of myocardium and localization of its elements. Amer. J. Physiol. 210: 1362-1368, 1966.
- 227. GROSGOGEAT, Y. ET ROUBELAKIS, G.: Action expérimentale de la nicotine sur la paroi sortique du lapin. Étude en microscopie optique et électronique. Pathol. Biol. 13: 1140-1155, 1965.
- 228. GROSSMAN, A. AND FURCHGOTT, R. F.: The effects of frequency of stimulation and calcium concentration on Ca⁴⁵ exchange and contractility on the isolated guines-pig auricle. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 143: 120-130, 1964.
- 229. GRUNDFEST, H.: Comparative electrobiology of excitable membranes. In Advances in Comparative Physiology and Biochemistry, ed. by O. Lowenstein, vol. II, pp. 1-116, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1966.
- HACKENSELLNER, H. A., DAVID, H. UND UERLINGS, I.: Licht-und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen an doppelt ligierten Arterien. (A carotis des Kaninchens.) Acta Biol. Med. Ger. 14: 34-51, 1965.
- 231. HAGKENSELLNER, H. A., SEIDLER, E. UND SAJKIEWICZ, K.: Untersuchungen zur Sukzinodehydrogenaseaktivität der Aorta und der A. pulmonalis des Kaninchens. Acta Biol. Med. Ger. 16: 566-570, 1966.
- 232. HADDY, F. J.: Local effects of sodium, calcium and magnesium upon small and large blood vessels of the dog forelimb. Circ. Res. 8: 57-70, 1960.
- 233. HADDY, F. J. AND SCOTT, J. B.: Effects of electrolytes and water upon resistance to blood flow through intact vascular beds. In Electrolytes and CV Diseases, ed. by E. Bajuss, pp. 383-400, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1965.
- HAGEMELJER, F.: Rat sortic electrolytes after incubation in plasma or in saline. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 73: 720-725, 1965.
- 235. HAGEMELTER, F.: Potassium movements during electrical stimulation of the isolated rat aorta. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 76: 71-75, 1968.
- HAGEMELTER, F., RORIVE, G. AND SCHOFFENIELS, E.: Exchange of ³⁴Na and ⁴³K in rat sortic smooth muscle fibers. Life Sci. 4: 2141-2149, 1965.
- HAGEMELTER, F., RORIVE, G. AND SCHOFFENIELS, E.: The ionic composition of rat aortic smooth muscle fibers. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 73: 453-475, 1965.
- 238. HAGEB, H.: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen über die Feinstruktur der Blutgefässe und perivasculären Raume im Saugetiergehirn. Acta Neuropathol. 1: 9-33, 1961.
- 239. HAIMOVICI, H. AND MAIER, N.: Role of arterial tissue susceptibility in experimental canine atherosclerosis. J. Atheroscler. Res. 6: 62-74, 1966.
- 240. HALL, K.: Histochemical investigation of the effects of oestrogen, progesterone and relaxin on glycogen, amylophosphorylase, transglycosylase and uridine diphosphate glucose-glycogen transferase in uteri of mice. J. Endocrinol. 32: 245-257, 1965.
- 241. HAM, K. N.: The fine structure of normal rat aorta. Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci. 49: 341-352, 1962.
- 242. HAM, K. N.: The fine structure of rat aorta in experimental lathyrism. Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci. 40: 353-366, 1962.
- 243. HAMA, K.: The fine structure of some blood vessels of the earthworm, *Bisenia fostida*. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 7: 717-724, 1960.
- 244. HAMOIR, G.: Protein composition of bovine inferior vena cava. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 119: 220-229, 1967.
- 245. HAMOIR, G. ET GASPAR-GODFROID, A.: Comparaison de la thermostabilité de la tono actomyosine et de la tonomyosine de carotides de bovidé et de leur groupement atépasique avec celle des protéines correspondentes du musele strié. Angiologica 1: 317-337, 1964.

- 246. HAMOIR, G., GASPAR-GODFROID, A. ET LASZT, L.: Changements d'état d'agrégation et de dissociation de la tonosctomyosine de carotides de bovidé sous l'influence de la force ionique et de l'ATP. Angiologica 2: 44-60, 1965.
- 247. HAMOIR, G. ET LASZT, L.: La tropomyosine B de carotides de bovidé. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 59: 365-375, 1962.
- 248. HAMOIB, G. AND LASZT, L.: TONOMYOSIN of arterial muscle. Nature (London) 193: 682-684, 1962.
- HAMOIE, G. ET LASZT, L.: Composition protéinique de la couche musculaire de l'aorte abdominale et des artères coronaires et fémorales de bovidé. Angiologica 1: 156-168, 1964.
- 250. HANSON, J. AND LOWY, J.: Structure and function of the contractile apparatus in the muscles of invertebrate animals. In Structure and Function of Muscle, ed. by G. H. Bourne, vol. 1, pp. 265-335, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1960.
- HANSON, J. AND LOWY, J.: The structure of F-actin and of actin filaments isolated from muscle. J. Mol. Biol. 6: 46-60, 1963.
- 252. HANSON, J. AND LOWY, J.: The structure of molluscan tonic muscles. In Biochemistry of Muscle Contraction, ed. by J. Gergely, pp. 400-411, Little, Brown & Company, Boston, 1964.
- HARDUNG, V. AND LASZT, L.: Visco-elastic behaviour of blood vessels of the muscular type. Nature 187: 330-331, 1960.
- HARDUNG, V. UND LASZT, L.: Die beziehung zwischen Last und Verkürzungsgeschwindigkeit beim Gefässmuskel. Angiologica 3: 100-113, 1966.
- 255. HAUST, M. D. AND MORE, R. H.: Significance of the smooth muscle cell in atherogenesis. In Evolution of the Atherosclerotic Plaque, ed. by R. J. Jones, pp. 51-63, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1963.
- 256. HAYASHI, T.: Reactivities of actin as a contractile protein. J. Gen. Physiol. 50: 119-133, 1967.
- 257. HAYABHI, Y. AND TONOMURA, Y.: Dependence of activity of myofibrillar ATPase on sarcomere length and calcium ion concentration. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 63: 101-118, 1968.
- 24.8. HAYES, J. R.: Histological changes in constricted arteries and arterioles. J. Physiol. (London) 179: 60P-61P, 1965.
- 249. HEATH, D., DUSHANE, J. W., WOOD, E. H. AND EDWARDS, J. E.: The structure of the pulmonary trunk at different ages and in cases of pulmonary hypertension and pulmonary stenosis. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 77: 443-456, 1959.
- 260. HELANDER, E. AND THULIN, C. A.: Isometric tension and myofilamental cross-sectional area in striated muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 202: 824-826, 1962.
- 261. HELD, E. UND BUDDECKE, E.: Nachweis, Reinigung und Eigenschaften einer Chondroitin-4-Sulfatase aus der Aorta des Rindes. Hoppe-Seyler's Z. Physiol. Chem. 348: 1047-1060, 1967.
- 161a. HELD, E., HOEFELE, O., REICH, G., STEIN, U., WERRIES, E. AND BUDDECKE, E.: Wirkungssynergismus Chondroitin-4-sulfat-Protein abbauender Enzyme des Arteriengewebes. Z. Klin. Chem. Klin. Biochem. 6: 244-250, 1968.
- 262. HENDERSON, A. E. AND MACDOUGALL, J. D. B.: The respiration of arterial tissue. Biochem. J. 62: 517-520, 1956.
- 263. HENRY, J. C., GAUTHERON, D., GRAS, J. ET FREY, J.: Variations des nucléotides adényliques et des fractions phosphorylées au tissu sortique sous l'influence de l'adrénaline. Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol. 47: 1941-1950, 1965.
- 264. HENRY, J. C., GRAS, J. ET PIQUARD, M.: Capacité oxydative du tissu aortique vis-à-vis de différents substrats. C. R. Hebd. Seances Acad. Sci. Paris 265: 1651–1653, 1967.
- 265. HENRY, J. C., PERBIER, H. ET GRAS, J.: Influence de l'adrénaline sur la valeur de l'espace extracellulaire du tissu aortique ches le lapin. C. R. Séances Soc. Biol. 161: 1611–1613, 1967.
- 266. HESS, R. AND STÄUBLI, W.: The development of aortic lipidosis in the rat. A correlative histochemical and electron microscopic study. Amer. J. Pathol. 3: 4301-335, 1963.
- HESS, R. UND STÄUBLI, W.: Vergleichende histochemische und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen von Aortaveränderungen bei experimenteller Lipoidose. Verh. Deutsch. Ges. Pathol. 47: 369-373, 1963.
 HEYMANS, C., DELAUNOIS, A. L. E ROVATI, A. L.: Azione dei farmaci sulla distensibilità pulsatoria del seno
- carotideo e della carotide commune. Arch. Ital. Sci. Farmacol. 6: 237-238, 1956.
- 269. HIGGINBOTHAM, F. H. AND HIGGINBOTHAM, A. C.: Histochemical study of beagle aorta. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 89-102, 1967.
- HIGGINBOTHAM, F. H. AND HIGGINBOTHAM, A. C.: Histochemical differentiation in beagle aorta. J. Atheroscler. Res. 8: 37–43, 1968.
- 271. HILL, A. V.: Trails and Trials in Physiology, Edward Arnold Publishers, Ltd., London, 1965.
- 272. HILZ, H.: Changes in vessel wall enzyme activity in atherosclerosis. J. Atheroscler. Res. 2: 252-262, 1962.
- 273. HINKE, J. A. M.: Calcium requirements for noradrenaline and high potassium ion contraction in arterial smooth muscle. In Muscle, ed. by W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton, pp. 269–285, Pergamon Press, London, 1965.
- HINKE, J. A. M. AND WILSON, M. L.: A study of elastic properties of a 550-µ artery in vitro. Amer. J. Physiol. 283: 1153-1160, 1962.
- 275. HINKE, J. A. M., WILSON, M. L. AND BURNHAM, S. C.: Calcium and the contractility of arterial smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 206: 211-217, 1964.
- 276. ΗΙRAOKA, M., YAMAGIBHI, S. AND SANO, T.: Role of calcium ions in the contraction of vascular smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 214: 1084-1089, 1968.
- HODGKIN, A. L. AND HOROWICZ, P.: The influence of potassium and chloride ions on the membrane potential of single muscle fibres. J. Physiol. (London) 148: 127-160, 1959.
- 278. Horr, H. F.: A comparison of the fine-structural localization of nucleoside phosphatase activity in large intracranial blood vessels and the thoracic aorta of rabbits. Histochemie 13: 183-191, 1968.
- 279. HOGAN, M. J. AND FEENEY, L.: The ultrastructure of the retinal blood vessels. I. The large vessels. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 9: 10-28, 1963.

SOMLYO AND SOMLYO

- HOGAN, M. J. AND FEENEY, L.: The ultrastructure of the retinal vessels. II. The small vessels. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 9: 29-46, 1963.
- HOLLANDER, W., YAGI, S. AND KRAMSCH, D. M.: In vitro effects of vasopressor agents on the metabolism of the vascular wall. Circulation 30 (suppl. 2): 1-10, 1964.
- HOLMAN, M. E., KABBY, C. B., SUTHERS, M. B. AND WILSON, J. A. F.: Some properties of the smooth muscle of rabbit portal vein. J. Physiol. (London) 196: 111-132, 1968.
 HOLMAN, M. E. AND MCLEAN, A.: The innervation of sheep mesenteric veins. J. Physiol. (London) 190: 55-69,
- 1967.
- 284. HOLMES, R. L.: Some features of the ductus arteriosus. J. Anat. 92: 304-309, 1958.
- 285. HOROWICZ, P.: The effects of anions on excitable cells. Pharmacol. Rev. 16: 193-221, 1964.
- HOSODA, Y. AND IRI, H.: Angiolathyrism. I. A histological and histochemical study on successive changes of the lathyritic rat aorta. Acta Pathol. Jap. 16: 239-252, 1966.
- 287. HOWARD, R. O., RICHARDSON, D. W., SMITH, M. H. AND PATTERSON, J. L.: Oxygen consumption of arterioles and venules as studied in the cartesian diver. Circ. Res. 16: 187-196, 1965.
- 288. HOWARD, R. O. AND SEARS, M. L.: Metabolism of retinal blood vessels of humans and rhesus monkeys studied with the cartesian diver. Invest. Ophthalmol. 3: 432-440, 1964.
- HRDINA, P. AND GABATTINI, S.: Effect of designamine on the depolarized isolated renal artery. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 19: 667-673, 1967.
- 290. HUDGINS, P. M. AND WEISS, G. B.: Differential effects of calcium removal upon vascular smooth muscle contraction induced by norepinephrine, histamine and potassium. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 159: 91-97, 1968.
- HURIAUX, F.: Digestion de la tonomyosine de carotides de bovidé par la trypsine et propriétés des L- and H-meromyosines correspondants. Angiologica 2: 153–181, 1965.
- HURIAUX, F., HAMOIR, G. AND OPPENHEIMER, H.: Low molecular weight fragment from succinylated myosin of bovine carotids. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 120: 274-284, 1967.
- HURIAUX, F., PECHÈRE, J. F. ET HAMOIR, G.: Propriétés et composition de la tonomyosine de carotides de bovidé. Angiologica 2: 15-43, 1965.
- 294. HURWITZ, L.: Calcium and its interrelations with cocaine and other drugs in contraction of intestinal muscle. In Muscle, ed. by W. M. Paul, E. E. Daniel, C. M. Kay and G. Monckton, pp. 239-251, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1965.
- HURWITZ, L., VON HAGEN, S. AND JOINER, P. D.: Acetylcholine and calcium on membrane permeability and contraction of intestinal muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 56: 1157-1172, 1967.
- HUBZTIE, E., KOZMA, M. UND POBERAI, M.: Über die Succindehydrogenaseaktivität im Myometrium der Ratte. Acta Histochem. 26: 360-366, 1967.
- 297. HUSZTIK, E., POBERAI, M. UND KOZMA, M.: Ein Beitrag sur Frage der Mitochondrien in der glatten Muskulatur. Anat. Anz. 113: 462-468, 1963.
- 298. HUXLEY, H. E.: Recent x-ray diffraction and electron microscope studies of striated muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 50: 71-83, 1967.
- 299. HUXLEY, H. E. AND BROWN, W.: The low-angle x-ray diagram of vertebrate striated muscle and its behaviour during contraction and rigor. J. Mol. Biol. 39: 383-434, 1967.
- HUYS, J.: Isolement et propriétés de la tonoactomyosine d'uterus de vache. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 69: 677-700, 1961.
- 301. IMAI, H., LEE, K. T., PASTORI, S., PAULILIO, E., FLORENTIN, R. AND THOMAS, W. A.: Atherosclerosis in rabbits. Architectural and subcellular alterations of smooth muscle cells of aortas in response to hyperlipemia, Exp. Mol. Pathol. 5: 273-310, 1966.
- 302. ISOJIMA, C. AND BOZLER, E.: Role of calcium in initiation of contraction in smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 681-685, 1963.
- 303. IVANOV, I. I., MIROVICH, N. I., MOISSELEVA, V. P., PARSHINA, E. A., TUKACHINSKI, S. E., YURIEV, V. A., ZHAK-HOVA, Z. N. AND ZINOVIEVA, I. P.: About the correlation of function and the fractional composition of the proteins in the muscles of various types. Acta Physiol. Acad. Sci. Hung. 16: 7-16, 1959.
- 304. JAEGER, M.: Study of the elasticity and tension of the carotid artery of the cow in comparison with the sorta and coronary vessels. Helv. Physiol. Pharmacol. Acta 20: 7-24, 1962.
- 305. JAMES, T. N.: Pathology of small coronary arteries. Amer. J. Cardiol. 20: 679-691, 1967.
- 306. JÄRNEFELT, J.: Oxidative metabolism of a particulate fraction from pig aorta. Ann. Med. Exp. Fenn. 38: 407-412, 1960.
- 307. JENSEN, J.: An in vitro method for the study of cholesterol uptake at the endothelial cell surface of the rabbit aorta. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 135: 532-543, 1967.
- 308. JHAMANDAB, K. H. AND NASH, C. W.: Effects of inorganic anions on the contractility of vascular smooth muscle. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 45: 675-682, 1967.
- 309. JÖBSIS, F. F. AND O'CONNOR, M. J.: Calcium release and reabsorption in the sartorius muscle of the toad. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 25: 246-252, 1966.
- 310. JOHANSSON, B. AND BOHR, D. F.: Rhythmic activity in smooth muscle from small subcutaneous arteries. Amer. J. Physiol. 210: 801-806, 1966.
- 311. JOHANSSON, B., JONSSON, O., AXELSSON, J. AND WAHLSTRÖM, B.: Electrical and mechanical characteristics of vascular smooth muscle response to norepinephrine and isoproterenol. Circ. Res. 21: 619-633, 1967.
- 312. JOHANSSON, B. AND LJUNG, B.: Spread of excitation in the smooth muscle of the rat portal vein. Acta Physiol. Scand. 70: 312-322, 1967.
- 313. JOHNSON, H. D.: Critical closing pressure in blood vessels. Nature (London) 215: 858, 1967.

- 314. JOHNSON, P. C.: Review of previous studies and current theories of autoregulation. Circ. Res. 15, suppl. I: 2-9, 1964.
- 315. JONES, R. J. (ed.): Evolution of the Atherosclerotic Plaque, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1963.
- KAMINER, B. AND BELL, A. L.: Myosin filamentogenesis: Effects of pH and ionic concentration. J. Mol. Biol. 20: 391-401, 1966.
- KAO, C. Y.: Tetrodotoxin, saxitoxin and their significance in the study of excitation phenomena. Pharmacol. Rev. 18: 997-1047, 1966.
- KARREE, H. E.: Electron microscope study of developing chick embryo aorta. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 4: 420-459, 1960.
- KARBEE, H. E.: The striated musculature of blood vessels. II. Cell interconnections and cell surface. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 8: 135-150, 1960.
- 320. KARRER, H. E.: An electron microscope study of the aorta in young and aging mice. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 5: 1-27, 1961.
- KABAI, T. AND POLLAK, O. J.: Smooth muscle cells in aortic cultures of untreated and cholesterol-fed rabbits. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 62: 743-752, 1964.
- 322. KATZ, L. N. AND PICK, R.: Reversibility of the atherosclerotic lesion. In Evolution of the Atherosclerotic Plaque, ed. by R. J. Jones, pp. 251-264, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1963.
- 323. KEATINGE, W. R.: Mechanism of adrenergic stimulation of mammalian arteries and its failure at low temperatures. J. Physicl. (London) 174: 184-205, 1964.
- 324. KEATINGE, W. R.: Electrical and mechanical response of arteries to stimulation of sympathetic nerves. J. Physiol. (London) 185: 701-715, 1966.
- 325. KEATINGE, W. R.: Electrical and mechanical responses of vascular smooth muscle to vasodilator agents and vasoactive polypeptides. Circ. Res. 18: 641-649, 1966.
- 326. KEATINGE, W. R.: Ionic requirements for arterial action potential. J. Physiol. (London) 194: 169-182, 1968.
- 327. KEATINGE, W. R.: Sodium flux and electrical activity of arterial smooth muscle. J. Physiol. 194: 183-200, 1968.
- 328. KEECH, M. K.: Electron microscope study of the lathyritic rat aorta. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 7: 539-545, 1960.
- 329. KEECH, M. K.: Electron microscope study of the normal rat aorta. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 7: 533-538, 1960.
- 330. KELLY, R. E. AND RICE, R. V.: Localization of myosin filaments in smooth muscle. J. Cell Biol. 37: 105-116, 1968.
- 330a. KENNER, TH.: Neue Gesichtspunkte und Experimente zur Beschreibung und Messung der Arterien-elastizität. Arch. Kreislaufforsch. 54: 68-139, 1967.
- 331. KIBE, J. E.: Chemistry of the vascular wall of middle sized arteries. In The Peripheral Blood Vessels, ed. by J. L. Orbison and D. E. Smith, pp. 45-72, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1963.
- 332. KIRK, J. E.: Intermediary metabolism of human arterial tissue and its changes with age and atherosclerosis. In Atherosclerosis and Its Origin, ed. by M. Sandler and G. F. Bourne, pp. 67-165, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 333. KIRK, J. E.: The glutamic dehydrogenase and glutathione reductase activities of arterial tissue in individuals of various ages. J. Gerontol. 20: 357-362, 1965.
- 334. KIRK, J. E., EFFERSSE, P. G. AND CHIANG, S. P.: The rate of respiration and glycolysis by human and dog aortic tissue. J. Gerontol. 9: 10-35, 1954.
- 235. KIRK, J.E. AND RITZ, E.: The glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and alpha-glycerophosphate dehydrogenase activities of arterial tissue in individuals of various ages. J. Gerontol. 22: 427-432, 1967.
- 336. KIBE, J. E., WANG, I. AND BRANDSTRUP, N.: The glucose-6-phosphate and 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase activities of arterial tissue in individuals of various ages. J. Gerontol. 14: 25-31, 1959.
- 337. KIRPEKAR, S. M. AND LEWIS, J. J.: Some effects of reservine and hydrallazine upon tissue respiration and the concentration of adenosine nucleotides in certain tissues. Brit. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 14: 40-45, 1959.
- 338. KJELLMER, I.: The role of potassium ions in exercise hyperaemia. Med. Exp. 5: 56-60, 1961.
- KJELLMER, I.: The potassium ion as a vasodilator during muscular exercise. Acta Physiol. Scand. 63: 460-468, 1965.
- 340. KNIERIEM, H. J.: Electron-microscopic study of bovine arteriosclerotic lesions. Amer. J. Pathol. 50: 1035-1065, 1967.
- KNIERIEM, H. J., KAO, V. C. Y. AND WISSLER, R. W.: Demonstration of smooth muscle cells in bovine arteriosclerosis. J. Atheroscler. Res. 8: 125-136, 1968.
- 342. KOMINE, D. R., SAAD, F., GLADNER, J. A. AND LAKI, K.: Mammalian tropomyosins. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 70: 16–28, 1957.
- 343. KOKETSU, K.: The role of calcium in membrane excitation. In Proceedings of the International Union of Physiological Sciences, edited by D. Noble, Vol. 4, pp. 521-541, 1965.
- 344. KOKETSU, K. AND NISHI, S.: Calcium spikes of nerve cell membrane: Role of calcium in the production of action potentials. Nature (London) 217: 468-469, 1968.
- 345. KOKUBU, T. AND POLLAK, O. J.: In vitro cultures of aortic cells of untreated and of cholesterol-fed rabbits. J. Atheroscler. Res. 1: 229-239, 1961.
- 345a. KONOLD, P., GEBERT, G. AND BRECHT, K.: The effect of potassium on the tone of isolated arteries. Pflügers Arch. Gesamte Physiol Menschen Tiere 301: 285-291, 1968.
- 346. KOSAN, R. L. AND BURTON, A. C.: Oxygen consumption of arterial smooth muscle as a function of active tone and passive stretch. Circ. Res. 18: 79-88, 1966.
- 346a. KRESSE, H. AND BUDDECKE, E.: Veränderungen in der Aktivität Chondroitinsulfat-Protein abbauender Ensyme (Glykosaminoglykanohydrolasen und Peptidhydrolasen) des Arteriengewebes im Alter und bei Arteriosklerose. Z. Klin. Chem. Klin. Biochem. 6: 251-256, 1968.

- 347. KRISTA, L. M., WAIBEL, P. E., SHOFFNER, R. N. AND SAUTTER, J. H.: Natural dissecting aneurysm (aortic rupture) and blood pressure in the turkey. Nature (London) 214: 1162-1163, 1967.
- 348. KULBERTUS, H.: Contribution à l'étude de l'élasticité des parois carotidiennes de bovidés soumises a différents agents vasomoteurs. Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochim. 71: 540-552, 1963.
- 349. KULBERTUS, H.: Effect of different vasomotor agents on the viscoelastic behavior of arteries of the muscular type. Nature (London) 199: 1193-1194, 1963.
- 350. KUSHMERICK, M. J. AND DAVIES, R. E.: The role of phosphate compounds in thaw contraction and the mechanism of thaw rigor. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 153: 279-287, 1968.
- 351. LAMBOSSY, P.: L'anisotropie des artères. Essai théorique avec application à des résultats d'expérience. Angiologica 4: 129-146, 1967.
- 352. LANE, B. P.: Alterations in the cytologic detail of intestinal smooth muscle cells in various stages of contraction. J. Cell Biol. 27: 199-213, 1965.
- 353. LANG, J.: Mikroskopische Anatomie der Arterien. Angiologica 2: 225-284, 1965.
- 354. LANSING, A. I. (ed.): The Arterial Wall: Aging, Structure and Chemistry, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1959.
- 355. LASZT, L.: Über die eigenschaften der Gefässmuskulatur mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Kalium-Wirkung. Arch. Kreislaufforsch. 32: 220-244, 1960.
- 356. LASZT, L. ET HAMOIR, G.: Étude par electrophorese et ultracentrifugation de la composition protéinique de la couche musculaire des carotides de bovidé. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 50: 430-449, 1961.
- 357. LATTA, H. AND MAUNSBACH, A. B.: The juxtaglomerular apparatus as studied electron microscopically. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 6: 547, 1962.
- 358. LEHNINGER, A. L.: The metabolism of the arterial wall. In The Arterial Wall, ed. by V. A. Lansing, pp. 220-246, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1959.
- 359. LEITES, F. L. AND FEDOSEEV, A. N.: Lipolytic enzyme activity in dogs with experimental atherosclerosis. Fed. Proc. 24: 829-832, 1965.
- 360. LEONARD, E. AND SARNOFF, S. J.: Effect of aramine-induced smooth muscle contraction on length-tension diagrams of venous strips. Circ. Res. 5: 169–174, 1957.
- 361. LEVER, J. D., AHMED, M. AND IRVINE, G.: Neuromuscular and intercellular relationships in the coronary arterioles. A morphological and quantitative study by light and electron microscopy. J. Anat. 99: 829-840, 1965.
- 362. LEVER, J. D., GRAHAM, J. D. P., IRVINE, G. AND CHICK, W. J.: The vesiculated axons in relation to arteriolar smooth muscle in the pancreas. A fine structural and quantitative study. J. Anat. 99: 299-313, 1965.
- 363. LOFLAND, H. B., CLARDSON, T. B. AND ARTOM, C.: Lipid synthesis in aorta preparations from atherosclerosissusceptible or resistant pigeons. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 88: 105-109, 1960.
- LOJDA, Z. AND FRIC, P.: Lactic dehydrogenase isoenzymes in the aortic wall. J. Atheroscler. Res. 6: 264-272, 1966.
 LOJDA, Z. AND ZEMPLENYI T.: Histochemistry of some enzymes of the vascular wall in experimental rabbit atheromatoris. J. Atheroscler. Res. 1: 101-120, 1961.
- 366. LOOMELJEE, F. J. AND OSTENDORF, J. P.: Oxygen consumption of the thoracic aorta of normal and hypercholesteremic rats. Circ. Res. 7: 466-467, 1959.
- 367. LOOMEIJER, F. J. AND VAN DER VEEN, J.: Incorporation of (1-14C)-acetate into various lipids by the rat aorta in vitro. J. Atheroscler. Res. 2: 478-481, 1962.
- 368. LUGINBUHL, H.: Spontaneous atherosclerosis in swine. In Swine in Biomedical Research. Proceedings of the International Symposium at Richland, Washington, July 19-21, pp. 347-363, Battelle-N.W., Richland, Washington, 1965.
- 369. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: The carbohydrate metabolism and tone of smooth muscle. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 16: 374-388, 1960.
- 370. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Studies on the effects of drugs upon the lactic acid metabolism and contraction of vascular smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 55: 45-63, 1962.
- 371. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: The effect of adrenaline and glucose on the content of high-energy phosphate esters in substrate depleted vascular smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 56: 130-139, 1962.
- 372. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Contraction and glycogenolysis of smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 57: 125-129, 1963.
- 373. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHEM-LUNDHOLM, E.: Dissociation of contraction and stimulation of lactic acid production in experiments on smooth muscle under anaerobic conditions. Acta Physiol. Scand. 57: 111-124, 1963.
- 374. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Effect of insulin on the carbohydrate metabolism of smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 57: 130-134, 1963.
- 875. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Energetics of isometric and isotonic contraction in isolated vascular smooth muscle under anaerobic conditions. Acta Physiol. Scand. 64: 275-282, 1965.
- 376. LUNDHOLM, L. AND MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Length at inactivated contractile elements, length-tension diagram, active state and tone of vascular smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 68: 347-359, 1966.
- 377. LUNDHOLM, L., MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E. AND SVEDMYR, N.: Physiological interrelationships. Introductory remarks. Pharmacol. Rev. 18: 255-272, 1966.
- 378. LUNDHOLM, L. AND SVEDMYR, N.: Effect of pronethalol on the vasodilatory and lactic acid stimulating effects of adrenaline in the human forearm. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 24: 323-330, 1966.
- 379. MAIER, N. AND HAIMOVICI, H.: Oxidative activity of aortic tissue of man, the rabbit and the dog with special reference to succinic dehydrogenase and cytochrome oxidase. Amer. J. Physiol. 195: 476-480, 1958.
- 380. MAIER, N. AND HAIMOVICI, H.: Metabolism of arterial tissue, with special reference to esterase and lipase. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 118: 258-261, 1965.

- MAIER, N. AND HAIMOVICI, H.: Metabolism of atherosclerotic tissue of rabbit and dog, with special reference to esterase and lipase. Circ. Res. 17: 178-185, 1965.
- 382. MAIRE, N. AND HAIMOVICI, H.: Oxidative capacity of atherosclerotic tissue of rabbit and dog, with special reference to succinic dehydrogenase and cytochrome oxidase. Circ. Res. 16: 65-73, 1965.
- 383. MALINOW, M. R., FERNANDEZ, M. A., GIMENO, A. L. AND BUR, G. E.: Distribution of alkaline phosphatase in the arteries of several species. Nature (London) 183: 1262-1263, 1959.
- MALINOW, M. R., MARINI, M. A. AND LEMA, B.: The effect of triparanol and of heparinoid on spontaneous atherosclerosis of hens. Acta Physiol. Latinoamer. 14: 71-76, 1964.
- 385. MALINOW, M. R. AND MOGUILEVSKY, J. A.: Effect of cestrogens on atherosclerosis. Nature (London) 190: 422-424, 1961.
- 386. MALINOW, M. R., MOGUILEVSKY, J. A. AND BUMASHNY, E.: Influence of the gonads on aortic oxygen uptake in rats. J. Atheroscler. Res. 1: 128-132, 1961.
- 387. MALINOW, M. R., MOGUILEVSKY, J. A. AND GERSCHENSON, L.: Cyclic changes in the oxygen consumption of the sorts in female rats. Circ. Res. 14: 364-366, 1964.
- 388. MALINOW, M. R., MOGUILEVSKY, J. A. AND LACUARA, J. L.: Modification of aortic oxidative enzymes in rats by gonadectomy and substitutive therapy. Circ. Res. 10: 624–631, 1962.
- 389. MALINOW, M. R., MOGUILEVSKY, J. A., LACUARA, J. L. AND BALDASSARRE, A.: The effect of incubated arteries on estrogenic properties of estradiol-containing media. J. Atheroscler. Res. 2: 217-222, 1962.
- MALLIN, M. L.: Actomyosin and myosin of vascular smooth muscle. Nature (London) 207: 1297-1298, 1965.
 MALLIN, M. L.: Properties of contractile protein from bovine carotid artery. J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 65: 355-360, 1965.
- 392. MALLIN, M. L.: Actomyosin of human vascular smooth muscle. Nature (London) 218: 951-962, 1966.
- 393. MANDEL, P. BT KEMPP, E.: Les nucléotides libres du tissu aortique. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 51: 184-186, 1961.
- 394. MANDEL, P. ET KEMPF, E.: Étude sur la part du cycle des pentoses dans le dégradation du glucose par le tissu aortique. C. R. Hebd. Seances Acad. Sci. Paris 255: 2315-2317, 1962.
- 395. MANLEY, G. AND BURNS, J.: Muscle changes in cystic medial necrosis of the iliac arteries. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 89: 525-528, 1965.
- 396. MANLEY, G. AND HAWKSWORTH, J.: Distribution of mucopolysaccharides in the human vascular tree. Nature (London) 266: 1152-1153. 1965.
- 397. MANLEY, G. AND LEVENE, C. I.: Beta-aminopropionitrile and the mucopolysaccharides of embryonic chick aortae. Nature (London) 214: 729-730, 1967.
- 398. MARÉCHAL, G. AND BECKERS-BLEUKX, G.: Adenosine triphosphate and phosphorylcreatine breakdown in resting and stimulated muscles after treatment with 1-fluoro-2, 4, -dinitrobenzene. Biochem. Z. 345: 286-299, 1966.
- 399. MARÉCHAL, G. AND MOMMARETS, W. F. H. M.: The metabolism of phosphocreatine during an isometric tetanus in the frog sartorius muscle. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 70: 53-67, 1963.
- 400. MARUYAMA, K. AND EBASHI, S.: Alpha-actinin, a new structural protein from striated muscle. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 58: 13-19, 1965.
- 401. MASI, R., CHECCHIA, C., LEGNAIOLI, M. AND GRANDONICO, F.: Biosynthesis of cholesterol. II. Changes induced with *l*-thyroxin in cholesterol biosynthesis of rat organs *in vitro*. Minerva Nucl. 6: 311-315, 1962.
- 402. MATTHEWS, E. K. AND SUTTER, M. C.: Ouabain-induced changes in the contractile and electrical activity, potassium content, and response to drugs, of smooth muscle cells. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 45: 509-520, 1967.
- 403. MATTHEWS, M. A. AND GARDNER, D. L.: The fine structure of the mesenteric arteries of the rat. Angiology 17: 902-928, 1966.
- 404. MAYERSBACH, H.: Der Wandbau der Gefässübergangsstrecken zwischen Arterien rein elastischen und rein muskulösen. Typs. Anat. Anz. 102: 333–360, 1956.
- 405. MAYNARD, E. A., SCHULTZ, R. L. AND PEASE, D. C.: Electron microscopy of the vascular bed of rat cerebral cortex. Amer. J. Anat. 100: 409-433, 1957.
- 406. McDONALD, D. A. (ed.): Blood Flow in Arteries, Edward Arnold Publishers Ltd., London, 1960.
- 407. McDonald, D. A.: Hemodynamics. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 30: 525-556, 1968.
- 408. McDonald, D. A.: Regional pulse-wave velocity in the arterial tree. J. Appl. Physiol. 24: 73-78, 1968.
- 409. MCGILL, H. C., JR. AND GEER, J. C.: The human lesion, fine structure. In Evolution of the Atherosclerotic Plaque, ed. by R. J. Jones, pp. 65–81, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1963.
- MELLANDER, S. AND JOHANSSON, B.: Control of resistance, exchange and capacitance functions in the peripheral circulation. Pharmaeol. Rev. 20: 117-196, 1968.
- 411. MENSCHIE, Z. AND DOVI, S. F.: Normally occurring intraluminal projections in the arterial system of the mouse. Anat. Res. 153: 265-274, 1965.
- 412. MERKOW, L. AND KLEINERMAN, J.: An electron microscopic study of pulmonary vasculitis induced by monocrotaline. Int. Acad. Pathol. 15: 547-564, 1966.
- MEYER, W. W.: Die Lebenswandlungen der Struktur von Arterien und Venen. Verh. Deut. Ges. Kreislaufforsch. 24: 15-40, 1958.
- 414. MIDBIO, M. E BETTINI, V.: Calcio-dipendenza del "tono" di segmenti di arteria in vitro. Boll. Soc. Ital. Biol. Sper. 43: 996-999, 1967.
- 415. MIDRIO, M. E BETTINI, V.: Risposte meccaniche, in vitro, di segmenti di arterie coronarie e di arteria epatica a modificazioni della composizione ionica dell mezzo. I. Boll. Soc. Ital. Biol. Sper. 43: 999-1001, 1967.
- 416. MIDRIO, M. E BETTINI, V.: Risposte meccaniche, in vitro, di segmenti di arterie coronarie e di arteria epatica a modificazioni della composizione ionica del mezzo. II. Boll. Soc. Ital. Biol. Sper. 43: 1002-1004, 1967.
- 417. MILLAEN, H. P. UND JASTER, D.: Der Einfluss von Noradrenalin und Acetylcholin auf das Druckvolumdiagramm und die Elastisität isolierter Rinder- und Schweinesorten. Z. Biol. 111: 351-356, 1960.

- MILLER, E. J., MARTIN, G. R., MECCA, C. E. AND PIEZ, K. A.: The biosynthesis of elastin cross-links. The effect of copper-deficiency and a lathyrogen. J. Biol. Chem. 240: 3623-3627, 1965.
- MOFFAT, D. B.: The fine structure of the blood vessels of the renal medulla with particular reference to the control of the medullary circulation. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 19: 532-545, 1967.
- 420. MOGUILEVSKY, J. A., TIMIRAS, P. S. AND GEEL, S.: Influence of sexual development on the uptake of oxygen and production of carbon dioxide in the aorta in male rats. Nature (London) 291: 1330, 1964.
- 421. Монмв-Lundholm, E.: Effect of calcium ions on relaxing and lactic acid forming action of Adrenalin (epinephrine) on smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 37: 5-7, 1956.
- 422. MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E.: Phosphorylase activity of smooth muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 54: 200-208, 1962.
- 423. MOHME-LUNDHOLM, E. AND VAMOS, N.: Influence of Ca⁺⁺ deficiency and pronethalol on metabolic and contractile effects of catecholamines and K-ions in vascular muscle. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 25: 87-96, 1967.
- 424. MOORE, D. H. AND RUSKA, H.: The fine structure of capillaries and small arteries. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 3: 457-462, 1957.
- 425. MORET, P. R.: Modifications de l'élasticité artérielle avec l'âge. Bibl. Cardiol. 15: 40-75, 1964.
- 426. MOVAT, H. Z. AND FEBNANDO, N. V. P.: The fine structure of the terminal vascular bed. I. Small arteries with an internal elastic lamina. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 2: 549-563, 1963.
- 427. MOVAT, H. Z. AND FERNANDO, N. V. P.: The fine structure of the terminal vascular bed. IV. The venules and their perivascular cells (pericytes, adventitial cells). Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 98-114, 1964.
- MRHOVÅ, O. AND ZEMPLENYI, T.: The effect of sex differences and gonadectomy on some sortic enzymes of the rat. Quart. J. Exp. Physiol. Cog. Med. Sci. 59: 289-299, 1965.
- MULCAHY, P. D. AND WINEGRAD, A. I.: Effects of insulin and alloxan diabetes on glucose metabolism in rabbit aortic tissue. Amer. J. Physiol. 203: 1038-1042, 1962.
- MULLINS, L. J. AND NODA, K.: The influence of sodium-free solutions on the membrane potential of frog muscle fibers. J. Gen. Physiol. 47: 117-132, 1963.
- 431. MUNRO, A. F., RIFKIND, B. M., LIEBESCHEUTZ, H. J., CAMPBELL, R. S. AND HOWARD, B. R.: The effect of cholesterol feeding on the oxygen consumption of aortic tissue from the cockerel and the rat. J. Atheroscler. Res. 1: 296-306, 1961.
- MUBATA, K., QUILLIGAN, J. J. AND MORRISON, L. M. Inhibition of lipid synthesis by puromycin in chick sortic cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 144: 473-475, 1967.
- MURATA, K., QUILLIGAN, J. J. AND MORRISON, L. M.: Suppressing effects of histamine on lipid synthesis in chick sortic cells. Nature (London) 213: 1030-1031, 1967.
- MURRAY, M., SCHRODT, G. R. AND BERG, H. F.: The enzymatic induction of atherosclerosis. Arch. Pathol. 79: 144-162, 1965.
- 435. MURRAY, M., SCHRODT, G. R. AND BERG, H. F.: Role of smooth muscle cells in healing of injured arteries. Arch. Pathol. 82: 138-146, 1966.
- 436. MYASNIKOV, A. L. AND BLOCK, YU. E.: Influence of some factors on lipoidosis and cell proliferation in aorta tissue cultures of adult rabbits. J. Atheroscler. Res. 5: 33-42, 1965.
- 437. MYASNIKOV, A. L., BLOCK, YU. E. AND PAVLOV, V. M.: Influence of lipemic serums of patients with atherosclerosis on tissue cultures of adult human aortas. J. Atheroscler. Res. 6: 224-231, 1966.
- 438. NAEYE, R. L.: Development of systemic and pulmonary arteries from birth through early childhood. Biol. Neonatorum 10: 8-16, 1966.
- NAGASAWA, J.: Calcium movement in the smooth muscle of guinea-pig taenia coli. Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 85: 72–82, 1965.
- 440. NAKAJIMA, A. AND HORN, L.: Electrical activity of single vascular smooth muscle fibers. Amer. J. Physiol. 213: 25-30, 1967.
- 441. ΝΑΚΑΤΑΝΙ, Μ., SASAKI, T., ΜΙΥΑΖΑΚΙ, Τ. AND ΝΑΚΑΜURA, M.: Synthesis of phospholipids in arterial walls. Part I. Incorporation of ³²P into phospholipids of aortas and coronary arteries of various animals. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 747-757, 1967.
- 442. NAKATANI, M., SASAKI, T., MIYAZAKI, T. AND NAKAMURA, M.: Synthesis of phospholipids in arterial walls. Part II. Effects of age and the addition of Adrenalin and acetylcholine on the incorporation of *P into phospholipids of rat aortas. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 759-766, 1967.
- 443. NASH, C. W., LUCHKA, E. V. AND JHAMANDAS, K. H.: An investigation of sodium and calcium competition in vascular smooth muscle. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 44: 147-156, 1966.
- 444. NAUSS, K. M. AND DAVIES, R. E.: Changes in inorganic phosphate and arginine during the development, maintenance and loss of tension in the anterior byssus retractor muscle of Mytilus edulis. Biochem. Z. 345: 173-187, 1966.
- NAYLER, W. G.: Influx and efflux of calcium in the physiology of muscle contraction. Clin. Orthop. Related Res. 46: 157-182, 1966.
- 446. NEEDHAM, D. M. AND SHOENBERG, C. F.: The biochemistry of the myometrium. In Cellular Biology of the Uterus, ed. by R. M. Wynn, pp. 291-352, Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., New York, 1967.
- 447. NEWMAN, H. A., DAY, A. J. AND ZILVERSMIT, D. B.: In vitro phospholipid synthesis in normal and atheromatous rabbit aortas. Circ. Res. 19: 132-138, 1966.
- 448. NEWMAN, H. A. AND ZILVERSMIT, D. B.: Uptake and release of cholesterol by rabbit atheromatous lesions. Circ. Res. 18: 293-302, 1966.
- 449. NICROSINI, F., RICOTTI, V., DEL FAVERO, A. AND PASOTTI, C.: Comportamento della glicolisi aerobia e della utilizzazione del glucosio-1-C¹⁴ per le sintesi lipidiche e glicogeniche da parte del tessuto epatico ed aortico. Arch. Sci. Med. 115: 199-205, 1963.

- 450. NOBLE, D.: Applications of Hodgkin-Huxley equations to excitable tissues. Physiol. Rev. 46: 1-50, 1966.
- NONOMURA, Y., HOTTA, Y. AND OHABHI, H.: Tetrodotoxin and manganese ions: Effects on electrical activity and tension in taenia coli of guinea pig. Science 152: 97-99, 1966.
- 452. OBERG, B.: The relationship between active constriction and passive recoil of the veins at various distending pressures, Acta Physiol. Scand. 71: 233-247, 1967.
- 453. ΟΚΑ, Μ. AND ANGRIST, A.: Histoenzymatic studies of arteries in high salt hypertension. Lab. Invest. 14: 1604-1615, 1965.
- 454. OKA, M. AND ANGRIST, A.: Histoenzymatic studies of vessels in hypertensive rats. Lab. Invest. 16: 25-35, 1967.
- 455. OKA, M., GIBERD, R. J., BRODIE, S. S. AND ANGRIST, A.: Cardiac valve and aortic lesions in beta-aminopropionitrile fed rate with and without high salt. Amer. J. Pathol. 48: 45-63, 1966.
- 456. O'NEAL, R. M., JORDAN, G. L., JR., RABIN, E. R., DE BAKEY, M. E. AND HALPERT, B.: Cells grown on isolated intravascular dacron hub; an electron microscopic study. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 3: 403–412, 1964.
- 457. ORBISON, J. AND SMITH, E. (ed.): The Peripheral Blood Vessels, The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1963.
- 458. OVERBECK, H. W. AND CONRAD, L. L.: Intracellular distribution of calcium⁴⁵ in arteries of normal and hypertensive dogs. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 127: 565-570, 1968.
- 459. PANNER, B. J. AND HONIG, C. R.: Filament ultrastructure and organization in vertebrate smooth muscle: Contraction hypothesis based on localization of actin and myosin. J. Cell Biol. 35: 303-321, 1967.
- 460. PANTESCO, V., KEMPF, E., MANDEL, P. ET FONTAINE, R.: Études métaboliques comparées des parois artérielles et veineuse chez les bovidés. Leurs variations au cours du vieilissement. Pathol. Biol. 10: 1301-1306, 1962.
- 461. PARKER, F.: An electron microscope study of coronary arteries. Amer. J. Anat. 103: 247-273, 1958.
- 462. PARKER, F.: An electron microscopic study of experimental atherosclerosis. Amer. J. Pathol. 36: 19-23, 1960.
- 463. PARKER, F. AND ODLAND, G. F.: A correlative histochemical, biochemical and electron microscopic study of experimental atherosclerosis in the rabbit aorta with special reference to the myo-intimal cell. Amer. J. Pathol. 48: 197-239, 1966.
- 464. PARKER, F. AND ODLAND, G. F.: A light microscopic, histochemical and electron microscopic study of experimental atherosclerosis in rabbit coronary artery and a comparison with rabbit aorta atherosclerosis. Amer. J. Pathol. 48: 451-481, 1966.
- 465. PARKER, F., ORMSBY, J. W., PETERSON, N. F., ODLAND, G. F. AND WILLIAMS, R. H.: In vitro studies of phospholipid synthesis in experimental atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 19: 700-710, 1966.
- 466. PATEL, D. J., SCHILDER, D. P. AND MALLOS, A. J.: Mechanical properties and dimensions of the major pulmonary arteries. J. Appl. Physiol. 15: 92-96, 1960.
- 467. PATELSKI, J., WALIGOBA, Z. AND SZULC, S.: Demonstration and some properties of the phospholipase A, lipase and cholesterol esterase from the aortic wall. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 453-461, 1967.
- 468. PAULE, W. J.: Electron microscopy of the newborn rat aorta. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 8: 219-235, 1963.
- 469. PEACHEY, L. D.: Muscle. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 30: 401-440, 1968.
- 470. PEACHEY, L. D. AND PORTER, K. R.: Intracellular impulse conduction in muscle cells. Science 129: 721-722, 1959.
- 471. PEASE, D. C. AND MOLINARI, S.: Electron microscopy of muscular arteries; pial vessels of the cat and monkey. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 3: 447-468, 1960.
- 472. PEASE, D. C. AND PAULE, W. J.: Electron microscopy of elastic arteries: The thoracic sorts of the rat. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 3: 469-483, 1960.
- 473. PEPE, F. A.: The myosin filament. I. Structural organization from antibody staining observed in electron microscopy. J. Mol. Biol. 27: 203-225, 1967.
- 474. PEPE, F. A.: The myosin filament. II. Interaction between myosin and actin filaments observed using antibody staining in fluorescent and electron microscopy. J. Mol. Biol. 27: 227-236, 1967.
- 475. PERTALA, Y.: Effect of the thyroid hormone on the uptake of radiosulphate (S²⁴) by the sorta in normal and cholesterol fed cockerels. Ann. Med. Exp. Biol. Fenn. 38: 326-333, 1960.
- 476. PETERSON, L. H.: Physical factors which influence vascular caliber and blood flow. Circ. Res. 18, suppl. I: 3-13, 1966.
- 477. PETERSON, L. H., JENSEN, R. E. AND PARNELL, J.: Mechanical properties of arteries in vivo. Circ. Res. 8: 622-639, 1960.
- 478. POLICARD, A., COLLET, A. ET PREGERMAIN, S.: Observations au microscope électronique sur quelques vaisseaux pulmonaires. Bull. Microsc. Appl. 10: 17-27, 1960.
- POLLAK, O. J. AND KABAI, T.: Appearance and behavior of aortic cells in vitro. Amer. J. Med. Sci. 248: 71-78, 1964.
 PORTMAN, O. W.: Incorporation of fatty acids into phospholipids by cell-free and subcellular fractions of squirrel monkey and rat aorta. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 617-628, 1967.
- 481. PORTMAN, O. W. AND ALEXANDER, M.: Lipid composition of aortic intima plus inner media and other tissue fractions from fetal and adult rhesus monkeys. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 117: 357-365, 1966.
- PORTMAN, O. W., ALEXANDER, M. AND MARUFFO, C. A.: Composition of subcellular constituents of aortic intima plus inner media isolated by differential and density gradient centrifugation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 122: 344-353, 1967.
- PRIEST, R. E.: Consumption of oxygen by thoracic and abdominal sorts of the rat. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 1200-1202, 1963.
- 484. PROSSER, C. L.: Problems in the comparative physiology of nonstriated muscles. In Comparative Animal Physiology ed. by C. L. Prosser and F. A. Brown, Jr., 2nd ed. W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 1961.
- 485. PROBSER, C. L., BUBNSTOCK, G. AND KAHN, J.: Conduction in smooth muscle: Comparative structural properties. Amer. J. Physiol. 199: 545-582, 1960.
- 486. RABINOWITZ, J. L., MYEBSON, R. M. AND WOHL, G. T.: Deposition of C-14-labeled cholesterol in the atheromatous sorts. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 105: 241-243, 1960.

- 487. RACHMILEWITZ, D., EISENBERG, S., STEIN, Y. AND STEIN, O.: Phospholipases in arterial tissue. I. Sphingomyelin cholinephosphohydrolase activity in human, dog, guinea pig, rat and rabbit arteries. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 144: 624-632, 1967.
- 488. RAMSEY, R. W.: Some aspects of the biophysics of muscle. In Structure and Function of Muscle, ed. by G. H. Bourne, chap. VI, pp. 303-358, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1960.
- 489. RATCLIFFE, H. L. AND SNYDER, R. L.: Coronary arterial lesions in chickens: Origin and rates of development in relation to sex and social factors. Circ. Res. 17: 403-413, 1965.
- 490. REALE, E. UND RUSKA, H.: Die Feinstruktur der Gefässwande. Angiologica 2: 314-366, 1965.
- 491. REICH, G. UND BUDDECKE, E.: Darstellung und Eigenschaften eines Kathepsins aus Rinderarteriengewebe. Hoppe-Seyler's Z. Physiol. Chem. 348: 1616–1628, 1967.
- 492. REMINGTON, J. W. (ed.): Tissue Elasticity. American Physiological Society, Washington, D. C., 1957.
- RHODIN, J. A. G.: Fine structure of vascular walls in mammals. With special reference to smooth muscle component. Physiol. Rev. 42: 48-81, 1962.
- 494. RHODIN, J. A. G.: The ultrastructure of mammalian arterioles and precapillary sphincters. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 18: 181-223, 1967.
- 495. RIFKIND, B. M. AND MUNRO, A. F.: The effect of sexual status on arterial respiration and glycolysis. J. Atheroscler. Res. 3: 268-273, 1963.
- 496. RITZ, E. AND KIRK, J. E.: Oxidative phosphorylation of guinea-pig aorta. Experientia (Basel) 23: 16-17, 1967. 497. RITZ, E. AND KIRK, J. E.: The phosphofructokinase and sorbitol dehydrogenase activities of arterial tissue in
- individuals of various ages. J. Gerontol. 22: 433-438, 1967. 498. ROACH, M. R. AND BUBTON, A. C.: The reason for the shape of the distensibility curves of arteries. Can. J. Bio-
- chem. Physiol. 35: 681-690, 1957. 499. ROBERTS, JR., J. C. AND STRAUS, R. (ed.): Comparative Atherosclerosis, Hoeber Medical Division, Harper & Row, Publishers, New York, 1965.
- ROBERTS, W. C.: The histologic structure of the pulmonary trunk in patients with "primary" pulmonary hypertension. Amer. Heart J. 65: 230-236, 1963.
- 501. ROBERTSON, P. A.: Calcium and contractility in depolarised smooth muscle. Nature (London) 186: 316-317, 1960.
- 502. ROBERTSON, W. B., BROSENS, I. AND DIXON, H. G.: The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 93: 581-592, 1967.
- RODDIE, I. C.: The transmembrane potential changes associated with smooth muscle activity in turtle arteries and veins. J. Physiol. (London) 163: 138-150, 1962.
- 504. RORIVE, G. ET HAGEMELJER, F.: Influence de la noradrénaline et de l'angiotensine sur la composition ionique de la fibre musculaire de l'aorte de rat. Ann. Endocrinol. 27: 521-523, 1966.
- 505. ROBIVE, G., HAGEMELJER, F. ET SCHOFFENIELS, E.: Influence de quelques substances pharmacodynamiques sur la composition ionique de la fibre musculaire lisse de l'aorte de rat. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 167: 265-272, 1967.
- 506. ROTHSTEIN, A.: Membrane phenomena. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 30: 15-72, 1968.
- 507. ROVICE, A. A.: Active vascular capacity responses in isolated skeletal muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 210: 121-127, 1966. 508. RUDOLPH, G.: Der histochemische Nachweis dehydrogenase-haltiger Sarkosomen (Mitochondrien) in der Herz-,
- Skelet- und glatten Muskulatur. Acta Histochem. 12: 48-68, 1961.
- 509. Rühag, J. C.: Die Unabhängigkeit des plastischen Tonus von der Kontraktilität bei glatten Muskeln von Säugern. Pfluegers Arch. Gesamte Physiol. Menschen Tiere 278: 18, 1963.
- RCEGG, J. C., STRASSNEE, E. UND SCHIRMEE, R. H.: Extraktion und Reinigung von Arterien-Actomyosin, Actin und Extraglobulin. Biochem. Z. 343: 70-85, 1965.
- SACHS, E. S.: Effects of autolysis in vitro on the fine structure of human aortic intimal cells. J. Atheroscler. Res. 7: 549-565, 1967.
- 512. SACHS, E. S. AND DAEMS, W. TH.: Microtubules in human aortic intimal cells. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 73: 553-558, 1966.
- SACKNEE, M. A., WILL, D. H. AND DUBOIS, A. B.: The site of pulmonary vasomotor activity during hypoxia or serotonin administration. J. Clin. Invest. 45: 112-121, 1966.
- 514. ST. CLAIR, R. W., LOFLAND, H. B., JR., PRICHARD, R. W. AND CLARKSON, T. B.: Synthesis of squalene and sterols by isolated segments of human and pigeon arteries. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 8: 201-215, 1968.
- 515. SAKO, Y. AND NAKAMURA, M.: Electron microscopic studies on the rabbit aorta in acute hypercholesterolemia. Jap. Heart J. 4: 53-68, 1963.
- 516. SANDBORN, E. B., COTE, M. G., ROBERGE, J. ET BOIS, P.: Microtubules et filaments cytoplasmiques dan le muscle de mammifères. J. Microscopie 6: 169-178, 1967.
- 517. SANDLER, M. AND BOURNE, G. H.: Some histochemical observations on the human aortic wall in atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 8: 1274-1277, 1960.
- 518. SANDLER, M. AND BOURNE, G. H.: Some new observations on human sortic atheroma. The possible role of es sential fatty acids in its development. J. Amer. Med. Ass. 179: 43-46, 1962.
- 519. SANDLER, M. AND BOURNE, G. H. (ed.): Atherosclerosis and Its Origin, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 520. SANDOW, A.: Excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. Pharmacol. Rev. 17: 265-320, 1965.
- 521. SANTOB-BUCH, C. A.: Extrusion of ATPase activity from pinocytotic vesicles of abutting endothelium and smooth muscle to the internal elastic membrane of the major arterial circle of the iris of rabbits. Nature (London) 211: 600-602, 1966.
- 522. SANWALD, R. AND KIRK, J. E.: Beta-hydroxyacyl dehydrogenase in human arterial tissue. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 118: 1088-1090, 1965.
- 523. SASSOON, H. F., WATSON, J. R., BULLARD, W. J., CONNOE JOHNSON, B. AND WATSON, J.: Preparation of aortic tissue for measurement of enzyme activity. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 69: 842-852, 1967.
- 524. SBARRA, A. J., GILFILLAN, R. F. AND BARDAWIL, W. A.: The hexcee monophosphate pathway in arterial tissue. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 3: 311-313, 1960.
- 525. SCEBAT, L., RENAIS, J., IRIS, L., GROULT, N. ET LENEGRE, J.: Lesions artériélles produites chez le lapin par les injections de broyats d'aorte homologue et heterologue. Arch. Mal. Coeur. Vaisseaux 59 (suppl. 1): 56-72, 1966.
- 526. SCHADLER, M.: Proportionale Aktivierung von ATPase-Aktivität und Kontraktionsspannung durch Calciumionen in isolierten contractilen Strukturen verschiedener Muskelarten. Pfluegers Arch. Gesamte Physiol. Menschen Tiere 296: 70-90, 1967.
- 527. SCHATZMANN, H. J.: Calciumaufnahme und Abgabe am Darmmuskel des Meerschweinchens. Pflueger Arch. Gesamte Physiol. Menschen Tiere 274: 295-310, 1961.
- 528. SCHENK, E. A., GAMAN, E. AND FEIGENBAUM, A. S.: Spontaneous aortic lesions in rabbits. I. Morphologic characteristics Circ. Res. 19: 80-88, 1966.
- SCHILD, H. O.: The action of isoprenaline in the depolarised rat uterus. Brit. J. Pharmacol. Chemother. 31: 578-592, 1967.
- 530. SCHIPP, R.: Feinstruktur besonderer Zellformen in der Lymphgefässwand und deren Bedeutung für die nervöse Afferens. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 19: 250-259, 1967.
- SCHIEMEB, R. H.: Die besonderheiten des contractilen proteins der arterien. Biochem. Z. 343: 269-282, 1965.
 SCHOFFENIELS, E., HAGEMELIEB, F. ET RORIVE, G.: La composition ionique des cellules de l'aorte du rat. Bull.
- Acad. Roy. Med. Belg. 5: 861-880, 1965. 533. SCHOFFENIELS, E., HAGEMELLER, F. ET RORIVE, G.: L'espace extracellulaire des fibres musculaires lisses. Arch.
- Int. Physiol. Biochim. 74: 845-852, 1966. 534. SCHÖNENBERGER, F. UND MÜELLER, A.: Über die Vaskularisation der Rindersortenwand. Helv. Physiol. Phar-
- macol. Acta 18: 136-150, 1960. 535. SCHÖENENBERGER, F. UND MÜELLER, A.: Über Elastisität und Reaktions fäbigkeit der extracorporalen, im
- 555. SCHÖENENBERGER, F. UND MUELLER, A.: Uber Eisstisität und Reaktions fanigkeit der extracorporaten, im physiologischen Zustand erhaltenen Rinderaorta. Helv. Physiol. Pharmacol. Acta 18: 151-173, 1960.
- 536. SEIFERT, K.: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen der Aorta des Kaninchens. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 69: 293-312, 1963.
- 537. SERAFINI-FRACASSINI, A. AND TRISTRAM, G. R.: Electron microscopic study and amino acid analysis on human aortic elastin. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. B. Biol. 69: 334–344, 1966.
- 538. SHANES, A. M.: Electrochemical aspects of physiological and pharmacological action in excitable cells. Part I. The resting cell and its alteration by extrinsic factors. Part II. The action potential and excitation. Pharmacol. Rev. 10: 59-273, 1958.
- 539. SHANES, A. M.: Calcium influx in frog rectus abdominus muscle at rest and during potassium contracture. J. Cell Comp. Physiol. 57: 193-202, 1961.
- 540. SHIBATA, N. AND HOLLANDER, W.: Calcium uptake, ATPase and relaxing activity of arterial microsomal vesicles. Fed. Proc. 26: 598, 1967.
- 541. SHIBATA, S. AND BRIGGS, A. H.: The relationships between electrical and mechanical events in rabbit sortic strips. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 153: 466-470, 1966.
- 542. SHOENBERG, C. F., RUEGG, J. C., NEEDHAM, D. M., SCHIRMER, R. H. AND NEMETCHEK-GANSLER, H.: A biochemical and electron microscope study of the contractile proteins in vertebrate smooth muscle. Biochem. Z. 345: 255-266, 1966.
- 543. SIGGINS, G. R.: Evidence for reciprocal innervation of arterioles in the frog retrolingual membrane. Fourth European Conference on Microcirculation, ed. by H. Harders, pp. 328-333, S. Karger, Basel and New York, 1966.
- 544. SIGGINS, G. R.: Nervous control of the arterioles in the retrolingual membrane of the frog (Rana pipiens). Thesis, Boston University Graduate School, 1967.
- 545. SIMPSON, C. F. AND HARMS, R. H.: Potentiation of diethylstilbestrol induced aortic ruptures of turkeys with thiouracil. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 125: 245-248, 1967.
- 546. SIMPSON, C. F. AND HARMS, R. H.: The nature of the atherosclerotic plaque of the aorta of turkeys. J. Atheroscler. Res. 8: 143-153, 1968.
- 547. SIMPSON, C. F., JONES, J. E. AND HARMS, R. H.: Ultrastructure of aortic tissue in copper-deficient and control chick embryos. J. Nutr. 91: 283-291, 1967.
- 548. SIMPSON, F. O. AND DEVINE, C. E.: The fine structure of autonomic neuromuscular contacts in arterioles of sheep renal cortex. J. Anat. 100: 127-137, 1966.
- 549. SKOU, J. C.: Enzymatic basis for active transport of Na⁺ and K⁺ across cell membrane. Physiol. Rev. 45: 596-617, 1965.
- 549a. SOKOLNIKOFF, I. S.: Mathematical Theory of Elasticity. p. 299. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York, 1956.
- 550. SOMLTO, A. P.: Correlated changes in the hormone-stimulated rat uterus. Thesis, University of Illinois, Chicago, 1956.
- 551. SOMLYO, A. P., SANDBERG, R. L. AND SOMLYO, A. V.: Vascular smooth muscle contraction as a function of stimulus frequency. Digest of the 6th International Conference on Medical, Electrical, and Biological Engineering, Tokyo, pp. 44-45, 1965.
- 552. SOMLYO, A. P. AND SOMLYO, A. V.: Biophysics of smooth muscle excitation and contraction. Proceedings of the Symposium on Airway Dynamics, Charles C Thomas. edited by A. Bouhays in press.
- 553. SOMLYO, A. P. AND SOMLYO, A. V.: Pharmacology of excitation-contraction coupling in vascular smooth muscle and in avian slow muscle. Fed. Proc. In press.

- 554. SOMLYO, A. V., SANDBERG, R. L. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Pharmacologically heterogeneous smooth muscle cell distribution in blood vessels. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 149: 106-112, 1965.
- 555. SOMLYO, A. V. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Vasomotor function of smooth muscle in the main pulmonary artery. Amer. J. Physiol. 266: 1196-1200, 1964.
- 556. SOMLYO, A. V. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Symposium on the contractile process. J. Gen. Physiol. 59 (part 2): 168-169, 1967.
- 557. SOMLYO, A. V. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Electromechanical and pharmacomechanical coupling in vascular smooth muscle. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 159: 129-145, 1968.
- 558. SOMLYO, A. V. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Unpublished observations.
- 559. SOMLYO, A. V., WOO, C. Y. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Responses of nerve-free vessels to vasoactive amines and polypeptides. Amer. J. Physiol. 298: 748-753, 1965.
- 560. SOMLYO, A. V., WOO, C. Y. AND SOMLYO, A. P.: Effect of magneeium on posterior pituitary hormone action on vascular smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 219: 705-714, 1966.
- 561. SOMOZA, C.: Neurohormonal factors influencing "spontaneous" arteriosclerosis in rabbits. Amer. J. Pathol. 50: 917-925, 1967
- 562. Sótonyi, P., HUTTNEE, L., JELLINEK, H., TÓTH, A. UND MAKÓI, Z.: Ensymhistochemische Untersuchungen an den Gefässwänden bei Versuchstieren. Acta Histochem. 21: 213-218, 1965.
- 563. SPART, T. H. AND LEJNIERS, I.: Mitotic activity of rabbit blood vessels. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 125: 1197-1201, 1967.
- 564. SPARKS, H. V., JE.: Effect of quick stretch on isolated vascular smooth muscle. Circ. Res. 15, suppl. I: 254-260, 1964.
- 565. SPARKS, H. V., JR. AND BOHR, D. F.: Effect of stretch on passive tension and contractility of isolated vascular smooth muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 202: 835-840, 1962.
- 566. SPARROW, M. P. AND SIMMONDS, W. J.: The relationship of the calcium content of smooth muscle to its contractility in response to different modes of stimulation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 169: 503-511, 1965.
- 567. SPEDEN, R. N.: The effect of initial strip length on the noradrenaline-induced isometric contraction of arterial strips. J. Physiol. (London) 154: 15-25, 1960.
- 568. SPEDEN, R. N.: Electrical activity of single smooth muscle cells of the mesenteric artery produced by splanchnic nerve stimulation in the guinea pig. Nature (London) 262: 193-194, 1964.
- 569. SPEDEN, R. N.: Adrenergic transmission in small arteries. Nature 216: 289-290, 1967.
- 570. SPITERI, M., NGUYEN, J., ANH, H. BT PANIGEL, M.: Ultrastructure du muscle lisse des artères du cordon ombilical humain. Pathol. Biol. 14: 348-357, 1966.
- 571. SPARAGEN, S. C., BOND, V. P. AND DAHL, L. K.: Role of hyperplasis in vascular lesions of cholesterol-fed rabbits studied with thymidine-H^a sutoradiography. Circ. Res. 11: 329-336, 1962.
- 572. STADELI, H.: Der Einfluss des Lebensalters auf die Wandstruktur der isolierten, künstlich gedehnten Aorta thoracalis des Meerschweinchens. Angiologica 3: 213-225, 1966.
- 573. STÄDELL, H.: Der Einfluss des Lebensalters auf die Wandstruktur der isolierten, ungedehnten Aorta thoracalis des Meerschweinchens. Angiologica 3: 40-58, 1966.
- 574. STALLABRASS, P.: Observations on the muscular coat of the human umbilical blood vessels. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Brit. Comm. 78: 1042-1043, 1963.
- 575. STAMLER, J., PICE, R. AND KATZ, L. N.: Effect of insulin in the induction and regression of atheroeclerosis in the chick. Circ. Res. 8: 572-576, 1960.
- 576. STEEDMAN, W. M.: Micro-electrode studies on mammalian vascular muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 186: 382-400, 1966.
- 577. STEHBENS, W. E.: Intimal proliferation and spontaneous lipid deposition in the cerebral arteries of sheep and steers. J. Atheroscler. Res. 5: 556-568, 1965.
- 578. STEHBENS, W. E. AND SILVER, M. D.: Arterial lesions induced by methyl cellulose. Amer. J. Pathol. 48: 483-501, 1966.
- 579. STEIN, A. A. AND HARRIS, J.: Histochemical ensyme distribution in human arteries. Surgery 56: 413-418, 1964.
- 580. STEIN, Y. AND STEIN, O.: Incorporation of fatty acids into lipids of aortic slices of rabbits, dogs, rats and baboons. J. Atheroscler. Res. 2: 400-412, 1962.
- STILL, W. J. S.: An electron microscope study of cholesterol atherosclerosis in the rabbit. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 2: 491– 502, 1963.
- 582. STILL, W. J. S. AND DENNISON, S. M.: Reaction of the arterial intima of the rabbit to trauma and hyperlipemia. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 6: 245-253, 1967.
- 583. SU, C. AND BEVAN, J. A.: The electrical response of pulmonary artery muscle to acetylcholine, histamine and serotonin. Life Sci. 4: 1025-1029, 1965.
- 584. SU, C., BEVAN, J. A. AND UESILLO, R. C.: Electrical quiescence of pulmonary artery smooth muscle during sympathomimetic stimulation. Circ. Res. 15: 20-27, 1964.
- 585. SUDAK, F. N. AND FULTON, G. P.: Peripheral vasoconstriction associated with hyperpotassemia. Circ. Res. 10: 587-592, 1962.
- 585a. SZENT-GYÖRGYI, A.: Muscular Contraction, Ed. 2, pp. 144–145, Academic Press, Inc. New York, 1951.
- 586. TAKAUJI, M., NAKANO, I. AND NAGAI, T.: On the relaxing factor system in uterine smooth muscle. Abstract XXIII of the International Congress of Physiological Sciences, Tokyo, 1965.
- 587. TAKEUCHI, T. AND GLENNER, G. G.: Histochemical demonstration of uridine diphosphate glucose-glycogen transferase in animal tissues. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 9: 304-316, 1961.
- 588. TANEDA, A.: ATPase activity of glycerinated muscle homogenates prepared from pig intestinal smooth muscle. 2. Effects of some chelating agents and microsomal fraction. Sapporo Med. J. 31: 110-115, 1967.

- 589. TEDDEE, E. AND SHOREY, C. D.: The fine structure of rabbit inferior vena cava in partial obstruction. Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci. 43: 99-106, 1965.
- 590. TEXTEB, E. C., JE., LAURETA, H. C., FROHLICH, E. D. AND CHOU, C. C.: Effects of major cations on gastrie and mesenteric vascular resistances. Amer. J. Physiol. 212: 569-573, 1967.
- 591. THRON, H. L.: Das Verhalten peripherer Blutgefässe in viro bei passiven und aktiven Weitenanderungen. Arch. Kreislaufforsch. 52: 1-63, 1967.
- 592. TOBIAN, L. AND FOX, A.: The effect of nor-epinephrine on the electrolyte composition of arterial smooth muscle. J. Clin. Invest. 35: 297-301, 1956.
- 593. TORRANCE, H. B. AND SHWATZ, S.: The elastic behavior of the arterial wall. J. Roy. Coll. Surg. Edinburgh 7: 55-60, 1961.
- 594. TSUDA, S., KOJIMA, R. UND SEGAWA, T.: Zur frage des Vorhandenseins der glatten muskeln in der Adventitis der Venen. Yokohams Med. Bull. 11: 221-235, 1960.
- 595. TÜRKER, R. K., PAGE, I. H. AND KHAIBALLAH, P. A.: Angiotensin alteration of sodium fluxes in smooth muscle. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 165: 394-404, 1967.
- URBUTIA, G., BRAVAN, D. W. AND CAHILL, G. F., JR.: Metabolism of glucose-U-C¹⁴ in rat sorta in vitro. Metabolism 11: 530-534, 1962.
- 597. VAN BREEMEN, C. AND DANIEL, E. E.: The influence of high potassium depolarisation and acetylcholine on calcium exchange in the rat uterus. J. Gen. Physiol. 49: 1299-1317, 1966.
- 598. VAN BREEMEN, C., DANIEL, E. E. AND VAN BREEMEN, D.: Calcium distribution and exchange in the rat uterus. J. Gen. Physiol. 49: 1265-1297, 1966.
- 599. VAN CITTERS, R. L.: Occlusion of lumina in small arterioles during vasoconstriction. Circ. Res. 18: 199-204, 1966.
- 600. VAN CITTERS, R. L., WAGNER, B. M. AND RUSHMER, R. F.: Architecture of small arteries during vasoconstriction. Circ. Res. 10: 668-675. 1962.
- 601. VAN CITTERS, R. L., WAGNER, B. M. AND RUSHMER, R. F.: Structural alterations in the arterial wall during vasoconstriction. Cor Vasa 4: 175-181, 1962.
- 602. VAN DER KLOOT, W. G.: Potassium-stimulated respiration and intracellular calcium release in frog akeletal muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 191: 141-165, 1967.
- 603. VERITY, M. A. AND BEVAN, J. A.: Fine structural study of the terminal effector plexus, neuromuscular and intermuscular relationships in the pulmonary artery. J. Anat. 103: 49-63, 1968.
- 604. VERITY, M. A., BEVAN, J. A. AND OSTROM, R. J.: Plurivesicular nerve endings in the pulmonary artery. Nature (London) 211: 537-538, 1966.
- 605. VIDLAKOVA, M. AND KLEINZELLER, A.: Active transport of electrolytes in the smooth muscle of pigeon giszard and rabbit aorts. Physiol. Bohemoslov. 12: 202-207, 1963.
- 606. VIDLAKOVA, M. AND KLEINZELLER, A.: Distribution of water and electrolytes in pigeon gizzard slices and rabbit sortal strips. Physiol. Bohemoslov. 12: 196-201, 1963.
- 606a. VILLAMIL, M. F., RETTORI, V., BARAJAS, L. AND KLEEMAN, C. R.: Extracellular space and the ionic distribution in the isolated arterial wall. Amer. J. Physiol. 214: 1104-1112, 1968.
- WAHL, P. AND SANWALD, R.: The oxygen, glucose and fructose consumption of the rat sorta in different substrate concentrations. J. Atheroscher. Res. 3: 237-241, 1963.
- 608. WALLACH, S., BELLAVIA, J. V., REIZENSTEIN, D. L. AND GAMPONIA, P. J.: Tissue distribution and transport of electrolytes Mg²⁸ and Ca⁴⁷ in hypermagnesemia. Metabolism 16: 451-464, 1967.
- 609. WALLACH, S., BELLAVIA, J. V., SCHORB, J. AND REIZENSTEIN, D. L.: Tissue distribution of electrolytes, Ca^o and Mg^m in acute hypercalcemia. Amer. J. Physiol. 207: 553-560, 1964.
- 610. WATSON, W. E.: Action of aminophyline on venous distensibility. Clin. Sci. 22: 65-68, 1962.
- 611. WAUGH, W. H.: Adrenergic stimulation of depolarized arterial muscle. Circ. Res. 11: 264-276, 1962.
- WAUGH, W. H.: Role of calcium in contractile excitation of vascular smooth muscle by epinephrine and potassium. Circ. Res. 11: 927-940, 1962.
- 613. WEBER, A., HERZ, R. AND REISS, I.: The regulation of myofibrillar activity by calcium. Proc. Roy. Soc., Ser. B. Biol. Sci. 166: 489-499, 1964.
- WEIBEL, E.: Die Entstehung der Längsmuskulatur in den Ästen der A. bronchialis. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk. Anat. 47: 440-468, 1958.
- 815. WEISSMAN, N., RECY, D. T., COULSON, W. F. AND CARNES, W. H.: Cardiovascular studies on copper-deficient swine. VIII. Elastin content of aorta determined by elastase digestion and formic acid extraction. Lab. Invest. 14: 372-380. 1965.
- 616. WERTHEIMER, H. E. AND BEN-TOB, V.: Age and hormonal influences on aortic tissue metabolism. Arch. Kreislaufforsch. 33: 25-33, 1960.
- WERTHEIMER, H. E. AND BEN-TOR, V.: Physiologic and pathologic influences on the metabolism of rat aorta. Circ. Res. 9: 23-28, 1961.
- 618. WERTHEIMER, H. E. AND BEN-TOR, V.: Influence of diabetes on carbohydrate metabolism of aortic tissue. Diabetes 11: 422-425, 1962.
- WESTMAN, J. AND NYLANDER, G.: Electron microscopy of the human gastroepiploic artery. Angiology 16: 292-302, 1965.
- WEXLER, B. C. AND JUDD, J. T.: Increased aortic beta-glucuronidase activity with progressively severe arteriosclerosis in female breeder rats. Nature (London) 209: 383-386, 1966.
- 621. WHEREAT, A. F.: Oxygen consumption of normal and atherosclerotic intima. Circ. Res. 9: 571-575, 1961.
- WHEBEAT, A. F.: Lipid biosynthesis in sortic intima from normal and cholesterol-fed rabbits. J. Atheroscler. Res. 4: 272-282, 1964.

SOMLYO AND SOMLYO

- 623. WHEREAT, A. F.: Incorporation of tritium from succinate-2, 3-H³ into long chain fatty acids by aortic mitochondria. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 118: 888-892, 1965.
- 624. WHEREAT, A. F.: Fatty acid synthesis in cell-free system from rabbit sorta. J. Lipid Res. 7: 671-677, 1966.
- 625. WHEREAT, A. F.: Recent advances in experimental and molecular pathology. Atherosclerosis and metabolic disorder in the arterial wall. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 7: 233-247, 1967.
- WIEDEMAN, M. P.: Contractile activity of arterioles in the bat wing during intraluminal pressure changes. Circ. Res. 19: 559-563, 1966.
- 627. WIEDERHIELM, C. A.: Distensibility characteristics of small blood vessels. Fed. Proc. 24: 1075-1084, 1965.
- 628. WIEDERHIELM, C. A.: Viscoelastic properties of relaxed and constricted arteriolar walls. Bibl. Anat. 7: 346-352, 1965.
- 629. WILENS, S. L., MALCOLM, J. A. AND VAZQUEZ, J. M.: Experimental infarction (medial necrosis) of the dog's aorta. Amer. J. Pathol. 47: 695-711, 1965.
- 630. WINEGRAD, S.: Intracellular calcium movements of frog skeletal muscle during recovery from tetanus. J. Gen. Physiol. 51: 65-83, 1968.
- 631. WOLINSKY, H. AND GLAGOV, S.: Structural basis for the static mechanical properties of the aortic media. Circ. Res. 14: 400-413, 1964.
- 632. WOLINSKY, H. AND GLAGOV, S.: A lamellar unit of aortic medial structure and function in mammals. Circ. Res. 20: 99-111, 1967.
- 633. WOLINSKY, H. AND GLAGOV, S.: Nature of species differences in the medial distribution of aortic vasa vasorum in mammals. Circ. Res. 20: 409-421, 1967.
- WOLLEMANN, M. AND KOCSAR, L.: Oxydative phosphorylation in aortic homogenates. J. Atherosleer. Res. 4: 367-369, 1964.
- 635. YALCIN, S. AND WINEGRAD, A. I.: Defect in glucose metabolism in aortic tissue from alloxan diabetic rabbits. Amer. J. Physiol. 205: 1253-1259, 1963.
- 636. YEVATI, N. L. AND TAQUINI, A. C.: Chloride content and distribution in artery wall at different external potassium concentrations. Acta Physiol. Latinoamer. 17: 316-322, 1967.
- 637. ZELANDER, T., EKHOLM, R. AND EDLUNG, Y.: The ultrastructural organization of the rat exocrime pancreas. III. Intralobular vessels and nerves. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 7: 84-101, 1962.
- 638. ZEMPLENYI, T.: Ensymes of the arterial wall. J. Atheroscier. Res. 2: 2-24, 1962.
- 639. ZEMPLENYI, T., LOJDA, Z. AND MRHOVÁ, O.: Ensymes of the vascular wall in experimental atherosclerosis in the rabbit. In Atherosclerosis and Its Origin, ed. by M. Sandler and G. H. Bourne, pp. 459-513, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963.
- 640. ZEMPLENYI, T. AND MRHOVÄ, O.: The phosphomonoesterase and adenylpyrophosphatase activities of the aorta in different animal species. Brit. J. Exp. Pathol. 44: 278-283, 1963.
- 641. ZEMPLENTI, T. AND MEHOVÁ, O.: Vascular enzyme activity changes accompanying the induction of experimental atheroeclerosis. 2. Rats fed excess vitamin D. J. Atheroscler. Res. 5: 548-555, 1965.
- 642. ZSOLDOS, S. J. AND HEINEMANN, H. O.: Lipolytic activity of rabbit aorta in vitro. Amer. J. Physiol. 206: 615-617, 1964.
- 643. ZWEIFACH, B. W.: Functional Behavior of the Microcirculation. Charles C Thomas, Springfield, Ill., 1961.